

Fontaine, Samantha Joanna (2013) *The role of C-reactive protein as a biomarker in dogs with lymphosarcoma*. MSc(R) thesis.

http://theses.gla.ac.uk/4068/

Copyright and moral rights for this thesis are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study

This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the Author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the Author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Glasgow Theses Service http://theses.gla.ac.uk/ theses@gla.ac.uk

The role of C-reactive protein as a biomarker in dogs with lymphosarcoma

Samantha Joanna Fontaine

BSc DipAVN(Medical) RVN

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Science (MSc)

School of Veterinary Medicine

College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences

University of Glasgow

Dec 2012

Acknowledgements

I wish to thank the University of Glasgow for supporting my request to study for this MSc and particular thanks are extended to Prof. Clare Knottenbelt, Dr. Joanna Morris and Pamela McComb for being receptive to my suggestion of further study. I also wish to extend special thanks my supervisors Dr. Joanna Morris and Prof. David Eckersall for their continued encouragement.

I would like to acknowledge the support of the staff at ReactivLab including Prof. David Eckersall, Eilidh McCulloch and Mary Waterston for performing the analyses of the hundreds of samples, to Drs. Tim Parkin and Lisa Boden for providing statistical support to this project, and to the staff in Veterinary Diagnostic Services, especially Drs. Hayley Haining and Lisa Hulme-Moir for reviewing the cytology slides of many of the dogs within the study, and for providing the cytology images included within this thesis. Within the Small Animal Hospital I wish to thank Shona Munro, Lindsay Stewart, Matt Atherton and Shona Burnside for harvesting samples in my absence and for helping me sort through and catalogue the hundreds of stored samples in the freezer. I would also like to extend a special thanks to Matt for supplying me with the control samples and control patient data.

This degree has taken several years to complete as I have worked full-time and I have mainly studied in my free time. This would not have been possible without my friends and family helping and encouraging me, and generally looking after me. I would like to acknowledge the support my mum has given me during this process. She gently pushed me not to wallow but to tackle the problems at hand. She never gave up believing that I was capable of this task and more importantly, made me believe the same. Finally, a special acknowledgement goes to my partner Kevin Ross, without whom I would never have considered doing an MSc. He showed me what I was capable of and taught me not to be restricted by the preconceptions of job or title. He has been endlessly patient, encouraging and supportive towards me and what I was trying to achieve, and has helped me in far too many ways to list. I could not have done this without him, and for that I thank him.

2

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements 2			
List of Tables			
List of F	List of Figures		
List of A	bbreviations		
Summar	y15		
Declarat	tion17		
1 Lite	rature Review		
1.1	Canine lymphosarcoma		
1.1.	1 Prevalence of canine lymphosarcoma		
1.1.	2 Aetiology		
1.1.	3 Patient presentation		
1.1.	4 Obtaining a diagnosis		
1.1.	5 Characterisation of LSA		
1.1.	6 Clinical staging22		
1.1.	7 Treatment and prognosis24		
1.1.	8 Monitoring and categorising response2		
1.2	The acute phase response27		
1.2.	1 Local and distant effects27		
1.2.	2 The acute phase proteins		
1.2.	3 C-reactive protein		
1.2.	4 The role of the APPs		
1.3	The role of APPs as general biomarkers of disease		
1.3.	1 Acute phase proteins and cancer		
1.3.	2 Current suggested biomarkers for human and canine LSA		
1.3.	3 The current role of CRP in human and canine LSA		
1.4	CRP assay		
1.5	Study Aims		
2 Mat	erials and Methods35		
2.1	Study design		
2.1.	1 Study population		
2.1.	2 Exclusion criteria		
2.1.	3 Initial induction treatment protocols		
2.1.	4 Relapse or 'rescue' protocols		
2.1.	5 Clinical assessment		
2.2	Determining the CRP concentration		
2.3	Control population		

2.4	Stat	istical methods
2.4	4.1	Descriptive analysis
2.4	4.2	Comparison of assays
2.4	4.3	Categorising CRP concentrations
2.4	4.4	Investigating the differences between groups
2.4	4.5	Investigating the relationship between groups
2.4	4.6	Determining CRP concentration cut-off values
2.4	4.7	Survival analysis
3 Re	sults.	
3.1	Defi	ining the final study population44
3.	1.1	Testing the agreement between assays: paired samples
3.	1.2	Do multiple freeze-thaw cycles affect CRP? 48
3.	1.3	Does concurrent disease affect pre-treatment CRP?
3.	1.4	Does steroid treatment affect pre-treatment CRP concentration? 52
3.2	Den	nographic analysis53
3.2	2.1	Comparison of the control and study cohorts
3.3	Fur	ther demographics of the study population
3	3.1	Results of patient staging
3.4	CRP	n normal dogs and dogs with LSA60
3.4	4.1	Descriptive statistics for the control and LSA dogs
3.4	4.2	Does CRP concentration differ between normal and LSA dogs?
3.4	4.3	The distribution of pre-treatment CRP concentration in the different treatment groups
3.5	Inve	estigating which variables influence CRP in dogs with LSA65
3.:	5.1	Do the median CRP concentrations for the different clinical parameters differ?
3.:	5.2	<i>Is there a linear relationship between CRP concentration and the different clinical parameters?70</i>
3.5	5.3	Investigating the strength of association between the clinical variables and CRP concentration72
3.6	The	effect of LSA remission status on CRP concentration72
3.0	6.1	Does CRP concentration normalise following treatment with chemotherapy?73
3.0	6.2	How does the CRP concentration differ between the different remission status groups
3.	6.3	Does the absolute CRP concentration differ with remission status? 75
3.0	6.4	Does the CRP concentration differ with remission status within individual patients?
3.7	Det	ermining a Diagnostic Threshold for CRP78
3.8	Usir	ng CRP as a predictor of relapse in LSA
3.8	8.1	Does CRP concentration become elevated prior to relapse?

3.9 Th	e prognostic significance of CRP concentration in dogs with	LSA.81
3.9.1	Which patient variables affect OST in dogs with LSA?	81
3.9.2	Which patient variables affect time to first relapse (TFR) in dogs LSA?	with 83
3.9.3	CRP elevation categories and overall survival time	84
3.9.4	CRP elevation categories and time to first relapse	86
4 Discuss	ion	87
4.1 Stu	Jdy aims	87
4.2 Dis	cussion of results	87
4.2.1	CRP concentration in dogs with LSA	87
4.2.2	The relationship between CRP concentration and LSA patient variables	91
4.2.3	Changes in CRP concentration in dogs receiving chemotherapy	94
4.2.4	CRP as a predictor of relapse	96
4.2.5	CRP concentration and prognosis of LSA	97
4.2.6	Negative prognostic indicators for LSA in this study	98
4.2.7	Other possible serum biomarkers for canine LSA and their clinical relevance	! 99
4.3 Stu	Jdy limitations	102
4.4 Co	nclusions	104
Bibliograph	у	106
Appendix 1	: Chemotherapy protocols	124
Appendix 2 concentrat	: Time-series graphs and boxplots comparing serum CRP ions obtained on multiple assays	126
Appendix 3	: Plot of residuals	138

List of Tables

Table 1 World Health Organisation (WHO) staging system in dogs with lymphoma(Owens, 1981)
Table 2 Results of Wilcoxon signed-rank test for paired samples on Pentra & Miraassays
Table 3 Results of Wilcoxon signed-rank test for paired samples on Pentra &ELISA assays45
Table 4 Results of Wilcoxon signed-rank test for paired samples on Mira & ELISAassays
Table 5 Descriptive statistics for CRP in the different freeze-thaw groups 48
Table 6 List of concurrent diseases at time of diagnosis (non-inflammatory &inflammatory)
Table 7 Descriptive statistics of CRP in the different concurrent diseasegroups51
Table 8 Descriptive statistics for CRP in the different remission groups
Table 9 Overall survival time (OST) for dogs in the different treatmentgroups
Table 10 Descriptive statistics for CRP in the control dogs & dogs with lymphoma(LSA)62
Table 11 Categories of CRP elevation with count and frequency in control &lymphoma (LSA) groups
Table 12 Descriptive statistics for pre-treatment CRP concentration in thedifferent treatment groups
Table 13 Descriptive statistics for CRP in the different patient variables 66
Table 14 Results of the statistical analysis of the different patient variables 68
Table 15 Results of univariate analysis using general linear regression
Table 16 Descriptive statistics for CRP in the different remission statusgroups75
Table 17 Results of analysis with the Mann-Whitney-U test comparing medianCRP concentrations of the control group and the groups of different remissionstatuses76
Table 18 Log-transformed CRP (logCRP) leading up to patient relapse
Table 19 Median survival times from the Kaplan-Meier survival curves of thedifferent CRP elevation categories84

Table 20 CHOP protocol	
Table 21 ALP protocol	
Table 22 Low dose (LD) COP protocol	
Table 23 DMAC protocol	
Table 24 Chlorambucil and prednisolone protocol for low grade lymph	ioma125
Table 25 LMP protocol	

List of Figures

Figure 1 Cytology from a canine lymph node infiltrated with a centroblastic lymphosarcoma
Figure 2 Immunocytochemistry of a B-cell LSA showing negative staining with CD3 antibodies and positive staining with CD79a antibodies
Figure 3 Bland-Altman plot of paired CRP concentrations on i) ELISA & Mira assays; ii) ELISA & Pentra assays; iii) Mira & Pentra assays
Figure 4 Boxplot of CRP in first thaw and multiple freeze-thaw cycles 49
Figure 5 Chart of breeds for the Control & Lymphoma (LSA) populations 53
Figure 6 Bar chart of distribution of WHO substage a + b across the different WHO stages
Figure 7 Fitted-line plot for the linear regression analysis of albumin & C- reactive protein
Figure 8 Box-and-whisker plot of the distribution of overall survival time (OST) for the different treatment groups
Figure 9 Bar chart of distribution of overall survival time (OST) categories for treated & untreated dogs
Figure 10 Histogram of CRP in a) healthy control dogs and b) dogs with lymphoma (LSA)
Figure 11 Boxplot of CRP in control dogs vs. dogs with lymphoma (pre-treatment) 63
Figure 12 Bar chart showing distribution of CRP categories
Figure 13 Box-and-whisker plots showing the distribution of pre-treatment CRP concentration in the different treatment groups
Figure 14 Box-and-whisker plots of CRP concentration
Figure 15 Fitted-line plots and regression equations for log-transformed CRP (logCRP) vs. a) WHO stage, b) WHO substage, c) albumin
Figure 16 Box-and-whisker plot of CRP concentration at pre-treatment vs. week 4 post treatment
Figure 17 Box-and-whisker plot of serum CRP concentrations of the control dogs and dogs with lymphoma in different remission statuses
Figure 18 Box-and-whisker plot of CRP concentration for individual dogs at pre- treatment (Pre-Tx) and time of first relapse (PD)
Figure 19 AUROC curve of healthy control dogs and dogs with LSA78

Figure 20 Box-and-whisker plot of CRP concentration at 2 weeks (PD-2) and 1 week (PD-1) prior to relapse, and at relapse of disease (PD)
Figure 21 AUROC curve of CRP concentration at progressive disease (PD) and complete remission (CR)
Figure 22 Kaplan-Meier survival curves for overall survival time and the results of curve comparison for i) immunophenotype and ii) WHO substage
Figure 23 Kaplan-Meier survival curve for time to first relapse and the result of the curve comparison for immunophenotype
Figure 24 Kaplan-Meier survival curves of overall survival time of CRP elevation categories for dogs on a CHOP-type protocol
Figure 25 Kaplan-Meier survival curve of overall survival time of dogs on a CHOP- type protocol with a CRP concentration 0-30 mg/L and >30 mg/L
Figure 26 Kaplan-Meier survival curve for time to first relapse for dogs with a CRP concentration 0-30 mg/L and >30 mg/L

List of Abbreviations

Clinical abbreviations:

- **B2M** Beta-2 microglobulin
- AGP Alpha-1 acid glycoprotein
- APP Acute phase protein
- APR Acute phase response
- CBC Complete blood count

CD - Cluster of differentiation e.g. CD79a stains for B lymphocytes and CD3 stains for T lymphocytes

- CNS Central nervous system
- Cp Ceruloplasmin
- CR Complete remission
- CRP C-reactive protein
- CT Computed tomography
- DFI Disease-free interval
- DIC Disseminated intravascular coagulation
- DNA Deoxyribonucleic acid
- EBV Epstein-Barr virus

ELISA - Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

- EOD Every other day
- FNAB Fine needle aspirate biopsy
- GI Gastrointestinal
- HIV Human immunodeficiency virus
- HL Hodgkin's lymphoma
- HLA Human leukocyte antigen
- HMGB-1 High mobility group box 1 protein
- Hp Haptoglobin
- HTLV-1 Human T-cell leukaemia virus type 1
- ICC Immunocytochemistry
- IHC Immunohistochemistry
- IL Interleukin e.g. IL-1 and IL-6
- **IPI** International Prognostic Index
- LAK Lymphokine-activated killer cell
- LDH Lactate dehydrogenase
- LogCRP Log-transformed C-reactive protein
- LSA Lymphosarcoma / Lymphoma
- MCP1 Monocyte chemotactic protein 1
- MI Mitotic index

- **MMP** Matrix metalloproteinase
- MRD Minimum residual disease
- NHL Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma
- NK cell Natural killer cell
- **OST** Overall survival time
- PCR Polymerase chain reaction
- PD Progressive disease
- PET Positron emission tomography
- **PR** Partial remission
- Pred Prednisolone (glucocorticoid)
- **REAL** Revised European-American Classification of Lymphoma
- **RECIST** Response evaluation criteria in solid tumours
- SAA Serum amyloid A
- SD Stable disease
- SID Once daily
- SMLN Submandibular lymph node
- TFR Time to first relapse
- TK Thymidine kinase
- TNF-α Tumour necrosis factor-alpha

VEGF - Vascular endothelial growth factor

WHO - World Health Organization

Statistical abbreviations:

- AD Anderson-Darling test of normality
- AUROC Area under the receiver operator curve
- Chi-sq Chi-square test
- CI Confidence interval (usually stated as the 95% CI)
- d.f. Degrees of freedom
- GBW Gehan-Breslow-Wilcoxon test
- IQR Interquartile range
- KM Kaplan-Meier survival curve
- KW Kruskal-Wallis test
- LR Log rank test
- MW Wann-Whitey U test
- n Sample number
- **SD** Standard deviations
- SR Spearman rank test
- WSR Wilcoxon signed-rank test

Abbreviations assigned to groups for analysis:

- CD Concurrent disease
- GM Generalised multicentric disease
- HA Hypoalbuminaemic
- HC Hypercalcaemic
- ICD Inflammatory concurrent disease
- NCD No concurrent disease
- NGM Non-generalised multicentric disease
- NHA Not hypoalbuminaemic
- NHC Not hypercalcaemic
- NICD Non-inflammatory concurrent disease
- No-Tx No previous treatment
- NPS No previous treatment with steroids
- PD Point of relapse/progressive disease
- PD-1 One week prior to relapse
- PD-2 Two weeks prior to relapse
- Pre-Tx Time point prior to chemotherapy treatment (time of diagnosis)

Summary

C-reactive protein (CRP) is a highly sensitive but non-specific acute phase protein that is produced in the liver in response to injury, inflammation and disease. CRP has been by shown by several authors to be elevated in dogs with lymphoma (LSA) compared to healthy control dogs, however the findings of their small studies have suggested that CRP is too non-specific to be used in a clinical setting to monitor dogs with LSA that are receiving treatment with chemotherapy. Studies in the human literature have shown that CRP concentration is significantly affected by extent of disease and by the presence of clinical signs in patients with both non-Hodgkin's and Hodgkin's lymphoma, and it has been suggested that an elevated concentration of CRP at time of diagnosis carries a poorer prognosis. No veterinary studies to date have been large enough to investigate the effect of patient clinical parameters on CRP concentration, or to determine whether CRP concentration carries any prognostic significance.

The aim of this study was to determine whether serum CRP was a clinically relevant biomarker in dogs with LSA using a large population. Specific aims included confirming if differences existed between the CRP concentration of healthy dogs and dogs with LSA, and determining if any patient variables had a relationship with CRP concentration. The effect on CRP concentration in dogs receiving chemotherapy treatment was investigated, with an aim to determine whether CRP could be used for categorisation of remission status. Finally, the role of CRP concentration as a prognostic indicator was investigated with respect to disease relapse and survival.

This study included 59 control dogs and 73 dogs with LSA. Spare serum was prospectively harvested and stored at -70°C prior to batch analysis on an immunoturbidimetric assay (Pentra 400, Horiba ABX). Serial samples were obtained at time of diagnosis, throughout treatment with chemotherapy, at routine re-check appointments and at time of recrudescence of disease. Dogs with LSA were fully staged at time of diagnosis to determine the extent of disease and all dogs were assigned a WHO stage and substage. Of the dogs that received treatment with chemotherapy, a remission status (i.e.

complete/partial remission, stable disease or progressive disease) was assigned at each visit based on the subjective response to treatment from the palpation of peripheral lymph nodes. Patient clinical data was retrospectively obtained from both paper and electronic records. CRP was investigated as both a continuous and categorical variable, and categorisation was based on the degree of elevation of concentration. Significance was set at a p-value of ≤ 0.05 . CRP concentration was deemed normal if ≤ 10 mg/L.

Results suggest that serum CRP concentration is significantly higher at time of diagnosis in dogs with LSA compared to the control dogs, however not all dogs with LSA exhibit an elevated CRP concentration. CRP concentration returns to within normal limits for the majority of dogs following 4 weeks of treatment with chemotherapy. Of the patient variables investigated, WHO stage and substage, and pre-treatment albumin concentration were shown to be significant following univariate analysis. Significant differences between the median CRP concentration of the different remission statuses exists, however the overlap of ranges of CRP concentration in each group suggests that it could not be used to categorise remission status. The median CRP concentration at time of diagnosis is significantly higher than at time of relapse of disease; however CRP concentration does become elevated in most dogs at time of relapse. CRP concentration was not shown to be significantly elevated in the weeks leading up to relapse, indicating that this biomarker is not useful for predicting early relapse prior to recrudescence of disease becoming clinically apparent. Finally, results of the survival analysis revealed that pre-treatment CRP concentration is not a significant variable, however immunophenotype and WHO substage are.

This is the largest study to date investigating CRP concentration in dogs with LSA and is the first study to suggest a relationship between CRP concentration at time of diagnosis and pre-treatment albumin, WHO stage and substage. Findings from this study have confirmed those of previous authors; for example CRP concentration becomes elevated in dogs with LSA both at time of diagnosis and at time of relapse of disease, and that immunophenotype and WHO substage carry prognostic significance. Although CRP concentration did not show any prognostic significance, there was a trend for those dogs with a moderate and marked elevation in CRP concentration (>30 mg/L) to have a reduced overall survival time.

Declaration

I declare that, except where explicit reference is made to the contribution of others, that this thesis is the result of my own and has not been submitted for any other degree at the University of Glasgow or any other institution.

Signature	
· J ····	

Printed name.....

1 Literature Review

1.1 Canine lymphosarcoma

1.1.1 Prevalence of canine lymphosarcoma

Cancer is a major cause of death in dogs. Prevalence increases with age (Edwards et al., 2003), and one third of all tumours occur in patients greater than 9 years of age (Dobson et al., 2002). Lymphosarcoma (LSA, malignant lymphoma) is the most common neoplastic condition of the haemolymphatic system in this species, and accounts for 83% of all haematopoietic malignancies (Dobson, 2004, Vail et al., 2001). Reported annual incidence rates range from 24-79 in 100,000 dogs (Dorn et al., 1967, Edwards et al., 2003, Teske et al., 1994, Dobson et al., 2002). A study by Dobson *et al* (2002) looking at a UK population of insured dogs showed an age-standardised annual incidence rate of 107 in 100,000 dogs, however the actual incidence rate may be even higher when the non-insured population is considered.

1.1.2 Aetiology

LSA is a round cell tumour that can develop in any lymphoreticular tissue and is characterized by a clonal expansion of lymphoid cells.



Figure 1 Cytology from a canine lymph node infiltrated with a centroblastic lymphosarcoma

LSA occurs spontaneously in the dog and although the aetiology is largely unknown, it is likely to be multi-factorial.

1.1.2.1 Sex and breed

It is generally accepted that there is no sex predisposition for canine LSA, however an increased prevalence is reported amongst males in some studies (Dobson and Gorman, 1993, Merlo et al., 2008, Ponce et al., 2003a). A genetic predilection has been suggested with a number of breeds reported to be at higher risk including boxers, bulldogs, Scottish terriers, Basset hounds and bullmastiffs (Edwards et al., 2003, Vail and MacEwen, 2000, Onions, 1984). A familial incidence is reported in bullmastiffs and predisposition by heritable mutation of the tumour suppressor gene p53 has been identified (Veldhoen et al., 1998, Nasir and Argyle, 1999, Onions, 1984).

1.1.2.2 Environmental factors

Several environmental causes have been suggested including living in industrial areas, exposure to magnetic fields, and chemicals such as pesticides, paints and solvents (Hayes et al., 1991, Gavazza et al., 2001, Reif et al., 1995). However, studies suffer from selection bias and recall bias due to their retrospective case-control design; hence no definitive environmental causes can thus far be listed.

1.1.2.3 Viruses

Several viral agents have been implicated in the pathogenesis and progression of different forms of human LSA including the Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), human T-cell lymphoma virus type-1 (HTLV-1) and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) (Bower et al., 2008, Shuh and Beilke, 2005, Gandhi et al., 2004). Recent veterinary literature suggests a possible gamma herpes viral pathogenesis for canine LSA (Milman et al., 2011, Huang et al., 2012), however, the significance of viral particles with properties similar to retroviruses in short-term cultures of canine LSA tissue is unclear (Tomley et al., 1983). Investigation into a viral aetiology of canine lymphoma is ongoing and as molecular biology techniques improve so may the likelihood of isolating a causative agent.

1.1.3 Patient presentation

Dogs with LSA commonly present with an asymptomatic peripheral lymphadenopathy, however clinical signs may also include anorexia, lethargy, weight loss, polyuria, polydipsia and dyspnoea (Dobson and Gorman, 1993, Gavazza et al., 2009). The type and severity of clinical signs are often related to the anatomic site of the LSA and whether there are associated paraneoplastic syndromes such as hypercalcaemia (Dobson and Gorman, 1993, Weller et al., 1982a).

1.1.4 Obtaining a diagnosis

Round cell tumours exfoliate cells readily and as such LSA is often diagnosed by cytological examination of samples obtained by fine needle aspirate biopsy (FNAB). In dogs with equivocal cytological results or where histopathological diagnosis would be preferred, excision of a lymph node or surgical biopsy of the affected organ is performed. In recent years, flow cytometry and polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assay techniques have been described to provide a more sensitive and specific diagnosis (Gibson et al., 2004, Lana et al., 2006, Reggeti and Bienzle, 2011).

1.1.5 Characterisation of LSA

LSA has been characterized and classified in many different ways including its anatomical location, morphological type, tumour grade and phenotype.

1.1.5.1 Anatomical classification

LSA is most commonly classified on the basis of anatomic location. The multicentric form occurs most frequently and is reported in more than 80% of dogs with the disease (Weller et al., 1982b, Gavazza et al., 2009). Other anatomic classifications include alimentary or gastrointestinal (GI), cranial mediastinal and cutaneous (Cotchin, 1984, Rallis et al., 1992). Extranodal forms are less commonly observed and some sites include the central nervous system (CNS), eye, nose and kidney (Rallis et al., 1992, Dobson and Gorman, 1993).

1.1.5.2 Morphological and grade classification

Canine LSA is described as a spontaneous model for human non-Hodgkins lymphoma (NHL) (Teske, 1994). To allow this model to work the pathological classification of lymphoma in the dog has often been performed using human NHL classification systems. The Working Formulation was adopted in the 1980's and grouped LSA into 4 grades based on cell morphology: low, intermediate, high, and miscellaneous (National Cancer Institute, 1982, Carter et al., 1986). This system is now largely obsolete, having been replaced by the updated Kiel classification (Stansfeld et al., 1988, Lennert and Feller, 1991) and the Revised European-American Classification of Lymphoma (REAL) system (Harris et al., 1994). Both of these systems changed LSA classification to low or high grade and introduced the concept of classification based on molecular and genetic characteristics. The most recent system has been proposed by the World Health Organisation (World Health Organization, 2008), where the REAL system has been revised and now groups LSA based on molecular, phenotypic and cytogenic characteristics. In veterinary medicine, the updated Kiel classification is currently considered the most useful for canine patients (Fournel-Fleury et al., 1997, Ponce et al., 2010)

These classification systems allow LSA to be given a "grade" according to its aggressiveness and features of malignancy. Tumour grading when performed using the updated Kiel classification considers the size of cell and the mitotic index (MI). Low grade LSAs have small sized cells with a low or medium MI and high grade LSAs have medium to large sized cells and a high MI (Ponce et al., 2010). Most canine LSA are high grade large B-cell lymphomas of an immunoblastic or centroblastic polymorphic subtype (Dobson and Gorman, 1993, Greenlee et al., 1990, Ponce et al., 2010).

High grade lymphomas progress more rapidly, but due to their high mitotic rate are highly responsive to treatment with chemotherapy and radiation therapy, and may rarely be curable (Vail et al., 2001, Chun, 2009). Low grade LSA is less common and incidence ranges from 11-26% of cases depending on the classification system used (Greenlee et al., 1990, Fournel-Fleury et al., 1997).

21

Low grade lymphomas usually progress much more slowly and are less responsive to drug therapy (Gear, 2009a, Carter et al., 1986).

1.1.5.3 Immunophenotypic classification

Leukocytes have surface antigen markers which are referred to by a cluster of differentiation (CD) number, with CD79a (B-cell) and CD3 (T-cell) commonly used in veterinary medicine for immunophenotyping canine LSA (Fontaine et al., 2009, Ponce et al., 2003b).

LSA is an oversimplified term used to describe a myriad of different pathological presentations of lymphoid neoplasia in the dog. This differs greatly from human medicine where LSA is classified very precisely both pathologically and immunophenotypically using a wide panel of markers. In human medicine the treatment given and the prognosis for the patient varies depending on their exact diagnosis. These markers are currently not available commercially for dogs but have become the subject of much veterinary research in recent times and may improve our understanding of this complex disease in the future. Currently, immunophenotyping can be performed using specific monoclonal antibodies to determine the antigens on a cell surface and several techniques have been described. Microscopic detection by immunohistochemistry (IHC) and immunocytochemistry (ICC) are the most widely available techniques and allow for concurrent assessment of cell morphology and tissue architecture. With these techniques interpretation is subjective and there is often limited quantification of antigen expression (Culmsee et al., 2001). Flow cytometry can be used to assess large numbers of cells by objective and defined criteria to yield robust results. This technique is being increasingly used in veterinary medicine as a wider range of monoclonal antibodies become more readily available allowing more subtle classification (Gibson et al., 2004, Reggeti and Bienzle, 2011). Whatever the technique used, canine LSA is most commonly classified as being B-cell or T-cell, however other immunophenotypic classifications are less commonly assigned including mixed B/T cell and null cell (natural killer (NK) cell) (Ponce et al., 2010).

22



Figure 2 Immunocytochemistry of a B-cell LSA showing negative staining with CD3 antibodies and positive staining with CD79a antibodies

The most common immunophenotype for canine LSA is B-cell (Dobson et al., 2001, Ponce et al., 2010), however many low grade and all primary cutaneous LSAs are T-cell (Fontaine et al., 2009, Fournel-Fleury et al., 1997). When comparing high grade multicentric LSA, immunophenotyping has been shown to have prognostic importance and historically B-cell LSA has carried a better prognosis with improved survival times when compared with T-cell LSA (Greenlee et al., 1990, Ponce et al., 2004, Dobson et al., 2001, Marconato, 2011).

1.1.6 Clinical staging

Following a diagnosis of LSA the patient is "staged" to determine the anatomical extent of the disease according to the World Health Organisation (WHO) system (Owen, 1980), which is outlined in Table 1, as this may influence treatment choice and can have prognostic significance. Staging usually includes a thorough clinical examination, complete blood count (CBC), serum biochemistry, urinalysis, thoracic radiography, abdominal ultrasonography and ultrasound-guided FNAB of organs and internal lymph nodes if abnormalities are detected. Bone marrow cytology or histopathology is indicated particularly when haematologic abnormalities are seen (Flory et al., 2007). Computed tomography (CT) can be combined with functional positron emission tomography (PET) using radiolabelled tracers such as ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) to allow the visualization of various metabolic processes within cancer cells. PET-CT forms an important part of the standard diagnostic and staging protocol in human patients with LSA and has been shown to have prognostic significance (Hutchings and

Barrington, 2009). Its use has been investigated in dogs with LSA and initial studies show promise of improved detection of disease and more complete staging of disease (Lawrence et al., 2010). Flory *et al* (2007) has highlighted a need for a standardized staging regime as stage migration can occur as more sensitive diagnostic procedures are introduced.

1301)	1901)	
Stage	Description	
1	Single lymph-node involvement	
II	Regional lymph nodes (on one side of the diaphragm)	
III	Generalised lymph node involvement (on both sides of the diaphragm)	
IV	Liver and/or spleen involvement, ± stages I-III	
V	Haematologic or bone marrow involvement, ± stages I-IV	
Substage a	No clinical symptoms	
Substage b	Clinical symptoms present	

Table 1 World Health Organisation (WHO) staging system in dogs with lymphoma (Owens, 1981)

Patients with a lower stage and without clinical signs generally carry a better prognosis than those with a higher stage and which are showing clinical signs of disease (Keller et al., 1993, Vail and MacEwen, 2000, Carter et al., 1986, Baskin et al., 2000), however there is disparity in the literature and several studies have shown no significant association between WHO stage and prognosis (Keller et al., 1993, Flory et al., 2007).

1.1.7 Treatment and prognosis

Regardless of WHO stage at time of diagnosis, without treatment most dogs with LSA will die of their disease within 4-6 weeks (Vail et al., 2001), and systemic treatment in the form of prednisolone or cytotoxic drugs is required to prolong survival (Dobson et al., 2001, Hahn et al., 1992, Chun, 2009). Patients with stage I or single site extranodal lymphoma may benefit from a local treatment such as surgical excision of the tumour or radiation therapy at the local site. For those patients with multicentric LSA, chemotherapy is the most common form of treatment and many protocols have been suggested. Treatment with prednisolone alone increases patient median survival time to only 1-2 months

(Gear, 2009b, Vail et al., 2001). Multi-drug chemotherapy protocols produce higher response rates and longer survival times than single agent protocols (with the exception of doxorubicin) (Simon et al., 2008, Hahn et al., 1992, Chun, 2009). Conventional chemotherapy protocols include the low dose COP (cyclophosphamide, vincristine, prednisolone) protocol and the CHOP (cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisolone) protocol (Appendix 1). Complete response is achieved in 60-90% of dogs on these protocols, with a median survival time of 6-12 months (Dobson et al., 2001, Kaiser et al., 2007, Vail et al., 2001, Chun, 2009).

Half-body radiation therapy has also been used in combination with chemotherapy and early results suggest that this may produce significantly longer disease-free intervals and median survival times (Williams et al., 2004, Gustafson et al., 2004, Lurie et al., 2009). Radiation therapy is not commonly performed due to the limited number of linear accelerators in the UK and the high cost associated with this treatment modality.

1.1.8 Monitoring and categorising response

Monitoring the response to treatment is important in patients with LSA. To improve survival time, a change of chemotherapy protocol may be indicated in refractory cases or where there is evidence of tumour recrudescence. For those patients with a peripheral lymphadenopathy, response to treatment is usually assessed by the attending veterinary surgeon palpating the lymph nodes and taking caliper measurements. Despite the objective measurement of lymph nodes, determining remission status is subjective. Variation in the recorded remission status of human patients with both Hodgkin's (HL) and NHL, and canine patients with LSA has been shown depending on the monitoring methods used (Carde et al., 2002, Williams et al., 2005).

1.1.8.1 RECIST guidelines

The response evaluation criteria in solid tumours (RECIST) guidelines v1.1 (Eisenhauer et al., 2009) were developed to standardize the assessment of tumour burden and the monitoring of response to treatment. These guidelines were initially developed for solid tumours but have been shown to be applicable

25

in the monitoring of LSA in people and dogs (Assouline et al., 2007, Vail et al., 2010). Tumour response is recorded according to the following categories:

- Complete response (CR): No detectable disease.
- Partial response (PR): Target lesions reduced by >30% but <100%.
- Stable disease (SD): <30% decrease and <20% increase in target lesions.
- Progressive disease (PD): Target lesions increased by >20%.

The guidelines state that a complete response should not be assigned until 4 weeks of treatment has been given (Eisenhauer et al., 2009).

1.1.8.2 Minimum residual disease

Minimum residual disease (MRD) is the term used to indicate there are cells remaining within the lymph nodes that are resistant to therapy despite no clinical detection of gross disease. As these cells continue to multiply, tumour recrudescence or relapse will ultimately occur. Repeat cytology or flow cytometry on samples from clinically normal lymph nodes can reveal evidence of MRD in patients with LSA which may facilitate treatment modification (Williams et al., 2005); however these techniques are not sensitive. Recent advances in PCR based detection methods have allowed the quantification of MRD in canine LSA and may have prognostic significance (Thilakaratne et al., 2010, Yamazaki et al., 2008).

For those patients with other anatomical forms of LSA, diagnostic imaging including ultrasonography and radiography is often used to monitor response to treatment, however these techniques may not be sensitive enough to show MRD when compared to advanced imaging techniques such as PET-CT (Zinzani et al., 2006, Spaepen et al., 2001). Early results show that PET-CT may be sensitive in detecting MRD disease in dogs with LSA and in detecting early response and early recrudescence of disease (Lawrence et al., 2009, LeBlanc et al., 2009). However the financial implications to fee-paying clients, combined with the limited

availability of scanners and radio-isotopes, has stopped this technique from being widely adopted in veterinary medicine.

1.2 The acute phase response

The body has many homeostatic mechanisms in place to maintain an optimal internal environment. When subjected to tissue injury or immunological stress, the body responds with a rapid, complex and non-specific reaction known as the acute phase response (APR). The APR is part of the innate defense system of many different species including dogs and humans and occurs when disturbances in homeostasis give rise to systemic and metabolic changes (Eckersall and Conner, 1988, Gabay and Kushner, 1999, Heinrich et al., 1990, Kushner and Mackiewicz, 1993, Murata et al., 2004, Paltrinieri, 2007, Tecles et al., 2005). Causes include infection, tissue injury from surgery and trauma, malignant neoplasia and immunological disorders (Ebersole and Cappelli, 2000, Gabay and Kushner, 1999, Hogarth et al., 1997, Lin et al., 2000, Nakamura et al., 2008, Pepys, 1981, Tecles et al., 2005).

1.2.1 Local and distant effects

During the APR a local reaction occurs at the site of injury which includes blood vessel dilatation and leakage, platelet aggregation and clot formation and activation of granulocytes and mononuclear cells within the inflamed tissue (Kushner, 1982). These produce cytokines and inflammatory mediators which diffuse into the systemic circulation (Castell et al., 1990, Heinrich et al., 1990, Yamashita et al., 1994).

1.2.1.1 Cytokines in the APR

The most important cytokines appear to include interleukin-1 (IL-1), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) (Castell et al., 1989, Murata et al., 2004, Paltrinieri, 2007, Petersen et al., 2004, Yamashita et al., 1994). The cytokines mediate a systemic reaction which is characterised by fever, leukocytosis, increased synthesis of hormones (including insulin, cortisol and catecholamines), alterations in serum cations (decreased zinc and iron concentrations), increased erythrocyte sedimentation rate, activation of the clotting cascade, metabolic changes, and the modulation of protein synthesis by hepatocytes. This hepatic modulation gives rise to a number of proteins collectively termed the acute phase proteins (APPs) (Eckersall, 1995, Gabay and Kushner, 1999, Kushner and Feldmann, 1978, Kushner, 1982). Although APP production is mainly hepatocyte-derived and driven by the action of the inflammatory cytokines on hepatocytes (Castell et al., 1990, Castell et al., 1989, Hurlimann et al., 1966, Kushner and Mackiewicz, 1993), extrahepatic production has also been described in tissues including kidney, intestine, lung, heart, spleen, testis, bone marrow and lymphocytes (Kalmovarin et al., 1991, Lecchi et al., 2009, Ramadori et al., 1985, Skovgaard et al., 2009).

There are at least 15 different cytokines known to exist and these are composed of very small molecules with a very short half-life (Gruys et al., 2005). There are similarities between human and dog cytokines (Soller et al., 2007). The relationship between the different cytokines is complex, and studies have shown that there is an overlapping pathway of APP induction (Heinrich et al., 1990, Lin et al., 2000). Cytokines can network to combine with other cytokines to promote or augment the production of APPs or they can directly regulate the production of other cytokines and APPs (Gabay and Kushner, 1999, Ganapathi et al., 1991).

1.2.1.2 IL-6, IL-1 and TNF- α

IL-6 is the major regulator of APP production, having been shown to promote hepatic synthesis of all positive APPs, but in particular C-reactive protein (CRP) (Castell et al., 1990, Mackiewicz et al., 1991, Yamashita et al., 1994). IL-1 has a moderate effect on the synthesis of some APPs and inhibits the production of others; it also induces IL-6 (Ebersole and Cappelli, 2000, Gabay and Kushner, 1999). TNF- α is the major stimulator of IL-1 and induces catabolism of the muscles allowing increased flow of amino acids to the liver (Gabay and Kushner, 1999, Paltrinieri, 2007).

1.2.2 The acute phase proteins

APPs have been defined empirically by Kushner and Mackiewicz (1993) as proteins whose plasma concentrations change by more than 25% following an

inflammatory response. Kushner (1982) previously defined the positive APPs as those whose serum concentrations increase and includes CRP, serum amyloid A (SAA), haptoglobin (Hp), α -1 acid aminoglycoprotein (AGP) and ceruloplasmin (Cp) (Eckersall and Conner, 1988, Caspi et al., 1987). The term 'negative' APPs describes those whose serum concentrations decrease during the APR. This occurs as the body preferentially uses any available amino acids to build the positive APPs. Examples include albumin and transferrin (Kushner, 1982, Tecles et al., 2009, Yamashita et al., 1994). Kushner (1982) further divided the positive APPs into 3 classes based on the magnitude of their response: Class I includes the proteins whose concentration have a 2-fold increase (Cp); Class II includes those whose concentration increases approximately 2- to 4-fold (AGP, Hp); and Class III includes those whose concentration increase several hundred fold (CRP, SAA).

In both people and dogs the "major" positive APPs are CRP and SAA, and the "major" negative APP is albumin (Cerón et al., 2005, Kushner, 1982, Murata et al., 2004, Paltrinieri, 2007). There are species differences which occur however, and CRP for example is a major APP in dogs and humans but only a moderate APP in cats and horses (Cerón et al., 2005, Murata et al., 2004).

1.2.3 C-reactive protein

CRP was first described by Tillet and Francis (1930) and was so named because it exhibited a high binding affinity to the C-polysaccharide of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. It has been shown in both man and dogs to rise in concentration as quickly as 4 hours following an inflammatory stimulus, to achieve its maximum concentration within 24-72 hours, and to have a doubling time of 8 hours. Its concentration rapidly declines within 24-36 hours once the inflammatory stimulus is removed (Caspi et al., 1987, Kushner and Mackiewicz, 1993, Pepys, 1981).

1.2.4 The role of the APPs

The biological function of the individual APPs is still not fully understood. They are known to protect against infection, help repair damaged tissue, and regulate the immune and inflammatory response (Cerón et al., 2005). Several APPs also

have the ability to initiate and sustain inflammation as well as having an antiinflammatory effect (Gabay and Kushner, 1999, Murata et al., 2004). There is growing evidence to suggest that APPs can be produced by neoplastic tissue and may contribute to tumour development and progression (Chan et al., 2007, Kovacevic et al., 2008, Malle et al., 2009).

1.3 The role of APPs as general biomarkers of disease

A biomarker has been defined by the National Cancer Institute as "a biological molecule found in blood, other body fluids, or tissues that is a sign of a normal or abnormal process or of a condition or disease". Although measuring APPs is highly non-specific due to the numerous conditions that can result in tissue injury or inflammation, its measurement is highly sensitive. Due to this high sensitivity, APPs have become extensively used as biomarkers in human medicine over the last few decades. They are a marker of infection and inflammation and have been shown to have prognostic importance in many diseases (Herishanu et al., 2007, Hogarth et al., 1997, Kompoti et al., 2008, Ebersole and Cappelli, 2000). Several APPs including CRP have been shown to be elevated in human patients with a variety of malignancies and they have therefore gained popularity in the diagnosis and monitoring of different cancers (Beer et al., 2008, Chan et al., 2007, Falconer et al., 1995, Yoshida et al., 2008). Preoperative CRP has been significantly associated with the pathological stage of disease and of disease progression in patients with solid malignant tumours (Yudoh et al., 1996, Crozier et al., 2007, Shimada et al., 2003, Koike et al., 2008).

1.3.1 Acute phase proteins and cancer

Serum APPs have been widely investigated in both human and veterinary medicine. CRP, SAA and AGP are often elevated with neoplasia (Biran et al., 1986, Falconer et al., 1994, Chan et al., 2007, Raynes and Cooper, 1983, Fournier et al., 2000, Duché et al., 2000, Fujita et al., 1999), however CRP appears to be the most useful systemic biomarker for cancer in humans. It is elevated in a wide variety of malignancies including NHL, HL, hepatocellular, colorectal, urinary bladder, pancreatic, breast, prostatic and gastric cancer and is a predictor of recurrence of disease and of overall poor survival (Wieland et al., 2003, Beer et al., 2008, Yoshida et al., 2008, Crozier et al., 2007, Legouffe et al., 1998, Ito et al., 2006, Hashimoto et al., 2005). Similarly, CRP, AGP and SAA can become elevated in many canine malignancies including LSA, acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, and a variety of sarcomas and carcinomas (Nakamura et al., 2008, Tecles et al., 2005, Planellas et al., 2009). Of these canine APPs, CRP has been most widely investigated due to its widespread clinical application in human medicine.

1.3.2 Current suggested biomarkers for human and canine LSA

Biomarker analysis is widely used in the diagnosis and prognostication of human cancers including NHL (Kim, 2006, Khalifa et al., 2008). Using proteomic analysis, canine specific biomarkers have been identified that are capable of differentiating LSA patients from non-LSA patients, though currently it has not been determined whether these markers are suitable to monitor the response to treatment of previously diagnosed patients (Ratcliffe et al., 2009, Mian et al., 2006).

1.3.2.1 Cytokines as biomarkers

Cytokines are altered in humans and dogs with breast, lung, gastric, renal and bone tumours, lymphoma and leukaemia, with high serum concentrations being associated with advanced stages of disease (Khalifa et al., 2008, Itoh et al., 2009, Tsimberidou et al., 2008, Preti et al., 1997, Seymour et al., 1995). IL-6 is the most studied plasma cytokine and has been shown to promote the antitumour activity of macrophages to produce lymphokine-activated killer (LAK) calls and stimulate the production of CRP which binds to tumour cells and causes tumour cell lysis. IL-6 also prevents the apoptosis of neutrophils which aid the killing of tumour cells (Wang and Sun, 2009). The use of IL-6 as a biomarker in dogs may be limited as the measurement of plasma cytokines is difficult due to their short half-lives (Gabay and Kushner, 1999). Recent investigation of TNF- α in dogs with LSA has shown that the current assays commercially available for detection of human TNF- α may be of limited use in this species (Hofer et al., 2011).

31

1.3.2.2 Tissue biomarkers

Survivin is a member of the inhibitor of apoptosis protein family and has a role in tumour cell proliferation. Survivin expression is a negative prognostic indicator in both human and canine patients with lymphoma (Schlette et al., 2004, Adida et al., 2000, Rebhun et al., 2008). A current limitation of the use of survivin in veterinary patients is that biopsied tissue is required and there is limited availability of the test.

1.3.2.3 Serum enzyme biomarkers

Serum enzyme biomarkers such as lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) and thymidine kinase (TK) have prognostic significance in human and canine patients with LSA and may be capable of predicting recurrence of disease (Dumontet et al., 1999, Ferraris et al., 1979, Hallek et al., 1992, von Euler et al., 2004, Nakamura et al., 1997). LDH is higher in canine patients with LSA when compared to normal or diseased dogs; however there is disparity in the literature as to whether there is a relationship between LDH levels and clinical stage or survival time (Marconato et al., 2009, Greenlee et al., 1990, Zanatta et al., 2003, von Euler et al., 2006, Nakamura et al., 1997, Marconato et al., 2010). Serum TK is elevated in canine patients with LSA and appears to have prognostic significance (von Euler et al., 2004, von Euler and Eriksson, 2011). In a study by von Euler *et al* (2004) serum TK correlates with WHO stage and substage, and may be an early marker of relapse. Serum TK is potentially a very useful tumour biomarker in veterinary LSA patients, and recent development of an ELISA assay may allow full exploitation of its use in the near future (von Euler et al., 2006).

1.3.3 The current role of CRP in human and canine LSA

In human medicine, serum CRP concentration provides prognostic information for patients with NHL and HL. It is a significant marker for disease remission and relapse, and can be used as a predictor of overall survival (Herishanu et al., 2007, Legouffe et al., 1998, McMillan et al., 2001, Wieland et al., 2003). Serum CRP concentration is similarly significantly elevated in dogs with LSA. This elevation decreases to within the normal reference range when the patient achieves complete remission during treatment with chemotherapy (Mischke et al., 2007, Merlo et al., 2007, Nielsen et al., 2007). CRP becomes elevated at time of relapse though there is disparity in the literature over whether this elevation achieves statistical significance (Merlo et al., 2007, Nielsen et al., 2007). The elevated concentration of serum CRP at time of relapse may be related to tumour burden (Merlo et al., 2007). If this is so, CRP would not be useful as an indicator of early relapse as serum concentration would only become elevated once tumour burden was significant and relapse was already clinically apparent.

1.4 CRP assay

The current assay for canine serum CRP is relatively rapid, cheap and readily available for general veterinary practitioners due to the development of immunoturbidimetric methodology (Eckersall et al., 1991, Kjelgaard-Hansen et al., 2003a), making it an ideal biomarker for dogs with LSA. Lipaemic, haemolytic or hyperbilirubinaemic serum may not be suitable for use in some assays including the enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) due to significant changes in the values of CRP obtained (Martinez-Subiela and Ceron, 2005), however immunoturbidimetric assays can be much less affected and the change in CRP is often within an acceptable 10% limit (Tecles et al., 2007). CRP has been shown to be a stable biomarker for analysis which can be successfully stored at -70°C for long periods and can be subjected to multiple freeze-thaw cycles without a decline in concentration (Hartweg et al., 2007, Aziz et al., 2003). It is recommended that multiple samples be run at the same time to reduce interassay variability (Aziz et al., 2003). Substantial variation in CRP concentration between dogs has been noted, as has individual dog variation in multiple measurements (Carney et al., 2011, Kjelgaard-Hansen et al., 2003b). It has been suggested that a population-based reference range may be unsuitable for interpreting serum CRP concentrations in dogs due to the individual dog variation, and that comparison between serial results may be more appropriate (Kjelgaard-Hansen et al., 2003b, Carney et al., 2011).

1.5 Study Aims

The aims of this retrospective study were to use a large population size and a large number of serial samples per case to:

1) Investigate whether a relationship exists between serum CRP concentration and the different patient variables,

2) Investigate whether serum CRP can be used as a clinical monitoring tool of remission status for dogs with LSA, and

3) Assess if serum CRP has any prognostic significance i.e. determine whether a relationship exists between pre-treatment CRP and time to relapse and overall survival time.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Study design

This prospective study was performed with full ethical approval from the Department of Ethics and Welfare, University of Glasgow. Owners of dogs included in the study signed a consent form allowing excess biological materials to be retained by the University. A retrospective search of the records was performed to determine clinical data for the dogs included in the study. All clinical data were stored in Access 2003 (Microsoft Inc, USA).

2.1.1 Study population

Untreated dogs with LSA that presented to the University of Glasgow's Small Animal Hospital between 2004 and 2010 were eligible for recruitment onto the study. A diagnosis of LSA was confirmed by cytology or histopathology and immunophenotyping was performed by ICC or IHC using antibodies against CD3 and CD79a. Tumour grade was assigned using the Updated Kiel classification (Lennert and Feller, 1991) and the WHO classification (World Health Organization, 2008).

Clinical staging was performed on all dogs and a WHO stage and substage assigned (Owen, 1980). The minimum clinical database for all dogs included CBC, biochemistry analysis, abdominal ultrasonography and thoracic radiography. Computed tomography was performed when clinically appropriate. Splenic and hepatic cytology and bone marrow evaluation was performed to complete staging when deemed clinically important and when client finances allowed.

2.1.2 Exclusion criteria

Dogs were excluded from the study if they had concurrent infectious disease, if they had previously been treated for their LSA with surgery or chemotherapy, or if they did not have a serum sample obtained prior to treatment.
2.1.3 Initial induction treatment protocols

Dogs were treated with standard multidrug chemotherapy protocols for LSA. The decision for protocol selection was guided by the degree of client compliance and by the client financial situation. Those dogs with a high grade LSA were treated with one of the following protocols:

- **CHOP/modified CHOP:** cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine and prednisolone +/- l-asparaginase.
- Low dose (LD) COP: cyclophosphamide, vincristine and prednisolone.
- ALP: asparaginase, lomustine and prednisolone.

Dogs with low grade LSA were treated with chlorambucil and prednisolone. For those clients that did not want to treat their pet with chemotherapy, the option of steroids was made available, where dogs were treated with anti-inflammatory doses of prednisolone (1-2 mg/Kg once or twice daily). The owners were given the option of declining any form of treatment for their pet following diagnosis.

All chemotherapy protocols included an induction and maintenance part; Appendix 1 describes the protocols in detail.

2.1.4 Relapse or 'rescue' protocols

At relapse, dogs were re-staged and reinduced with a rescue chemotherapy protocol. The rescue protocols included:

- CHOP/modified CHOP
- LD COP
- ALP
- DMAC: dexamethasone, melphalan, actinomycin-D and cytosine arabinoside.

• LMP: chlorambucil, methotrexate and prednisolone.

L-asparaginase (400 iu/Kg or 10,000 iu/m²) was included as an initial induction agent in several dogs. Appendix 1 describes the rescue protocols in detail.

2.1.5 Clinical assessment

For those patients with peripheral lymphadenopathy, orthogonal measurements of all affected lymph nodes were obtained using calipers. Dimensions of the internal medial iliac, mesenteric and mediastinal lymph nodes were measured by metric rule using ultrasonographic equipment. Full staging was repeated at the time of tumour relapse or 1, 3, 6 and 12 months following the end of a chemotherapy protocol.

Response to treatment was assessed at each visit and remission status was determined according to the RECIST guidelines v1.1 (Eisenhauer et al., 2009). CR was not assigned until 28 days post treatment. For analysis purposes dogs SD i.e. minimal change from the previous measurements, were classed as the remission status that preceded it to reflect most accurately the level of disease present.

2.2 Determining the CRP concentration

Serum samples were obtained when there was excess whole blood collected at the time of initial staging, prior to any dose of chemotherapy and at time of restage and relapse. 1-2mL of whole blood was collected by jugular venipuncture into serum tubes. Blood was allowed to clot for approximately 2 hours at room temperature then centrifuged at 9,000 revolutions per minute for 3 minutes. A minimum of 200µL serum was harvested and frozen at -70°C for batch analysis at a later date. It was noted if the samples were grossly haemolytic, lipaemic or hyperbilirubinaemic. CRP concentration was measured using more than one assay type as the collection period spanned several years; during which improvements and modifications were made to the assay. Where spare serum was available, as many samples as possible were run again on the most recent assay, the Pentra 400 (Horiba ABX, UK). This was done by batch analysis to reduce inter-assay variability. CRP concentrations were excluded if they were obtained when the patient was experiencing chemotherapy toxicities or concurrent infectious disease.

Assay 1) 2004-2005, Solid-phase sandwich immunoassay (Canine CRP ELISA, Tridelta Development Ltd, Ireland), (Eckersall et al., 1989):

This assay was previously validated to have a low within-run imprecision with intra-assay coefficients of variance (n=8) of 1.0% and 2.8% at mean control values of 18 mg/L and 74 mg/L respectively. This assay also has an acceptable between-run imprecision with inter-assay coefficients of variance (n=11) of 11.1% and 12.6% at mean control values of 19 mg/L and 75 mg/L of CRP respectively.

Assay 2) 2005-2010, Immunoturbidimetric assay (Cobas Mira, Roche Diagnostics, UK), (Eckersall et al., 1991):

This assay was previously validated to have a low within-run imprecision with intra-assay coefficients of variance (n=10) of 4.5% and 4.3% at mean control values of 37mg/L and 66mg/L of CRP respectively. This assay also has an acceptable between-run imprecision with inter-assay coefficients of variance (n=14) of 10% and 11% at mean control values of 42 mg/L and 102 mg/L of CRP respectively.

Assay 3) 2010-present, Latex-enhanced immunoturbidimetric assay (Pentra 400, Horiba ABX, UK):

This assay was validated to have a low within-run imprecision with intra-assay coefficients of variance (n=12) of 0.5 % and 1.2% at mean control values of 4 mg/L and 30 mg/L of CRP respectively. This assay also has an acceptable between-run imprecision with inter-assay coefficients of variance (n=12) of 4.8% and 8.5% at mean control values of 4 mg/L and 30 mg/L of CRP respectively.

A serum CRP concentration $\leq 10 \text{mg/L}$ was deemed normal based on previous findings by Eckersall *et al* (1989).

2.3 Control population

The control population comprised 59 dogs of various breeds which were used as blood donors. The dogs were aged between 2-8 years and all weighed >25Kg. They were deemed 'healthy' based on a 2 week history of no illness or injury, negative findings on clinical examination, normal CBC and no significant renal or hepatic changes on biochemistry analysis. Serum was harvested and frozen at -70°C for batch analysis on the Pentra 400 analyser (Horiba ABX, UK).

5 dogs in the healthy control population had slightly elevated serum CRP concentrations (>10 mg/L but <17 mg/L) and 1 dog was an outlier with a CRP concentration of 30.5 mg/L. The history for these dogs was reviewed to ensure there was no underlying clinical cause for the elevated CRP. No cause was determined for any of the dogs and they were therefore left within the control group.

2.4 Statistical methods

Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) where normally distributed, as median [interquartile range (IQR)] where not normally distributed, or as a percentage of the group from which they were derived for categorical variables. Normality was tested with the Anderson-Darling (AD) test, where p ≥ 0.05 indicated normal distribution. Where the distribution of CRP was not normal, data were log transformed in an attempt to improve the assumption of Gaussian distribution and variance homogeneity. Parametric testing was performed on data that were normally distributed and non-parametric testing was performed on data that were not normally distributed.

All statistical analyses were performed using Minitab v13 (Minitab Inc., USA), GraphPad Prism v5.04 (GraphPad Software Inc., USA) and Stata 10.1 (StataCorp., USA) statistical software. Statistical significance was set at a p-value ≤ 0.05.

2.4.1 Descriptive analysis

Descriptive statistics were generated for continuous data which included the number in each group (n), range, mean (95% confidence interval (CI)), SD, median (95% CI), and the IQR. Graphical representation of the data included bar charts and box-and-whisker plots (boxplots) where the box represents the IQR, the line within the box represents the median, and the whiskers represent the range. Stars beyond the whiskers represent outlier values.

2.4.2 Comparison of assays

The paired CRP concentrations from all patients were pooled and were assigned into 3 groups depending on the assays by which the values were obtained:

- ELISA v Mira
- ELISA v Pentra
- Mira v Pentra

Time-series plots were created for each patient that had >5 sets of paired data (Appendix 2). Differences in variance were investigated using Levene's test. Correlation between the assays was determined using Spearman rank (SR) correlation. The Bland-Altman test was performed to test the agreement between the different assays. Graphs were produced which plotted the difference between the 2 CRP measurements from each assay on the y-axis against the average of the 2 CRP measurements on the x-axis.

2.4.3 Categorising CRP concentrations

The distribution of CRP concentration was evaluated for both the control group and the study cohort, and 4 bands were selected based on the degree of CRP elevation. The bands were categorised using the following CRP ranges:

• Normal: CRP = $\leq 10 \text{ mg/L}$,

- Mild elevation: CRP = >10 \leq 30 mg/L,
- Moderate elevation: CRP = >30 ≤80 mg/L,
- Marked elevation: CRP = >80 mg/L.

Due to the small numbers of dogs in each categorical grouping, the Normal and Mild (N+M) groups and the Moderate and Marked (M+M) groups were combined at times to facilitate statistical analysis.

2.4.4 Investigating the differences between groups

Proportional differences were investigated using the Fisher's exact test when n<5 in one or more groups, and using the Chi-square test when $n\ge5$ in all groups.

Comparison of the medians in 3 or more groups was performed using the Kruskal-Wallis (KW) test. Comparison of the medians of 2 groups was performed using the Mann-Whitney U (MW) test.

Comparison of paired or matched data was performed using the paired t-test for normally distributed data and the Wilcoxon-signed rank (WSR) test for data that were not normally distributed.

2.4.5 Investigating the relationship between groups

Correlation between CRP and the different patient variables was performed using Pearson's correlation for normally distributed data and the SR test on data that were not normally distributed.

The relationship between CRP as a continuous outcome and the different patient variables was investigated using a general linear regression model. CRP data was log-transformed to improve the assumption of normal distribution. Categorical variables included site (generalised multicentric vs. not generalised multicentric), WHO stage (II-III vs. IV-V), WHO substage ('a' vs. 'b'), immunophenotype (B-cell vs. T-cell) and continuous variables included albumin concentration. Univariate analysis was performed initially, and all significant

variables were placed into the final multivariate model. Fitted-line plots were produced for each variable investigated in the univariate model and the transformation of residuals was performed to improve the model.

Logistic regression was also performed to investigate CRP as a binary outcome (\leq 30 mg/L vs. >30 mg/L) with various predictor variables. Categorical predictor variables included site, WHO stage and sustage, immunophenotype (as described above) and albumin (hypoalbuminaemic vs. not hypoalbuminaemic). Significant predictor variables from univariate analysis were placed in the final model for multivariate analysis.

2.4.6 Determining CRP concentration cut-off values

Area under the receiver operator characteristic (AUROC) curve analysis was performed to generate a range of cut-off values. The best cut-off value was deemed the one with the best balance between sensitivity and specificity, where sensitivity is the proportion of true positives which are correctly identified and specificity is the proportion of true negatives which are correctly identified.

2.4.7 Survival analysis

Survival differences were investigated using a logistic regression model with different binary outcomes (survival time ≤ 6 months vs. >6 months, dead vs. alive, death due to LSA vs. death due to other reasons, and relapsed vs. not relapsed) to produce a likelihood ratio. Continuous predictor variables including CRP, albumin and calcium were log-transformed to improve the assumption of normality. Categorical predictor variables included WHO stage (II-III vs. IV-V), substage ('a' vs. 'b'), immunophenotype (B-cell vs. T-cell), site (generalised multicentric vs. not generalised multicentric), albumin (hypoalbuminaemic vs. not hypoalbuminaemic), calcium (hypercalcaemic vs. not hypercalcaemic) and CRP (≤ 30 mg/L vs. >30 mg/L). The significant variables from the univariate analysis were placed into the final model for multivariate logistic regression analysis.

Survival analysis was performed using a Kaplan-Meier product limit method. Overall survival time (OST) was defined as the number of days from first chemotherapy treatment to death, and time to first relapse (TFR) was defined as the number of days from first chemotherapy treatment to first episode of progressive disease (relapse of disease) in dogs that achieved partial or complete remission. Log-rank and Gehan-Breslow-Wilcoxon tests were used to determine whether the overall survival functions in two or more groups were equal. This was supplemented with a Cox proportional hazards model. Potential predictor variables included WHO Stage and substage, immunophenotype, albumin, and calcium. Survival curves were generated for the significant variables. Dogs were censored at the date of analysis if still alive.

To remove the effect on survival of the different treatment regimes and to homogenise the population, dogs that received any treatment other than a CHOP-type protocol were excluded from the analyses.

3 Results

3.1 Defining the final study population

To exclude any confounding variables, and to maximise the number of samples that could be used for final statistical analysis, the agreement between the different CRP assays was investigated along with the effects of repeat freezethaw cycles, of concurrent disease, and of previous glucocorticoid treatment. The results of this analysis determined the final population for analysis.

3.1.1 Testing the agreement between assays: paired samples

Due to modifications of the CRP assay over the study time period, many samples were run on more than 1 assay, providing paired CRP concentrations for time points from several dogs. The paired CRP concentrations from all dogs with LSA were assigned into 3 groups depending on the assays from which they were obtained: Pentra/Mira, Pentra/ELISA and Mira/ELISA. To allow visualisation of any patterns between the paired assays, time-series plots were created for each patient that had >5 sets of paired data (Appendix 2).

3.1.1.1 Comparison of the Pentra and Mira assays

Six dogs had >5 samples from several time points run on the Pentra and Mira assays. Taking each dog separately, statistical analysis using the WSR test showed a significant difference in median CRP concentration between assays in only 2 dogs (Table 2). Considering all paired samples for the Pentra and Mira assays together (n=95), there was no significant variance between them (Levene's test p=0.17) and both assays significantly correlated (p<0.001), however this correlation was only moderate ($r_s = 0.54$). There was also no significant difference between the median CRP concentrations of the paired samples run on both these assays (MW test W=1853.0, p=0.11). In summary, the 2 assays showed good agreement in most statistical analyses except for the WSR test in 2 out of 6 dogs.

Table 2 Results of Wilcoxon signed-rank test for paired samples on Pentra & Mira a							
n=	W-Stat	P-value					
18	106.0	0.38					
14	92.0	0.01*					
8	22.0	0.62					
11	26.0	0.56					
15	57.0	0.89					
10	55.0	0.006*					
	Its of Wilcoxon n= 18 14 8 11 15 10	Its of Wilcoxon signed-rank te n= W-Stat 18 106.0 14 92.0 8 22.0 11 26.0 15 57.0 10 55.0					

issays

* Indicates a significant difference

3.1.1.2 Comparison of the Pentra and ELISA assays

Seven dogs had >5 samples run on the Pentra and ELISA assays. For individual dogs, statistical analysis using the WSR test showed a significant difference between the median CRP concentrations between assays in 4 out of 7 dogs (Table 3). When considering all paired samples together (n=88), the CRP concentrations significantly correlated (r_s=0.832, p<0.001) however there was significant variance between both assays (Levene's test p=0.04) indicating poor agreement. There was significant difference between the median CRP concentrations obtained from the Pentra and ELISA assay (MW test W=474.0, p<0.001). In summary, the statistical analyses indicated poor agreement between assays.

Dog ID	n=	W-Stat	P-value
1	18	100.0	0.54
3	13	88.0	0.003*
8	8	29.0	0.14
43	8	36.0	0.01*
44	5	15.0	0.06
47	25	325.0	<0.001*
52	12	78.0	0.003*

Table 3 Results of Wilcoxon signed-rank test for paired samples on Pentra & ELISA assays

* Indicates a significant difference

3.1.1.3 Comparison of the Mira and ELISA assays

Only 3 dogs had >5 samples run on the Mira and ELISA assays. For each individual, statistical analysis using the WSR test showed significant difference between the median CRP concentrations between assays in 1 dog only (Table 4). Considering all paired samples together (n=51), there was no significant difference in the variance between them (Levene's test p=0.31), and there was significant correlation of the assays (p<0.001), however this was only moderate ($r_s = 0.59$). There was no significant difference between the median CRP concentrations obtained from the Mira and ELISA assay (MW test W=485.0, p=0.10). In summary, the 2 assays showed good agreement except in the WSR test in 1 out of 3 dogs.

Table 4 Results of Wilcoxon signed-rank test for paired samples on Mira & ELISA assays

Dog ID	n=	W-Stat	P-value
1	27	120.5	0.10
3	13	90.0	0.002*
8	8	31.0	0.08

* Indicates a significant difference

3.1.1.4 Bland-Altman analysis

Further comparison of the paired samples from the different assays was performed using the Bland-Altman method (Figure 4) where the difference between both CRP measurements on the y-axis was plotted against the average of the 2 CRP measurements on the x-axis. This analysis showed there was insufficient agreement between the ELISA and Pentra assays (bias = -7.06, 95% CI -33.31, 19.19) and the Mira and Pentra assays (bias = -4.09, 95% CI -58.32, 50.14). The agreement between the Mira and ELISA assays was more acceptable (bias = 1.8, 95% CI -11.9, 15.5).



Figure 3 Bland-Altman plot of paired CRP concentrations on i) ELISA & Mira assays; ii) ELISA & Pentra assays; iii) Mira & Pentra assays

These results confirmed that there was insufficient agreement between assays to be able to combine in a single data set the samples run on one assay with those run on a different assay. Therefore, as the Pentra analyser was the most current assay, and as the largest number of samples were run on this assay, the final population was taken from these samples. All dogs that had CRP concentrations obtained only on the ELISA or Mira assays were excluded from further statistical analysis.

3.1.2 Do multiple freeze-thaw cycles affect CRP?

Many of the samples were run over time on multiple assays, and ultimately on the Pentra analyser which we had previously determined to be the assay of choice. It was therefore important to determine that the repeat freeze-thaw cycles did not cause significant degradation of the CRP proteins and consequently result in artificially low serum CRP concentrations. All Pentra CRP concentrations available were placed into 2 groups: Group 1 included those samples that were run on the first freeze-thaw cycle (n=452) and Group 2 included those samples that were run after multiple freeze-thaw cycles (n=117). Table 5 displays the descriptive statistics and Figure 5 shows that the distribution of CRP concentrations in both groups is similar. There was no significant difference between the median CRP concentrations of groups 1 and 2 (MW test W=127417.5, p=0.38).

Group	n=	Range (mg/L)	Mean (95% CI) (mg/L)	SD	Median (95% Cl) (mg/L)	IQR (mg/L)
1	452	0.0-294.0	20.4 (17.1-23.8)	36.1	7.8 (6.7-9.4)	3.4-19.9
2	117	0.3-225.6	22.5 (16.0-29.0)	35.5	8.6 (6.0-12.3)	3.5-25.0
3	57	0.41-273.7	51.2 (37.1-65.3)	53.1	34.7 (24.9-49.2)	18.1-67.0
4	16	5.9-198.1	54.3 (27.0-81.6)	51.1	32.6 (22.2-67.9)	21.6-75.0
5	242	0.0-160.4	10.3 (8.3-12.3)	15.9	5.3 (4.8-6.3)	2.4-12.5
6	53	0.7-66.1	9.9 (6.4-13.3)	12.4	5.5 (4.1-6.8)	3.1-10.5

Table 5 Descriptive statistics for CRP in the different freeze-thaw groups



Figure 4 Boxplot of CRP in first thaw and multiple freeze-thaw cycles a. All samples: Group 1 (all 1st thaw samples) vs. Group 2 (all multiple freeze-thaw samples); b. High CRP concentration samples: Group 3 (pre-treatment 1st thaw samples) vs. Group 4 (pre-treatment multiple freeze-thaw samples); c. Low CRP concentration samples: Group 5 (complete remission 1st thaw samples) vs. Group 6 (complete remission multiple freezethaw samples) The effect of multiple freeze-thaw cycles on different extremes of CRP concentration was also investigated, using pre-treatment samples (high CRP concentrations) and samples from dogs in CR (low CRP concentrations). A further 4 groups of Pentra CRP concentrations were allocated (Table 5): Group 3 included pre-treatment samples run on the first thaw cycle (n=57) and Group 4 included pre-treatment samples that were run on the Pentra assay following repeat freeze-thaw cycles (n=16). Group 5 included samples obtained from patients in CR following treatment and were run on the first freeze-thaw cycle (n=242) and Group 6 included samples from patients in CR which were run on the Pentra analyser following repeat freeze-thaw cycles (n=53). There was a similar distribution of CRP concentrations in groups 3 and 4 and groups 5 and 6 (Figure 5), with no significant difference in the medians of the 2 groups when analysed using the MW test (Group 3+4: W=2075.0, p=0.66; Group 5+6: W=35636.5, p=0.75).

These analyses indicated that it was acceptable to use samples that had undergone multiple freeze-thaw cycles.

3.1.3 Does concurrent disease affect pre-treatment CRP?

Of the 83 dogs that were included in the analysis, 54 dogs (65%) had no concurrent disease (NCD) at time of presentation and 29 (35%) had concurrent disease (CD). The 29 dogs with concurrent disease were split into 2 groups (Table 6): those with non-inflammatory concurrent disease (NICD, n=7, 24%), and those with inflammatory concurrent disease (ICD, n=22, 76%). Descriptive statistics for each group can be found in Table 7.

Table 6 List of concurrent diseases at time of diagnosis (non-inflammatory & inflammator	y)
--	----

Group	Disease type	n=
Non-inflammatory	Heart disease - heart murmur	2
	- endocardiosis	1
	- dilated cardiomyopathy	1
	- mitral valve disease	1
	Chronic renal disease	1
	Protein-losing enteropathy	1
Inflammatory	Osteoarthritis	6
	Benign prostatic hyperplasia	3
	Biopsy wound	3
	Skin disease - atopic dermatitis	2
	- pruritus	1
	- sebaceous cyst	1
	Inflammatory bowel disease	1
	Otitis externa	1
	Chronic pancreatitis	1
	Periodontitis	1
	Cystitis	1
	Diarrhoea	1

Table 7 Descriptive statistics of CRP in the different concurrent disease groups

Group	n=	Range (mg/L)	Mean (95% CI) (mg/L)	SD	Median (95% CI) (mg/L)	IQR (mg/L)
NCD	54	0.4-273.7	61.3 (43.5-79.1)	65.2	33.8 (25.6-61.1)	18.7-92.0
CD	29	2.4-94.4	34.2 (24.8-43.5)	24.7	30.6 (19.7-44.9)	11.6-53.7
NICD	7	10.3-94.4	39.5 (11.9-67.0)	29.8	30.2 (17.4-72.7)	20.0-64.8
ICD	22	2.4-72.7	32.5 (22.1-42.8)	23.4	31.7 (12.0-47.9)	9.8-52.9

NCD = no concurrent disease, CD = concurrent disease, NICD = non-inflammatory concurrent disease, ICD = inflammatory concurrent disease

Statistical analysis showed no significant difference between the median CRP concentration for dogs with NCD and those with CD (MW test W=2416, p=0.16). There was also no difference between the median CRP concentrations for the dogs with NCD, NCID and ICD (KW test H=2.23, d.f.=2, p=0.33).

Since CRP concentration did not differ between groups, it was concluded that common non-inflammatory and inflammatory conditions did not significantly

affect CRP in dogs with LSA, and as such all dogs were kept in the study even if they presented with concurrent disease.

3.1.4 Does steroid treatment affect pre-treatment CRP concentration?

Of the 83 dogs that presented, 73 (88%) had received no previous steroid treatment (NPS) at time of presentation, and 10 (12%) had received previous glucocorticoid steroid treatment (PS) at a dose rate of 0.5-2 mg/Kg. The dogs who had received steroids were further split into 2 groups: previous steroid treatment for <7 days (PS<7d, n=6, 60%), and previous steroid treatment for <7 days (PS>7d, n=4, 40%). Table 8 shows the descriptive statistics for all groups of dogs.

 Table 8 Descriptive statistics for CRP in the different remission groups

Group	n=	Range (mg/L)	Mean (95% CI) (mg/L)	SD	Median (95% CI) (ma(L)	IQR (mg/L)
NPS	73	0.4-273.3	51.9 (39.7-64.1)	52.3	34.3 (27.1-45.4)	19.1-273.7
PS	10	4.6-269.7	51.2 (-6.9-109.3)	81.2	24.0 (6.8-58.2)	7.0-53.3
PS<7d	6	5.2-269.7	66.0 (-39.6-171.6)	100.6	32.9 (8.8-187.7)	12.7-97.5
PS>7d	4	4.6-93.0	29.1 (-38.9-97.0)	42.7	9.4 (4.6-93.0)	5.3-93.0

NPS = no previous steroids, PS = previous steroids, PS<7d = steroids for <7 days, PS>7d = previous steroids for >7 days

There was no significant difference between the median CRP concentration for the NPS group compared to the PS group (MW test: W=3138.0, p=0.32). There was also no significant difference between the median CRP concentrations for the NPS group compared to the the PS<7d and PS>7d group (KW test: H=1.90, df=2, p=0.39).

Although there was no significant difference detected between groups, the median CRP concentration for the PS>7d group appeared very different from the other groups and it was felt there may have been too small a sample size in this group to detect significance. A decision was therefore made to exclude all 10 dogs that had received previous steroid treatment.

3.2 Demographic analysis

3.2.1 Comparison of the control and study cohorts

To determine whether the dogs included within the control group were similar to those included in the study group some basic statistics were performed.

3.2.1.1 Control dogs

Of the 59 dogs used as a normal control population, 15 breeds were represented (Figure 6), with greyhounds (n=25, 42%), Labrador retrievers (n=10, 17%), crossbreeds (n=5, 8%) and flatcoated retrievers (n=5, 8%) most prevalent. Thirty eight dogs (64%) were male (5 entire, 33 neutered) and 21 (36%) were female (5 entire, 16 neutered), making a male:female ratio of 1.8:1. The age of dogs ranged from 2-10 years with a median age of 6 years (mean 5.7 \pm 1.9 years). Age was not normally distributed within this group (p<0.005) and was positively skewed.



Figure 5 Chart of breeds for the Control & Lymphoma (LSA) populations

3.2.1.2 Lymphoma dogs

Of the 73 dogs with LSA included for final statistical analysis, 26 breeds were represented (Figure 6), with crossbreeds (n=13, 18%), Labrador retrievers (n=12, 16%), boxers (n=6, 8%), golden retrievers (n=5, 7%), bullmastiffs, German shepherd dogs (GSD) and cocker spaniels (n=4, 5% respectively) most prevalent. Fifty dogs (68%) were male (21 entire, 29 neutered) and 23 (32%) were female (16 entire, 7 neutered), making a male:female ratio of 2.2:1. The age of the dogs ranged from 0.9-12.0 years with a median age of 7.3 years (mean 7 \pm 2.6 years). Age was normally distributed within this group (p=0.49).

There was no statistical difference in the proportions of males and females between the control and LSA populations (chi-sq=0.25, d.f.=1, p=0.62). There was however a statistical difference in the distribution of ages between the control and LSA populations (chi-sq=23.5, d.f.=2, p<0.001), and a significant difference in the median ages (MW test: W=3167.5, p=0.0005), with the control group having a younger population of dogs.

3.3 Further demographics of the study population

3.3.1 Results of patient staging

3.3.1.1 Anatomical location

All dogs were clinically staged to determine the anatomical location of disease. The majority of dogs (n=60, 82%) presented with generalised multicentric disease. Other presentations included alimentary (n=4, 5%), mediastinal (n=3, 4%), hepatosplenic, nasal and bilateral submandibular lymph node (SMLN) involvement (n=2, 3% respectively).

Due to the low numbers of dogs in some groups, dogs were classified as being either 'generalised multicentric' (GM) which included those dogs with a true multicentric presentation (n=60) or 'not generalised multicentric' (NGM) which included those dogs with single site and extra-nodal presentation (n=12).

3.3.1.2 WHO stage and substage

On the basis of clinical staging, dogs were assigned a World Health Organisation (WHO) stage and substage. No dogs had stage I LSA and therefore only stages II-V were represented in the study population.

Five dogs (7%) were stage II (4 substage 'a', 1 substage 'b'), 14 (19%) were stage III (10 substage 'a', 4 substage 'b'), 28 (38%) dogs were stage IV (13 substage 'a', 15 substage 'b') and 26 (36%) were stage V (6 substage 'a', 20 substage 'b'). More dogs presented with clinical signs and therefore substage 'b' (n=50) was more prevalent than substage 'a' (n=23). Figure 7 shows the distribution of substages 'a' and 'b' across the different WHO stages.



Figure 6 Bar chart of distribution of WHO substage a + b across the different WHO stages

3.3.1.3 Immunophenotyping

Immunophenotyping was available for 58 dogs (79%). Of these, 31 (53%) were T-cell, 25 (43%) were B-cell, and 2 (4%) were null cell.

3.3.1.4 Pre-treatment calcium

Hypercalcaemia is a common paraneoplastic syndrome in dogs with LSA. Pretreatment serum total calcium concentration was available for 72 dogs (99%) and results were not available for 1 dog. Calcium concentrations ranged from 1.534.46 mmol/L with a median concentration of 2.57 mmol/L [2.4-2.7 mmol/L]. The normal laboratory reference is 2.34-3.0 mmol/L.

A paraneoplastic hypercalcaemia was present in 10 dogs (14%), and the range of total calcium concentration for these dogs was 3.37-4.46 mmol/L (median 3.79 mmol/L). Hypocalcaemia was observed in 9 dogs (13%) with a serum calcium range of 1.53-2.33 mmol/L (median 2.30 mmol/L). Total calcium is bound to the protein in blood and as such hypoproteinaemia can result in a concurrent hypocalcaemia. All hypocalcaemic dogs in this group had a concurrent hypoalbuminaemia (albumin concentration range 10-28 g/L).

Ionised calcium (i.e. non-protein bound) was obtained for some patients that presented with hypercalcaemia; however this data was not consistently available to permit analysis.

3.3.1.5 Pre-treatment albumin

Pre-treatment serum albumin concentrations were available for 72 dogs (99%). The albumin concentration for all dogs ranged from 3-36 g/L with a median of 28 g/L [25-32 g/L]. The normal laboratory reference is 29-36 g/L.

Hypoalbuminaemia was present in 38 dogs (53%), with albumin concentrations ranging from 3-28 g/L (median 26 g/L). Albumin is a negative APP and concentrations decrease as the concentration of the positive APPs (e.g. CRP) increases. Of the hypoalbuminaemic dogs, 37 (97%) had CRP concentrations above the normal laboratory reference of 10.0 mg/L (range 14.0-273.7 mg/L, median 47.8 mg/L). The SR correlation test showed the negative correlation between albumin and CRP was significant (r = -0.39, p=0.02). General linear regression analysis of these 2 variables also showed a significant relationship (T=2.57, p=0.01), however there was poor goodness of fit of the regression line ($R^2 = 8.6\%$, Figure 8) indicating that CRP accounted for only 8.6% of the variance in albumin concentration in this population of dogs with LSA.



Figure 7 Fitted-line plot for the linear regression analysis of albumin & C- reactive protein

The association between albumin and certain clinical parameters including WHO stage, substage and immunophenotype was investigated using the MW test. Dogs with WHO stage IV-V (n=53) had a significantly lower median albumin concentration (median 27 g/L) compared to dogs with WHO stage II-III (n=19, median 32 g/L; W=1014.5, p<0.001), and dogs with substage 'b' (n=39) had a significantly lower median albumin concentration (median 27 g/L) compared to dogs with substage 'a' (n=33, median 30 g/L; W=1453.0, p=0.005). No significant difference was noted between dogs with B-cell LSA (n=24, median 29 g/L) and dogs with T-cell LSA (n=31, median 28 g/L; W=655.0, p=0.78). These results indicate that albumin concentration is influenced by WHO stage and substage.

3.3.1.6 Initial treatment and relapse protocols

Of the 73 dogs in the lymphoma group, 65 (89%) were administered some form of drug treatment and 8 (11%) were not treated upon owner request. Chemotherapy was the most popular treatment choice with 60 dogs (92%) being given a standard protocol. The majority of dogs (n=51, 87%) received a CHOP or modified CHOP protocol, but 4 (7%) were given a lomustine-based protocol and 3 (5%) a LD-COP or modified LD-COP protocol. One dog was given a single dose of l-asparaginase, 1 dog received a chlorambucil-based protocol and the remaining 5 dogs (8%) were treated with prednisolone only. Appendix 1 describes the different chemotherapy protocols. Of the dogs that started chemotherapy treatment, 44 (73%) relapsed at some point during or after treatment with the initial protocol. A 'rescue' chemotherapy protocol was used in an attempt to re-induce remission of disease in 36 (82%) relapsed dogs. Of these dogs, 14 (39%) re-started a CHOP or modified CHOP protocol, 12 (33%) started the ALP protocol and 5 (14%) were treated using another standard protocol (single-agent L-asparaginase n=2; LD-COP n=1; LMP n=1; DMAC n=1).

For the purpose of analysis, dogs were grouped according to the treatment they received:

- 1. No treatment/prednisolone only (No-tx/pred only).
- 2. CHOP-type protocol.
- 3. Any other protocol (including LD-COP, modified LD-COP, ALP, chlorambucil/pred, single-agent l-asparaginase).

3.3.1.7 Effect of chemotherapy on remission status

The effect of chemotherapy on the 60 dogs that were treated was examined and of specific interest was the remission status achieved by week 4 of treatment. Dogs were excluded if they died or stopped treatment at or before week 4 of chemotherapy or if no remission data was available. A total of 47 dogs met the inclusion criteria. The majority of these dogs (83%, n=39) achieved CR by week 4, 6 dogs (13%) achieved a PR and 2 dogs (4%) had PD.

3.3.1.8 Time to first relapse (TFR)

TFR ranged from 15-436 days, with a median of 105 days [55-241 days].

3.3.1.9 Overall survival time (OST)

At time of analysis, 8 dogs (11%) with LSA were censored as they were still alive. Sixty-five dogs (89%) in the study died or were euthanized due to LSA-related reasons. Of these, 52 (80%) had progressive disease and 8 (12%) had tumour- or chemotherapy-related problems (3 had chemotherapy toxicosis, 2 had disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC), 1 each had tumour-lysis syndrome, severe anaemia and severe disease-related symptoms including vomiting and diarrhoea). Three dogs (5%) died of other diseases (1 each from congestive heart failure, dilated cardiomyopathy and osteosarcoma). Two dogs (3%) died suddenly at home and for analysis purposes they were classified as having died from their LSA.

OST was determined for all dogs. Dogs that did not receive treatment were censored at 0 days survival. OST for all dogs ranged from 0-2089 days, with a median survival time of 136 days [18-356 days].

OST was determined for the different treatment groups (Table 9) and a boxplot showing the distribution was produced (Figure 9).

Treatment Group	n (%)	OST Range (days)	Median OST (days)
No-tx/pred only	13 (18)	0-41	0
CHOP-type protocol	51 (70)	1-1720	198
Any other protocol	9 (12)	28-2089	273

Table 9 Overall survival time (OST) for dogs in the different treatment groups



Figure 8 Box-and-whisker plot of the distribution of overall survival time (OST) for the different treatment groups.

There was a significant difference between the median overall survival times for the dogs in the 'no tx/pred only' group compared to the 'CHOP-type protocol' group (MW test: W=123.5, p<0.001) and the 'no tx/pred only' group compared to the 'any other protocol' group (MW test: W=95.0, p=0.0003). There was no significant difference between the median OST for the 'CHOP-type protocol' group and the 'any other protocol' group (MW test: W=1507.5, p=0.33).

Many dogs (n=36, 49%) in this study had a short survival time of only 0-3 months, with all untreated dogs appearing in this group (Figure 10). The next biggest survival group was those that survived >12 months (n=15, 21%). Ten dogs (14%) survived between <3 to 6 months, 5 (7%) survived >6 to 9 months and 7 (9%) survived >9-12 months.



Figure 9 Bar chart of distribution of overall survival time (OST) categories for treated & untreated dogs

3.4 CRP in normal dogs and dogs with LSA

The laboratory normal reference range used in this study was 0-10 mg/L.

3.4.1 Descriptive statistics for the control and LSA dogs

CRP concentration demonstrated a high degree of variance in both the control dogs and those with LSA (25.7 and 2735.6 respectively), was positively skewed

(Figure 11) and was not normally distributed in either group (p<0.005). CRP was within the normal reference range for 54 (92%) of the control dogs and 10 (14%) of the dogs with LSA. The range of CRP concentration in the control group was 0.1-30 mg/L, with the maximum CRP concentration being 3 times the upper limit of the normal reference range. Most dogs however (n=54, 92%) had CRP concentrations that were within reference. For the LSA dog group, the range of CRP concentrations was 0.4-273.7 mg/L, with the maximum CRP concentration being as much as 27 times the upper limit of the normal range. In this group only a small percentage of dogs (n=10, 14%) had serum CRP concentrations that were within normal reference. The majority of dogs with LSA (n=65, 89%) had CRP concentrations <100 mg/L (<10-fold increase). Outliers were identified for both groups: the control group had 5 outliers with CRP concentrations of 11.1, 12.5, 13.4, 16.5 and 30.5 mg/L, and the LSA group had 5 outliers with CRP concentrations of 171.5, 174.7, 184.9, 198.1 and 273.7 mg/L. Table 10 shows the descriptive statistics for the control dogs and the dogs with LSA.



Figure 10 Histogram of CRP in a) healthy control dogs and b) dogs with lymphoma (LSA) Note 10-fold difference in CRP mg/L between Fig a. and Fig b.

Group	n=	Range (mg/L)	Mean (95% CI) (mg/L)	SD	Median (95% CI) (mg/L)	IQR (mg/L)
Control	59	0.1-30.5	3.9 (2.6-5.2)	5.1	2.5 (1.1-3.9)	0.3-4.6
LSA	73	0.4-273.7	51.2 (39.7-64.1)	52.3	34.3 (27.1-45.4)	19.1-67.0

Table 10 Descriptive statistics for CRP in the control dogs & dogs with lymphoma (LSA)

3.4.2 Does CRP concentration differ between normal and LSA dogs?

There was a difference between the distribution of CRP in the control dogs and LSA dogs, as can be seen in Fig 12. The LSA group had a significantly higher median CRP (median 34.3 mg/L, W=2026.0, p<0.001) than the control group (median 2.5 mg/L).



Figure 11 Boxplot of CRP in control dogs vs. dogs with lymphoma (pre-treatment)

3.4.2.1 Does the degree of CRP elevation differ between normal and LSA dogs?

As well as considering individual CRP concentrations, the degree of CRP elevation was also evaluated for normal dogs and dogs with LSA. CRP concentrations were placed into 4 different categories selected according to the degree of elevation and the distribution of concentrations (Table 11, Figure 13). Due to the low number of control dogs in some groups, analysis with the Chi-square test could not be performed; therefore a 2x2 analysis with the Fisher's exact test was performed on the Normal/Mild and the Moderate/Marked groups. This showed a significant difference between control and LSA dogs, suggesting that LSA affects the degree of elevation of CRP concentration (p<0.001).

(LSA) groups			
CRP Category	CRP range (mg/L)	Control dogs n (%)	LSA dogs n (%)
Normal	≤10	54 (91.5)	10 (13.7)
Mild increase	>10-30	4 (6.8)	21 (28.8)
Moderate increase	>30-80	1 (1.7)	29 (39.7)
Marked increase	>80	0 / 0	13 (17.8)

Table 11 Categories of CRP elevation with count and frequency in control & lymphoma (LSA) groups



Figure 12 Bar chart showing distribution of CRP categories

3.4.3 The distribution of pre-treatment CRP concentration in the different treatment groups

Descriptive statistics for the CRP concentrations in the different treatment groups were generated (Table 12) and a boxplot showing the distribution of CRP concentration in the treatment groups was produced (Figure 14).

Treatment Group	n (%)	CRP Range (mg/L)	Median CRP (95% CI) (mg/L)	IQR (mg/L)
No-tx/pred only*	13 (18)	2.9-273.7	47.8 (19.4-172.5)	19.0-173.1
CHOP-type protocol	51 (70)	0.4-184.9	31.1 (26.1-44.3)	21.2-64.5
Any other protocol	9 (12)	2.4-136.0	18.9 (3.4-118.2)	4.3-108.9

 Table 12 Descriptive statistics for pre-treatment CRP concentration in the different treatment groups

* No-tx/pred only = no treatment/prednislone only



Figure 13 Box-and-whisker plots showing the distribution of pre-treatment CRP concentration in the different treatment groups

There was no significant difference noted between the median CRP concentrations for the different treatment groups (KW test: H=2.25, p=0.32) and distribution of CRP was fairly similar between the 3 groups, however those dogs that did not start a chemotherapy protocol had the highest CRP concentrations.

3.5 Investigating which variables influence CRP in dogs with LSA

To investigate whether certain demographic and clinical parameters that are related to LSA influenced CRP concentrations, values at time of diagnosis (pre-treatment) were investigated with regard to several patient variables including age, sex, breed, WHO stage and substage, site, immunophenotype, albumin and calcium.

To allow a comparison of median CRP concentrations, age was categorised into 3 groups (0-3 years, >3-7 years and >7 years), while others variables were categorised into 2 groups i.e. breed (pedigree and crossbreed), site (generalised-multicentric and not generalised-multicentric), albumin (hypoalbuminaemic and not hypoalbuminaemic) and calcium (hypercalcaemic and not hypercalcaemic). Certain variables had too few dogs to allow statistical comparison, therefore no analysis was performed on tumour grade, and only dogs that were B- and T-cell

were investigated for immunophenotype. Table 13 shows the descriptive statistics for each categorical variable.

Patient	<i>n</i> =	Range	Mean (95% CI)	SD	Median (95%	IQR
variable		(mg/L)	(mg/L)		CI) (mg/L)	(mg/L)
Age: 0-3 years	6	20.0-74.1	41.3 (16.6-66.0)	23.5	30.9 (2.4-72.0)	22.9-69.6
>3-7 years	27	2.9-198.1	52.1 (31.1-73.2)	2.9	33.3 (18.2-65.0)	15.3-78.4
>7 years	40	0.4-273.7	53.3 (35.5-71.0)	55.5	35.9 (25.1-55.2)	21.2-64.6
Breed:Pedigree	61	0.4-273.7	51.8 (37.8-65.8)	54.8	34.3 (26.7-42.1)	18.1-65.3
X-breed	12	20.4-133.4	52.3 (27.3-77.3)	39.4	43.3 (20.5-86.0)	20.4-86.2
Sex: Male	50	0.4-198.1	53.5 (39.5-65.5)	45.8	37.5 (27.0-55.1)	21.2-70.6
Female	23	2.6-273.7	50.5 (22.3-78.8)	65.4	30.2 (12.9-50.4)	8.4-64.7
Stage: II	5	0.41-33.3	13.1 (-3.7-29.8)	13.5	5.9 (0.4-33.3)	3.01-26.7
III	14	2.4-136.0	32.0 (9.1-54.9)	39.7	18.6 (3.4-32.2)	3.4-39.7
IV	28	8.4-198.1	67.2 (46.7-87.8)	53.0	53.4 (35.7 -71.4)	28.3-94.1
V	26	23.7-273.7	53.5 (30.6-76.4)	56.7	35.0 (25.8-58.2)	23.7-64.7
11-111	19	0.4-136.0	27.1 (10.0-44.1)	35.4	18.2 (5.3-28.9)	3.4-30.2
IV-V	54	2.9-273.7	60.6 (45.7-75.5)	54.7	38.5 (32.3-62.6)	25.0-73.0
Substage: a	33	0.4-136.0	36.0 (23.5-48.5)	35.2	25.4 (16.1-35.3)	9.3-56.8
b	40	2.9-273.7	65.0 (45.7-84.3)	60.4	38.5 (32.5-65.4)	24.1-77.3
Site: GM	60	2.4-273.7	55.9 (41.5-70.4)	56.0	32.9 (26.0-55.9)	19.0-72.0
NGM	13	0.4-78.4	33.1 (19.3-46.9)	22.8	34.3 (15.5-45.4)	13.0-46.0
IPT: B-cell	25	2.9-184.9	51.6 (33.0-70.1)	44.9	33.3 (24.6-60.4)	21.8-70.8
T-cell	31	0.4-136.0	40.1 (29.0-51.1)	30.1	30.2 (21.2-46.8)	19.4-64.8
Albumin: NHA	40	0.41-198.1	37.4 (24.2-50.7)	41.5	24.9 (18.5-32.4)	10.7-49.9
HA	32	3.1-273.7	69.1 (47.5-90.7)	3.1	53.7 (35.2-69.9)	28.3-87.3
Calcium: NHC	62	0.41-273.7	49.2 (36.2-62.3)	51.3	33.8 (25.1-44.9)	17.5-64.7
HC	10	18-198.1	65.5 (22.0-109.0)	60.8	33.6 (21.2-108.8)	21.2-105.0

Table 13 Descriptive statistics for CRP in the different patient variables

X-breed = crossbreed, GM = generalised multicentric, NGM = non generalised multicentric, IPT = immunophenotype, NHA = not hypoalbuminaemic, HA = hypoalbuminaemic, NHC = not hypercalcaemic, HC = hypercalcaemic

Distribution of CRP concentrations for the categorical variables was normal for only 4 groups according to the AD test: 0-3 year olds (p=0.06), crossbreeds (p=0.25), Stage II (p=0.27) and the 'not generalised-multicentric' group (p=0.65). CRP concentration was positively skewed for all variables.

3.5.1 Do the median CRP concentrations for the different clinical parameters differ?

There was significant difference in the median CRP concentration for the different WHO stages, indicating that CRP was influenced by WHO stage (Table 14). Initial comparison of grouped stages i.e. II-III and IV-V showed a significant difference between these 2 groups (H=14.9, d.f.=3, p=0.002). This difference was maintained when comparing the medians of each separate stage (H=14.9, d.f.=3, p=0.002). Further analysis was performed to compare each stage with the other stages. This showed a significant difference in the median CRP concentrations between stage II and IV (W=27.0, p=0.004), stage II and V (W=33.0, p=0.01), stage III and IV (W=199.0, =0.007), and stage III and V (W=210.0, p=0.03). There was no significance when comparing stage II and III (W=43.0, p=0.55) and stage IV and V (W=845.0, p=0.20).

Other variables which influenced CRP concentration significantly included WHO substage and albumin, where dogs that were substage 'b' had a significantly higher median CRP concentration compared to those that were substage 'a' (W=976.0, p=0.007), and where those dogs with hypoalbuminaemia had a significantly higher median CRP concentration compared to those dogs that were not hypoalbuminaemic (W=1175.0, p=0.001).

No other patient clinical parameters were found to influence CRP significantly as can be seen in Table 14. Figure 15 shows the distribution of CRP in the significant variable groups.

Kruskal-Wallis analysis variables	Median (mg/L)	H-stat	d.f.	p-value
Age (0-3/>3-7/>7 years)	30.9/33.3/35.9	0.07	2	0.97
Stage (II/III/IV/V)	5.9/18.6/53.4/35.0	14.9	3	0.002*
Mann-Whitney analysis variables	Median (mg/L)	W-stat		p-value
Sex (male/female)	37.5/30.2	751.0		0.24
Breed (pedigree/crossbreed)	34.3/43.3	2227.0		0.66
Stage (II-III/IV-V)	18.2/38.5	419.0		0.0004*
(11/111)	5.9/18.6	43.0		0.55
(II/IV)	5.9/53.4	27.0		0.004*
(II/V)	5.9/35.0	33.0		0.01*
(III/IV)	18.6/53.4	199.0		0.007*
(III/V)	18.6/35.0	210.0		0.03*
(IV/V)	53.4/35.0	845.0		0.20
Substage (a/b)	25.4/38.5	976.0		0.007*
Site (GM/NGM)^	32.9/34.3	2282.0		0.38
Immunophenotype (B-cell/T-cell)	33.3/30.2	756.0		0.48
Albumin (non-/hypoalbuminaemic)	24.9/53.7	1175.0		0.001*
Calcium (non-/hypercalcaemic	33.8/33.6	2207.0		0.37

 Table 14 Results of the statistical analysis of the different patient variables

^GM = generalised multicentric. **NGM** = non-generalised multicentric disease. * indicates significant variables.



Figure 14 Box-and-whisker plots of CRP concentration a. WHO stage (II, III, IV & V); b. WHO substage (a & b); c. albumin status (not hypolbuminaemic & hypoalbuminaemic)

3.5.2 Is there a linear relationship between CRP concentration and the different clinical parameters?

As well as comparing the effect of clinical parameters on CRP concentration by categorical methods, the effects of different patient variables on pre-treatment CRP were also investigated using general linear regression, as shown in Table 15. To improve the assumption of normality, the CRP concentrations were log transformed (logCRP) prior to analyses. Univariate analysis showed WHO stage, substage and albumin to be significant variables and Figure 16 shows the fitted line plots and regression equations for these (the residual plots for all significant variables can be seen in Appendix 3).

				<u> </u>		
Variable	Coef	95% CI	T-stat	F-stat	R² (%)	P-value
Site (GM/NGM) [#]	-0.11	-0.05,0.27	1.40	1.97	2.70	0.17
WHO Stage (II-III/IV-V)	-0.28	-0.40,-0.15	-4.52	20.43	22.34	<0.001*
WHO Substage (a/b)	-0.17	-0.29,-0.06	-3.03	9.17	11.44	0.003*
Immunophenotype (B-/T-cell)	0.06	-0.07,0.19	0.95	0.90	1.64	0.35
Albumin (g/L)	-0.03	-0.05,-0.01	-3.36	11.32	13.92	0.001*

Table 15 Results of univariate analysis using general linear regression

[#]GM = generalised-multicentric, NGM = not generalised-multicentric; * indicates significant variables

Both WHO stage and substage were positively correlated with logCRP and as stage migrated from II-III to IV-V and substage migrated from 'a' to 'b' the logCRP increased. Albumin was negatively correlated and its concentration decreased as logCRP increased.



Figure 15 Fitted-line plots and regression equations for log-transformed CRP (logCRP) vs. a) WHO stage, b) WHO substage, c) albumin
Multivariate analysis was performed using the significant variables from the univariate analysis and only WHO stage retained significance (p=0.006, T=-2.86, F=8.19, R^2 28.3%). The low R^2 value for the final model indicates that WHO stage only accounts for some of the elevation in CRP concentration and is not the only contributing factor.

3.5.3 Investigating the strength of association between the clinical variables and CRP concentration

The association of clinical variables with CRP was investigated as a binary outcome (\leq 30 mg/L and >30 mg/L) using logistic regression. The 3 predictors which were statistically significant were:

- WHO stage IV-V compared to stage II-III was 6.09 times (95% CI 1.89-19.67) more likely to result in a CRP concentration >30 mg/L (p=0.002).
- WHO substage 'b' compared to substage 'a' was 3.17 times (95% CI 1.20-8.32) more likely to result in a CRP concentration >30 mg/L (p=0.02).
- Hypoalbuminaemia compared to non-hypoalbuminaemia was 2.74 times (95% CI 1.05-7.18) more likely to result in a CRP concentration >30 mg/L (p=0.04).

These 3 variables were tested in a multivariate model (with CRP categorised as the same binary outcome) and WHO stage retained significance, where stage IV-V compared to stage II-III was 4.07 times (95% CI 1.11-14.99) more likely to result in a CRP concentration >30 mg/L (p=0.03).

3.6 The effect of LSA remission status on CRP concentration

The test whether CRP concentration could act as a potential biomarker for remission status in dogs receiving chemotherapy for LSA, pre-treatment (Pre-TX) CRP concentration was used as baseline as it represented the CRP concentrations at the time of diagnosis. The remission statuses investigated included CR, PR and PD.

3.6.1 Does CRP concentration normalise following treatment with chemotherapy?

The effect of chemotherapy on CRP concentration at week 4 of chemotherapy was investigated. Dogs were excluded from analysis if they died or had PD at week 4 of chemotherapy, or if no further follow-up CRP concentrations were available after the Pre-Tx value. CRP concentrations were excluded if they were obtained at times of chemotherapy toxicity, and where possible, the next available CRP concentration was used. 41 dogs met the inclusion criteria, and of these dogs, 39 (95%) achieved CR, and 2 (5%) achieved PR by week 4 of treatment with chemotherapy. Of the dogs that achieved CR, 32 (82%) had CRP concentrations that were within the normal reference range by week 4 (range 0.2-44.9 mg/L, median 3.7 mg/L). Of the dogs that achieved a PR, both had CRP concentrations within the normal reference range (range 4.4-8.5 mg/L, median 6.5 mg/L) by week 4. Of the dogs that achieved CR, the CRP concentration at time of diagnosis was normal in 5 dogs (13%) and elevated in 34 dogs (87%). The range of CRP concentration for all dogs in this group was 0.4-184.9 mg/L and the median CRP concentration was 28.7 mg/L. The elevation in CRP concentration in the pre-treatment group was mild in 15 dogs, moderate in 13 dogs and marked in 6 dogs. Of the dogs that only achieved PR by week 4 of treatment, both had a CRP concentration that was elevated at time of diagnosis (range 22.5-78.4 mg/L, median 50.5 mg/L). The elevation in CRP concentration in this group was mild in 1 dog and moderate in the second dog. Figure 17 shows a boxplot of the Pre-Tx CRP concentrations vs. the CRP concentrations at week 4 post treatment for the dogs in CR and PR.





a. Dogs in complete remission (CR) at week 4; b. Dogs in partial remission (PR) at week 4

3.6.2 How does the CRP concentration differ between the different remission status groups

A remission status was recorded at every patient visit. Where a CRP concentration was available, this was pooled into the appropriate remission status group. CRP concentrations were excluded if they were obtained at times of concurrent disease or chemotherapy toxicity. The remission groups included the results from all 73 patients with LSA, and descriptive statistics were generated (Table 16).

Table 16 Descriptive statistics for CRP in the different remission status groups Group **n**= Range Mean (95% CI) SD Median (95% CI) IQR Variance (mg/L)(mg/L)(mg/L)(mg/L)0.4-273.7 51.2 (39.7-64.1) 34.3 (27.1-45.4) 19.1-67.0 Pre-Tx 73 52.3 2736

14.8

13.6

51.7

5.5 (5.0-6.3)

4.6 (3.3-9.4)

14.3 (11.8-21.6)

2.8-10.9

2.2-13.5

5.8-49.1

219

185

2672

10.0 (8.4-11.7)

9.7 (6.2-13.1)

36.6 (27.2-46.0)

CR

PR

PD

311 0.0-160.4

118 0.2-294.0

0.0-95.5

62

CRP was positively skewed for all groups and was not normally distributed (AD test p<0.005). A boxplot of each group showed there was a wider spread of CRP concentrations and higher medians in the Pre-Tx and PD groups. Each group had outliers (Figure 18).

Figure 17 Box-and-whisker plot of serum CRP concentrations of the control dogs and dogs with lymphoma in different remission statuses

3.6.3 Does the absolute CRP concentration differ with remission status?

The KW test was performed to compare the median CRP concentrations of the control group with that of the LSA dogs at each different remission status (using all CRP concentrations available for each remission status). This analysis confirmed there was a significant difference between the groups (H=128.3,

d.f.=3, p<0.001). To determine where the precise differences occurred, the MW test was performed looking at each pair of remission status groups (Table 17).

concentrations of the control group and the groups of different remission sta							
Analysis Groups	Median CRP (mg/L)	W-stat	P-value				
Control/CR	2.5/5.5	7006.0	<0.001*				
Control/PR	2.5/4.6	2903.0	0.0002*				
Control/PD	2.5/14.3	2704.5	<0.001*				
Pre-Tx/CR	34.3/5.5	22546.5	<0.001*				
Pre-Tx/PR	34.3/5.5	6709.0	<0.001*				
Pre-Tx/PD	34.3/14.3	8336.5	0.0003*				
CR/PR	5.5/4.6	60016.0	0.68				
CR/PD	5.5/14.3	60055.5	<0.001*				
PR/PD	4.6/14.3	4028.5	<0.001*				

Table 17 Results of analysis with the Mann-Whitney-U test comparing median CRP concentrations of the control group and the groups of different remission statuses

* indicates a significant result

This analysis showed there were significant differences in median CRP of all groups except between the CR and PR group (p=0.68). Since CRP differed significantly between the remission statuses for all dogs in the study population, changes in CRP concentration for individual dogs over the course of treatment (i.e. assessment of within-dog variation) were also investigated.

3.6.4 Does the CRP concentration differ with remission status within individual patients?

3.6.4.1 Pre-treatment compared to complete remission

For 43 dogs, statistical analysis was repeated using WSR test comparing each dogs' Pre-Tx CRP concentration (range 0.405-269.7 mg/L, median 30.21 mg/L) with their first reported CRP concentration in CR (range 0.0-44.9 mg/L, median 3.73 mg/L). This analysis showed a significant difference in the median CRP concentration between these 2 groups (W=902.0, p<0.001) which confirmed the results for the whole population in section 3.6.2.

3.6.4.2 Complete remission compared to partial remission

To determine whether a difference between CR and PR could be detected on an individual dog basis, the WSR test was repeated for 26 dogs comparing a CRP concentration in PR (range 0.0-147.5 mg/L, median 5.96 mg/L) with their first subsequent CRP concentration in CR (range 0.0-91.0 mg/L, median 5.11 mg/L). This analysis showed that there was no significant difference between PR and CR (W=210.0, p=0.28) for each individual dog, which was consistent with the results for the whole population in section 3.6.2.

3.6.4.3 Pre-treatment compared to progressive disease

To determine whether the CRP concentration differed at time of relapse (PD) compared to Pre-Tx when considering individual dogs (Fig. 19), the WSR test was repeated for 57 dogs.

Figure 18 Box-and-whisker plot of CRP concentration for individual dogs at pre-treatment (Pre-Tx) and time of first relapse (PD).

The CRP concentration at Pre-Tx (range 0.4-184.9 mg/L, median 27.5 mg/L) was compared with the CRP concentration at their first subsequent episode of PD (range 0.2-294.0 mg/L, median 12.7). This analysis confirmed that there was a significant difference between Pre-Tx and PD CRP concentration (W=1172.0,

p=0.006) for each individual dog which agreed with the results for the whole population. The degree of change was determined for each individual dog and most dogs (n=41, 72%) had a lower CRP concentration at PD compared to the CRP concentration at time of diagnosis (median % difference -49.2%, range -98.7-956.1%). Sixteen dogs (28%) dogs however had a higher concentration i.e. they exhibited a positive % difference between PD and Pre-Tx.

3.7 Determining a Diagnostic Threshold for CRP

Although a normal reference range for CRP is available, an AUROC curve was generated using the control dogs and dogs with LSA to determine an upper limit of CRP concentration (cut-off value) which could potentially be used as a diagnostic threshold for LSA (Figure 20).

Figure 19 AUROC curve of healthy control dogs and dogs with LSA

The area under the ROC curve was 0.94 (95% CI 0.9-1.0, p<0.001) indicating that CRP has a good ability to discriminate between individuals with LSA and those without. The current recognised upper reference limit for CRP is 10 mg/L and

the closest cut-off point in this AUROC curve was 9.5 mg/L. This cut-off had a sensitivity of 86.3% (95% CI 76.3-93.2%) and a specificity of 91.5% (95% CI 81.3-97.2%), with a likelihood ratio of 10.2. A CRP cut-off of 13.7 mg/L gave the best balance between sensitivity and specificity based on the AUROC curve results. At this threshold sensitivity was 83.6% (95% CI 73.1-91.2%) and specificity was 96.6% (95% CI 88.3-99.6%), with a likelihood ratio of 24.7. The likelihood ratio reached its maximum value of 46.9 at a CRP cut-off of 17.3 mg/L, and at this threshold although the sensitivity was reduced to 79.5% (95% CI 68.4-88.0%) the specificity was increased to 98.3% (95% CI 90.9-100.0%) indicating there would be fewer false positives if this cut-off was used. There was 100% specificity at a CRP cut-off of 30.7 mg/L.

3.8 Using CRP as a predictor of relapse in LSA

The ideal biomarker for LSA would become elevated prior to relapse of the disease i.e. before it was clinically apparent so that earlier therapeutic changes could be implemented and the overall survival time for the patient improved. The use of CRP as an early predictor of relapse was investigated using both a paired t-test and an AUROC curve.

3.8.1 Does CRP concentration become elevated prior to relapse?

To determine whether CRP concentration became elevated immediately prior to an episode of relapse in individual dogs in our population, the CRP concentrations at 2 weeks prior to relapse (PD-2), 1 week prior to relapse (PD-1) and at time of relapse (PD) were examined. These data were only available for 29 dogs (Table 18). To improve the Gaussian distribution and to facilitate the use of the parametric paired t-test, CRP was log-transformed (logCRP).

Table 18 Log-transformed CRP (logCRP) leading up to patient relapse							
Impending relapse group	n=	LogCRP range (mg/L)	Mean (mg/L)	SD			
PD-2	28	-0.32-1.41	0.67	0.45			
PD-1	29	-0.96-2.21	0.82	0.68			
PD	29	0.22-2.47	1.21	0.62			

Table 18 Log-transformed CRP (logCRP) leading up to patient relapse

PD-2 = 2 weeks prior to relapse, PD-1 = 1 week prior to relapse, PD = time of relapse.

There was a general trend of CRP concentration becoming elevated over the 3 weeks, as can be seen in the boxplot in Figure 21. As might be expected, there was a significant difference between the mean logCRP concentrations of PD-1 and PD (T=-3.92, p=0.001) indicating that CRP concentration becomes elevated at the point of clinical relapse. However, there was no significant difference between the mean logCRP concentration between PD-2 and PD-1 (T=-1.46, p=0.16). These results indicate that CRP does not become elevated before the point of relapse (i.e. within the time period of 1-2 weeks before relapse) and only elevates at the point when relapse is already clinically apparent.

Figure 20 Box-and-whisker plot of CRP concentration at 2 weeks (PD-2) and 1 week (PD-1) prior to relapse, and at relapse of disease (PD).

To further investigate whether CRP concentration could guide clinical decisionmaking with regards impending relapse, an AUROC curve was generated using the CRP concentrations at PD and the CRP concentrations at time of CR as a control group (Figure 22). The area under the ROC curve was 0.73 (95% CI 0.67-0.78, p<0.0001) which indicates a moderate ability for CRP to discriminate between dogs in PD compared to those in CR. The cut-off value with the best balance between sensitivity and specificity was 11.9 mg/L. This level would not be particularly useful from a clinical perspective however as the sensitivity was only 61.3% (95% CI 51.6-70.4%) and specificity was only 77.7% (95% CI 72.5-82.3%). The results of this AUROC curve suggest that there is not enough difference between CRP concentrations in PD and CR to provide a useful cut-off that could help guide clinical decision making with respect to whether a patient may be relapsing.

Figure 21 AUROC curve of CRP concentration at progressive disease (PD) and complete remission (CR)

3.9 The prognostic significance of CRP concentration in dogs with LSA

To determine whether Pre-Tx CRP held any prognostic significance in dogs with LSA, both logistic regression and survival analysis was performed. To remove the effect on survival of different treatments and to homogenise the population, only the 51 dogs that were given a CHOP or modified CHOP protocol were included in the analysis.

3.9.1 Which patient variables affect OST in dogs with LSA?

To determine which parameters might affect survival time, different patient variables were examined at a univariate level using a logistic regression model with different binary outcomes (survival time ≤ 6 months vs. >6 months, dead vs.

alive, death due to LSA vs. death due to other reasons and relapsed vs. not relapsed). Continuous variables examined included log-transformed CRP, albumin and calcium. Categorical variables included WHO stage (II-III/IV-V), substage (a/b), immunophenotype (B-/T-cell), site (multicentric/not-multicentric), albumin (hypalbuminaemic/not hypoalbuminaemic), calcium (hypercalcaemic/not hypercalcaemic) and CRP (≤30 mg/L/>30 mg/L).

The only significant findings for survival were:

- WHO substage 'b' when compared to substage 'a' was 0.22 times (95% CI 0.07-0.73) more likely to result in an OST ≤6 months (p=0.013).
- T-cell immunophenotype when compared to B-cell was 0.28 times (95% CI 0.08-0.99) more likely to result in an OST ≤6 months (p=0.05).

Multivariate logistic regression analysis using the significant variables from the univariate analyses was performed and WHO substage retained significance with substage 'b' being 0.13 times (95% CI 0.03-0.56) times more likely to result in an OST \leq 6 months (p=0.006).

Kaplan-Meier (KM) survival curves were generated for both patient variables significant on univariate analysis, and confirmed the significant differences in overall survival time (OST) for both immunophenotype and substage for those dogs treated with a CHOP-type protocol (Figure 23). Dogs were censored at the date of analysis if they had not died. Dogs with B-cell LSA had a median OST of 330 days compared to just 136 days for dogs with T-cell LSA (LR test p=0.0008, GBW test p=0.003), and the hazard ratio was 0.31 (95% CI 0.15-0.61). Dogs with substage 'a' had a median OST of 297 days compared to just 92 days for dogs with substage 'b' (LR test p=0.004, GBW test p=0.002), and the hazard ratio was 0.53 (95% CI 0.29-0.98).

Figure 22 Kaplan-Meier survival curves for overall survival time and the results of curve comparison for i) immunophenotype and ii) WHO substage

3.9.2 Which patient variables affect time to first relapse (TFR) in dogs with LSA?

Further analysis of variables affecting period of remission revealed that the TFR was significantly different between the dogs with B-cell and T-cell immunophenotypes that were treated with a CHOP-type protocol (Figure 24). Dogs were excluded if they had died before a first relapse was reached and dogs were censored at the date of analysis if they had not reached the first relapse point. The median TFR was 270 days for dogs that had B-cell LSA and was 126 days for dogs that had T-cell LSA (LR test p=0.03). The hazard ratio was 0.41 (95% CI 0.18-0.93). No other variables significantly affected TFR.

Figure 23 Kaplan-Meier survival curve for time to first relapse and the result of the curve comparison for immunophenotype

3.9.3 CRP elevation categories and overall survival time

Although absolute pre-treatment CRP concentration did not significantly affect survival by logistic regression, the different CRP elevation categories (normal, mild, moderate and marked) were also examined with respect to OST using KM survival curves (Figure 25). The outcome was days to death, and dogs were censored at time of analysis if they were still alive. The median survival times for each group differed (Table 19), but comparison of the curves with the LR test showed there was no statistically significant difference between the groups (p=0.71).

CRP elevation group	<i>n</i> =	Median survival time (Days)				
Normal	5	198				
Mild	17	249				
Moderate	24	123				
Marked	5	328				

Table 19 Median survival times from the Kaplan-Meier survival curves of the different CRP elevation categories

Figure 24 Kaplan-Meier survival curves of overall survival time of CRP elevation categories for dogs on a CHOP-type protocol

To increase the number of dogs in the groups, the KM survival curves were repeated by combining the dogs in the normal and mild CRP categories and those in the moderate and marked CRP categories (Figure 26). This resulted in 2 groups of dogs for analysis: those with pre-treatment CRP concentrations \leq 30 mg/L (n=22) and those with pre-treatment CRP concentrations > 30 mg/L (n=29).

Figure 25 Kaplan-Meier survival curve of overall survival time of dogs on a CHOP-type protocol with a CRP concentration 0-30 mg/L and >30 mg/L

The dogs in the \leq 30 mg/L CRP group had a longer median survival time of 243 days compared to the dogs in the >30 mg/L CRP group who had a median survival time of 153 days, however significance was not reached when comparing the 2 curves using the LR test (p=0.91) and the GBW test (p=0.36).

3.9.4 CRP elevation categories and time to first relapse

To determine if any significant differences existed between the 2 CRP groups $(CRP \le 30 \text{ mg/L } [n=17], CRP > 30 \text{ mg/L } [n=20])$ with regards TFR, KM survival curves were repeated for 37 dogs (Figure 27) with the outcome being the time in days from the start of treatment to when the patient relapsed. Patients were censored if they had not reached a first relapse by the time of analysis and dogs that died prior to relapsing were excluded from analysis.

Figure 26 Kaplan-Meier survival curve for time to first relapse for dogs with a CRP concentration 0-30 mg/L and >30 mg/L

The dogs in the \leq 30 mg/L CRP group had a shorter median time to first relapse of 146 days compared to the dogs in the >30 mg/L CRP group (median TFR 242 days), however, significance was not reached when comparing the 2 curves using the LR test (p=0.42) or GBW test (p=0.70).

4 Discussion

4.1 Study aims

The aim of this longitudinal study was to investigate whether the acute phase protein CRP was a useful serum biomarker in dogs with LSA. The following points were examined and are discussed in more detail below:

- 1. How CRP concentration differs between dogs with LSA and normal healthy dogs.
- 2. The clinical parameters which affect CRP concentration at time of diagnosis in dogs with LSA.
- 3. How CRP concentration changes in dogs with LSA once treatment with chemotherapy is initiated.
- 4. How CRP concentration changes with different remission statuses and whether CRP can be used to predict relapse of LSA.
- 5. The prognostic significance of pre-treatment CRP concentration in dogs with LSA that have been treated with a CHOP-type chemotherapy protocol.

4.2 Discussion of results

4.2.1 CRP concentration in dogs with LSA

4.2.1.1 LSA dogs compared to healthy controls

This study of dogs with LSA confirmed that the median CRP concentration is elevated in this group of animals when compared to a healthy control group. As previously reported (Nielsen et al., 2007, Tecles et al., 2005), there was marked variability in CRP concentration in the dogs with LSA. The majority of control dogs (92%, 54/59) had serum CRP concentrations within the normal reference (0-10mg/L) however the majority of dogs with LSA (86%, 63/73) had serum CRP concentrations above the normal reference. The CRP concentration can become markedly elevated in dogs with LSA, and a maximum 27-fold increase (273.7 mg/L) above reference was observed in this study, though most dogs (89%, 65/73) had less than a 10-fold increase which was consistent with earlier studies (Tecles et al., 2005, Nielsen et al., 2007, Mischke et al., 2007). As observed previously (Mischke et al., 2007, Tecles et al., 2005, Nielsen et al., 2007), not all dogs with LSA exhibited an elevation in CRP concentration and 14% (10/73) of dogs in this study had pre-treatment serum CRP concentrations that were within the normal reference range. The dogs with normal CRP concentrations presented with obvious gross disease and a variety of clinical signs, and all WHO stage and substage groups were represented. It was therefore unclear as to why these dogs did not have an elevated CRP concentration like the other dogs. CRP is a sensitive marker of inflammation and tissue injury and levels can fluctuate in response to insult within hours (Caspi et al., 1984). This study suggests however that the mechanism of inflammation in LSA is not simple and that CRP expression is very variable in dogs with this disease. It is currently unclear why some dogs do not appear to mount an inflammatory response despite the presence of gross disease and I propose that there may be a relationship between absolute gross tumour volume and the inflammatory response, and that there may be a critical threshold which must be exceeded before CRP concentration increases. The elevations in CRP may be as a direct consequence of the ischaemic damage to local tissues by lymphadenomegaly or may also be a consequence of the release of interleukin-6 (IL-6) from neoplastic B-cells (Kato et al., 1996). IL-6 concentration is elevated in human patients with LSA prior to treatment, and the degree of elevation is associated with the presence of clinical symptoms in this disease, a poorer response to treatment and reduced TFR and OST (Preti et al., 1997, Wieland et al., 2003, Legouffe et al., 1998, Gaiolla et al., 2011). It would be reasonable to suspect that elevated IL-6 causes similar consequences in the canine patient with LSA. Further investigation including measuring the levels of the cytokines that are known to drive CRP production such as IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α may determine whether it is their levels which are contributing to the magnitude of the APR and hence the variability of serum CRP concentration. It should be noted however that recent investigation into TNF- α in dogs with LSA

has suggested that this cytokine has limited value as a tumour marker (Hofer et al., 2011).

The 5 dogs from the LSA population that were identified as being outliers with extreme elevations in CRP concentration were all diagnosed as having WHO Stage IV-V substage b multicentric LSA. Four of the 5 dogs (80%) had marked hepatic involvement with LSA, and indeed euthanasia was recommended for one patient due to the degree of hepatic damage that was present. Interestingly only 1 of the outlier dogs went on to receive chemotherapy treatment, with the owners of 3 of the dogs opting for euthanasia at time of diagnosis and one owner opting for palliative prednisolone followed rapidly by euthanasia. This may suggest that these dogs with extremely elevated CRP presented with worse clinical signs than other patients which encouraged clients to choose euthanasia over treatment, however other reasons for euthanasia could have included financial constraints or personal ethical beliefs of using chemotherapy to treat animals. The presence of such marked CRP production in the face of hepatic damage shows that the APR can still occur in dogs with infiltration of the liver, and perhaps that the liver is not the only site of APP production in these patients.

There was a large degree of variation in serum CRP concentration observed not only in the dogs with LSA (both at time of diagnosis and throughout the course of treatment) but also within the group of healthy control dogs which has been previously reported in dogs with LSA (Nielsen et al., 2007) and in client-owned healthy dogs (Carney et al., 2011). Despite most laboratory populations showing CRP concentrations within the normal reference range (Kuribayashi et al., 2003, Merlo et al., 2007), very variable concentrations of CRP have been reported exceeding the upper reference limit in at least one study involving a controlled laboratory population of dogs (Otabe et al., 1998). The elevation observed in our client-owned dogs may be due to the fact that, unlike laboratory animals, these dogs do not live in a strictly regulated environment and are exposed to a multitude of environmental insults which could stimulate the APR such as subclinical trauma, gastro-intestinal disturbances and infections. A relationship between increased serum CRP and exercise has been shown (Wakshlag et al., 2010) though this study looked at sled-dogs that were exposed to extreme levels of exercise and it is unclear what effect more modest levels of exercise would

have had on CRP production in our population of control dogs. These findings suggest that a standardised reference range may not be suitable, as clearly dogs can both exhibit an increased CRP concentration when there is no detectable disease present and exhibit a normal CRP concentration when there is a known disease present. Due to the variability of serum CRP, it has been suggested that an individual patient-centred baseline may be more appropriate and that multiple measurements of CRP concentration over time may prove more clinically relevant than a single absolute value (Kjelgaard-Hansen et al., 2003b). I believe that the degree of change in CRP concentration within a patient rather than the absolute change may be significant, however a much larger study cohort with greater homogeneity with regards clinical presentation and pathological diagnosis would be required to investigate this hypothesis.

4.2.1.2 The use of CRP concentration to aid diagnosis of LSA

The ability of CRP concentration to aid diagnosis of LSA was investigated by means of an AUROC curve (generated using the CRP concentrations from the control group and from the dogs with LSA at time of diagnosis). The AUROC curve indicated that CRP concentration has a good ability to discriminate between individuals with LSA and those without, and 13.7 mg/L was the cut-off CRP concentration with the best balance between sensitivity (83.6%) and specificity (96.6%). This cut-off is only just above the published upper reference limit for CRP (Eckersall et al., 1989) and reflects the fact that many of the dogs with LSA in our study had normal or only mild elevations in CRP concentration at time of diagnosis. To test the cut-off value obtained from the AUROC curve it should have been possible to calculate the positive and negative predictive values using CRP concentrations obtained from other control dogs and dogs known to have LSA or other diseases. However, this was not possible within the limits of this study due to a lack of availability of further control samples and samples from dogs with known diseases, including LSA.

Other researchers have found CRP useful in diagnosing LSA. CRP is currently included in a commercial proteomic assay which has been developed using chromatography and mass spectrometry to identify the serum protein fingerprint of dogs that have LSA (PetScreen Ltd, UK). During the development of this assay

13 protein peaks were identified that differed significantly between dogs with and without LSA, with 2 of these peaks specifically capable of differentiating between the 2 groups of dogs. One of these protein peaks has since been identified as being the positive APP haptoglobin (Hp); the second is still under investigation. To improve the performance of a single biomarker alone, the PetScreen Ltd assay combines different biomarkers, currently the APPs Hp and CRP. Results from 194 test samples have provided encouraging results with an assay sensitivity of 75-85% and a specificity of 91-93%, with a negative predictive value of 88-93% and a positive predictive value of 80-86% (Ratcliffe et al., 2009, PetScreen Ltd, 2012). Although this assay has been marketed as an early diagnostic test which should be used when a dog first presents with enlarged lymph nodes, the assay does not have 100% sensitivity and specificity and therefore a suspected diagnosis should always be confirmed by cytological or histopathological methods. These allow a definitive diagnosis to be made with specific classification of the type of LSA, and can offer information regarding the grade and immunophenotype which may guide therapeutic options and provide prognostic information (Ponce et al., 2004, Marconato, 2011, Marconato et al., 2011, Williams et al., 2008).

4.2.2 The relationship between CRP concentration and LSA patient variables

4.2.2.1 Pre-treatment albumin

The concentration of the negative acute phase protein albumin had a modest but significant inverse correlation with log-transformed CRP (logCRP) concentration in our group of dogs with LSA. Similar findings have been reported in humans with lymphoid neoplasia and have been shown to have prognostic significance (Elahi et al., 2005, Nakamura et al., 2008). The median albumin concentration was significantly lower in dogs with WHO stage IV-V and substage 'b' compared to dogs with WHO stage II-III and substage 'a', however it is worth noting that the median albumin concentration of dogs with stage IV-V and substage 'b' was only just below the lower reference limit of 29 g/L. Univariate analysis using logistic regression with CRP concentration as a binary outcome (≤30 mg/L and >30 mg/L) showed that hypoalbuminaemia was a significant

predictor and was 2.74 times (95% CI 1.057-7.18) times more likely to result in a CRP concentration >30 mg/L when compared to non-hypoalbuminaemic dogs with LSA. Hypoalbuminaemia can arise in dogs with LSA for a myriad of reasons including as a direct consequence of intestinal or renal involvement resulting in protein loss (Dossin and Lavoué, 2011, Bryan et al., 2006), from chronic anorexia causing malnutrition and protein catabolism (McMillan, 2009), and from hepatic involvement causing reduced production of the plasma proteins (Dank et al., 2011, Hoskins, 2005, Balkman, 2009, Gruys et al., 2005). In humans, it has recently been hypothesised that the reduction in the negative APPs, which includes albumin, is affected more greatly by the APR than the nutritional state (Fuhrman et al., 2004, McMillan, 2009). Most of the 15 dogs that had a more moderate to marked hypoalbuminaemia (defined here as an albumin concentration ≤ 24 g/L) presented either with chronic diarrhoea, hepatic infiltration including marked hepatic disease as observed by elevated liver enzymes, and/or a history of anorexia and weight loss. The significant negative correlation with logCRP suggests there is an inverse relationship between the negative APP albumin and the positive APP CRP, likely due to the activation of the APR which causes altered mobilisation of the amino acids by the liver (Kushner, 1982, Gabay and Kushner, 1999, Ebersole and Cappelli, 2000, Nakamura et al., 2008). However, the low R^2 (13.92%) for the model implies that CRP is not the only driver of albumin levels in these dogs, and it would seem reasonable that the reduction in albumin concentration in our population was also as a direct consequence of the disease.

4.2.2.2 Clinical stage of LSA

The association between cancer and the APR has been widely investigated and a positive correlation between CRP concentration and both the clinical stage of lymphoid neoplasia and the presence of clinical signs at time of diagnosis has been reported for humans (Wieland et al., 2003, Herishanu et al., 2007, Legouffe et al., 1998, Khalifa et al., 2008). However, to date this has not been reported for dogs. Univariate analysis with linear regression revealed a significant positive relationship between logCRP concentration at time of diagnosis and WHO stage and substage, though this relationship was only present when grouped stages II-III were compared to stages IV-V, with no significant

difference determined when comparing the 2 lower stages (II and III) to each other and the 2 higher stages (IV and V) to each other. Following multivariate analysis, WHO stage was the only variable which retained significance with stages IV-V having a significantly increased concentration of logCRP compared to stages II-III. Logistic regression using CRP concentration as a binary outcome (\leq 30) mg/L and >30 mg/L) instead of an absolute concentration, also revealed WHO stage and substage to be significant categorical predictors, and once again on multivariate analysis WHO stage retained significance with stages IV-V 4.07 times (95% CI 1.11-14.99) more likely to result in a CRP concentration >30 mg/L when compared to stages II-III. The significant relationship between WHO stage, and to a lesser degree substage, in this population of dogs with LSA suggests that in this disease the APR is influenced by clinical status of the animal rather than merely just the underlying primary disease. Dogs with advanced WHO stages of disease tend to have heavier tumour burden and grossly enlarged lymph nodes which cause ischaemic damage to surrounding tissue with localised inflammation. The rapid growth of the tumour results in high cell turnover and constant death of neoplastic cells which release cytokines. Tumour cells can also produce chemokines that attract local inflammatory cells such as macrophages and neutrophils (Coussens and Werb, 2002). These inflammatory cells secrete cytokines including interleukins IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α into the blood which induce the hepatocytes to secrete the APPs, such as CRP (Coussens and Werb, 2002, Gruys et al., 2005). This study only had a small number of dogs in the lower WHO stage groups and didn't include any dogs with stage I disease; also the exact quantity of tumour burden was not available. A larger cohort containing more dogs with lower WHO stages, and an accurate assessment of tumour burden using advanced imaging modalities such as computed tomography would be required to determine if there were significant differences between the individual WHO stages and whether tumour burden had a significant relationship with serum CRP concentration.

4.2.3 Changes in CRP concentration in dogs receiving chemotherapy

4.2.3.1 CRP concentration following treatment initiation

The change in CRP concentration between week 0 (pre-treatment) and week 4 of treatment was investigated in 41 dogs that exhibited some degree of response to treatment with chemotherapy (i.e. had achieved PR or CR). Of these dogs, 34 (87%) had a pre-treatment CRP above reference. Following induction of a chemotherapy protocol, the majority of dogs (83%) that had had a response to treatment had a CRP concentration within the normal reference limit.

These results suggest that treatment with chemotherapy causes normalisation of CRP concentration in most dogs by week 4 of treatment. The effect on CRP concentration by the actual chemotherapy agents administered, and from the glucocorticoids that were also included in the protocols, could not be quantified in these dogs due to the variability in chemotherapy protocols used and the timing of samples. Previous studies investigating the effect of chemotherapy and prednisolone on healthy dogs have suggested that these agents do not affect serum APP concentrations (Ogilvie et al., 1993, Merlo et al., 2007, Martínez-Subiela et al., 2004) and it would be reasonable therefore to suspect that the reduction of CRP in these dogs was directly related to the reduction in tumour size rather than being treatment-mediated.

4.2.3.2 CRP concentration and remission status

There was marked variation in CRP concentration and overlap of the range of concentrations at time of diagnosis (Pre-Tx) and at each remission status, which supports the current literature (Nielsen et al., 2007). The widest spread of CRP concentrations was found for Pre-Tx and progressive disease (PD) indicating the results were most variable for dogs in these states. When examining the differences that existed between the remission statuses with the pooled samples from all dogs, median CRP concentration in the control population and at time of diagnosis (Pre-Tx) was significantly different when compared to CR, PR and PD. Median CRP concentration also differed between CR and PD, and PR and PD.

There was no significant difference between the median CRP concentration of dogs in CR and PR.

To determine if these differences still existed when considering individual dogs, comparison of the CRP concentrations at Pre-Tx with their first subsequent CRP concentration at CR (after week 4 of treatment), and comparison of the CRP concentration at PR with their first subsequent CRP concentration at CR was performed on matched samples from individual dogs. The results from these analyses were in agreement with the results from the analysis of the pooled samples.

The lack of significant difference between the median CRP concentration for CR and PR was interesting. Dogs in PR are still showing signs of gross clinical disease and by definition 'PR' indicates that the tumour has shrunk by >30% but <100% (Eisenhauer et al., 2009). One would therefore expect there to be a higher CRP concentration in dogs in PR compared to those in CR (where there is no gross clinical disease present). This finding suggests that despite the presence of disease in PR, the tumour burden has decreased enough to reduce the degree of local inflammation and ischaemia. Consequently, there is minimal activation of the APR and reduced production of CRP.

The results of the pooled and paired analyses suggest that there are significant differences present between the median CRP concentrations of the different remission groups (except between CR and PR) which are in agreement with the current literature (Nielsen et al., 2007). However, there are often only subtle differences as observed by the overlap of the ranges of CRP concentration in the different groups. This indicates that CRP would not be a useful biomarker to discriminate between the different remission statuses and could not aid clinical decision making with regard to categorising patients following treatment with chemotherapy.

4.2.3.3 CRP concentration at time of relapse of LSA

The pooled analysis revealed a significant difference between the median CRP concentrations in the Pre-Tx group compared to PD group. Comparison of individual dogs' pre-treatment CRP concentration with their first subsequent

relapse (PD) CRP concentration again revealed that a significant difference exists. In the majority of dogs (72%), the CRP concentration was lower at the point of relapse compared to the time of diagnosis.

The fact that CRP concentrations at time of diagnosis were not the same as those obtained at time of relapse could be because relapse is often detected much more rapidly than when the disease is initially diagnosed, as patients are being more closely monitored. Consequently, the degree of tumour burden at this time is often much less than it is at the time of diagnosis. The fact that 28% (16/57) of dogs had a higher relapse (PD) CRP concentration compared to their Pre-Tx value however suggests that the response of individual dogs is very variable. There is also the possibility that for these dogs with elevated CRP concentration at relapse, in addition to clinically detectable peripheral disease, there may have been internal gross disease. This degree of disease is usually not guantified by diagnostic imaging techniques due to financial constraints and the fact that it generally would not change the clinical outcome. These findings again suggest that there may be a relationship between tumour burden and CRP concentration which warrants further investigation and indeed, it has been suggested in patients with NHL that tumour burden could be used as a prognostic factor (Gobbi et al., 2004). I propose that there may be a minimum threshold for tumour volume which must be exceeded before the APR is activated which would account for the variance in CRP concentration at time of diagnosis and relapse.

4.2.4 CRP as a predictor of relapse

CRP has a moderate ability to discriminate between dogs with CR and PD, and a cut-off value of 10.7 mg/L was deemed suggestive of relapse following AUROC curve analysis. This cut-off value was only just above the upper reference limit for CRP concentration, and there was poor balance between sensitivity (60.7%) and specificity (73.3%), suggesting it would not be useful in a clinical setting.

The role of CRP as a predictor of relapse was more closely examined using matched samples from individual dogs. The ranges of CRP concentration at 3 time points (2 weeks prior to relapse, 1 week prior to relapse, and point of clinical relapse) showed marked overlap, and the only significant difference

between these 3 time points occurred between the mean logCRP concentrations at 1 week prior to relapse and time of relapse. This suggests that the CRP concentration becomes elevated at the point of relapse but does not increase significantly in the weeks immediately leading up to that point, which adds further weight to the suggestion that CRP production is mediated directly by the tumour and that a certain volume of gross disease is required before an elevation in this biomarker is apparent. These findings imply that CRP is not a useful biomarker for the early prediction of relapse of disease in LSA which agrees with the earlier findings by Nielsen *et al* (2007).

4.2.5 CRP concentration and prognosis of LSA

In human medicine the presence of a systemic inflammatory response and the magnitude of that response, as observed by CRP elevation, has been shown to predict the duration of cancer-specific and non-cancer disease survival in a variety of solid tumours and lymphoid neoplasia (McMillan et al., 2001, Elahi et al., 2005, Shimada et al., 2003, Falconer et al., 1995, Beer et al., 2008, Karakiewicz et al., 2007). In this study CRP was not predictive of survival or TFI, neither as a continuous variable (i.e. log-transformed CRP), nor as a categorical variable (i.e. CRP concentration \leq 30 mg/L or >30 mg/L). The median survival time was shorter for those dogs in the CRP >30mg/L group compared to those in the \leq 30 mg/L group; however this difference was not significant. These initial findings suggest that a difference in survival may exist between dogs with moderately and markedly elevated CRP concentrations and it is possible that the lack of significance in survival reflects the small number of dogs in each of these groups. Further analysis with a larger sample size is needed to confirm or refute this suspicion.

There are many human studies that have shown survival advantages for those patients that present with a normal CRP concentration over those that present with an elevated CRP concentration in a variety of tumours (Beer et al., 2008, Crozier et al., 2007, Shimada et al., 2003, Hashimoto et al., 2005, Yoshida et al., 2008); however there is currently no veterinary literature with similar findings. Ideally, any future studies looking at CRP concentration with regards to OST in dogs with LSA, would include enough dogs with pre-treatment CRP

concentrations in the normal range to allow for comparison with dogs with elevated CRP concentrations.

4.2.6 Negative prognostic indicators for LSA in this study

The presence of clinical signs at diagnosis (i.e. being classified as WHO substage 'b') and the T-cell immunophenotype were shown to be significant negative predictors of OST in this study of dogs with LSA. Other patient variables including WHO stage, site of disease, albumin concentration and calcium concentration were not found to have any prognostic significance.

It is generally accepted that WHO substage and immunophenotype carry prognostic significance (Keller et al., 1993, Kiupel et al., 1999, Baskin et al., 2000, Dobson et al., 2001, Marconato et al., 2011). However, there is a degree of disparity in the literature as to what other prognostic factors are significant, with some authors suggesting that increased WHO stage, the presence of hypercalcaemia at time of diagnosis and previous treatment with steroids carries a poorer prognosis (Jagielski et al., 2002, Gavazza et al., 2009, Kaiser et al., 2007).

In human medicine, the traditional primary method for assessing prognosis for NHL was to consider the Ann Arbour stage, which is similar to the WHO staging system used in dogs with LSA. This system alone was found to be inadequate at predicting survival and therefore the International Prognostic Index (IPI) was developed. This considers a range of clinical parameters to predict patient outcome more accurately including age, sex, Ann Arbour stage, LDH concentration, performance status and the number of extranodal sites of disease. Using a point system for each of the risk factors, the sum of the points assigned to each risk factor correlates with a risk group which provides a predicted 5 year survival rate (The International Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Prognostic Factors Project, 1993, Hermans et al., 1995). Some veterinary researchers are also moving towards considering a panel of different patient variables to predict more accurately remission period and survival time (Marconato et al., 2011).

4.2.7 Other possible serum biomarkers for canine LSA and their clinical relevance

4.2.7.1 Serum biomarkers reported in the veterinary literature

The ability of other serum biomarkers to predict disease relapse has been investigated in dogs with LSA. Those shown to have the greatest clinical potential include serum TK, AGP and LDH. TK is a cytoplasmic enzyme which catalyses the phosphorylation of thymidine to thymidine monophosphate and exists in two forms: cytoplasmic thymidine kinase 1 (TK-1) and mitochondrial thymidine kinase 2 (TK-2). TK-1 is associated with cellular proliferation and may be of clinical relevance in dogs with LSA as this disease is characterised by a very high rate of proliferation which is reflected in the levels of TK-1 (von Euler and Eriksson, 2011). Serum TK levels are elevated in dogs with LSA, and concentration normalises once remission of disease is achieved (von Euler et al., 2004, Nakamura et al., 1997, Elliott et al., 2011). AGP is a glycosylated protein which is a positive APP which behaves in a similar way to CRP in dogs with LSA. Its concentration is often elevated at time of diagnosis and at relapse of disease, and normalises once remission has been achieved (Ogilvie et al., 1993, Hahn et al., 1999). Serum concentrations of both serum TK and AGP have been shown to become elevated at least 3 weeks prior to relapse of disease becoming clinically evident (Hahn et al., 1999, von Euler et al., 2004). LDH is a glycolytic enzyme which catalyses glycolytic metabolism by converting lactate to pyruvate, and is expressed as 5 isoenzymes. LDH is elevated in dogs with LSA, specifically the isoenzymes LDH2 and LDH3 (Zanatta et al., 2003, Nakamura et al., 1997, Marconato et al., 2009, Marconato et al., 2010). The predictive ability of LDH was revealed in one study, where dogs with LSA that had elevated LDH concentrations at the end of treatment or 1 month after completion of chemotherapy were more likely to relapse within a 45 day period than those dogs with a normal LDH concentration at the same time points (Marconato et al., 2010). Showing similarities to CRP, serum TK and LDH concentrations show marked variance in dogs with LSA, and their concentrations are not elevated in all dogs (Elliott et al., 2011, Nakamura et al., 1997). This suggests that the mechanism for the expression of these enzymes is not fully understood in this complex disease.

Some of the biomarkers that may be useful in predicting early relapse of LSA may also have prognostic significance, and it has been hypothesised that elevated concentrations of serum TK and LDH at time of diagnosis result in reduced disease-free interval (DFI) and OST. However, there is currently disparity in the literature and further investigation is required (Elliott et al., 2011, von Euler et al., 2004, Zanatta et al., 2003, Marconato et al., 2010). It has been suggested by several authors that the presence of anaemia (described as a haematocrit count \leq 35-40%) at time of diagnosis is a negative prognostic indicator in dogs with LSA (Abbo and Lucroy, 2007, Marconato et al., 2011, Miller et al., 2009). Unlike serum TK and LDH, the haematocrit is routinely measured at initial presentation as part of the clinical staging of the patient and may prove an easy and inexpensive biomarker to use in general practice. This evidence would suggest that these serum biomarkers may be useful in the prediction of patient outcome and disease monitoring in dogs with LSA, however further validation is required before serial monitoring would be implemented into routine clinical practice.

Some serum biomarkers which have been shown to have some clinical relevance in human patients with LSA are also currently under investigation in veterinary science. These include the pro-angiogenic molecules matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), and the cytokine, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). Angiogenesis plays an important role in the pathophysiology of solid tumours and haematologic malignancies such as LSA, and circulating levels of MMP 2 and 9 and VEGF have been shown to be overexpressed in dogs with LSA. Increased levels of these factors correlate with poor response to treatment and a poor prognosis, both with respect to DFI and OST (Gentilini et al., 2005, Aresu et al., 2012). VEGF also appears to correlate with the degree of malignancy of LSA in dogs (Zizzo et al., 2010). High mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) protein is a nuclear chromosomal protein found in nearly all cells. It is a cytokine which is secreted by activated macrophages and monocytes, and mediates the response to injury, infection and inflammation (Lotze and Tracey, 2005). Overexpression of HMGB1 is associated with the hallmarks of cancer, including angiogenesis, evasion of programmed cell death, and limitless replicative ability (Tang et al., 2010). HMGB1 concentration is significantly higher in dogs with LSA when compared with control dogs. Its concentration reduces in dogs with LSA which are treated

with chemotherapy, and early results indicate that levels may be lower in dogs which have achieved CR compared to those which have achieved PR (Meyer et al., 2010). Monocyte chemotactic protein 1 (MCP1) stimulates myeloid cells from the bone marrow and is a cytokine which recruits monocytes, and other cells such as neutrophils and NK cells, to sites of inflammation, injury and infection (Yadav et al., 2010, Melgarejo et al., 2009). A recent study by Perry et al (2010) investigating this protein, showed that serum levels are significantly elevated in dogs with LSA when compared to a control group. It has been suggested by the authors that an increased concentration of MCP1 in conjunction with elevated circulating concentrations of monocytes and neutrophils may be associated with poorer DFI for dogs receiving cytotoxic therapy. Finally, circulating tumourderived DNA has been quantified in the plasma of dogs with LSA and the levels were significantly increased in this disease when compared to healthy dogs (Schaefer et al., 2007). The levels of plasma DNA have a potential prognostic significance and it has been shown that those dogs with higher concentrations have shorter remission periods than those dogs with lower concentrations (Schaefer et al., 2007).

Despite promising early results for these serum biomarkers, they are currently only available for quantification in research laboratories, and therefore can not currently be applied in general practice.

4.2.7.2 Serum biomarkers warranting future investigation

In human medicine, the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class 1 molecule beta-2 microglobulin (B2M) has been investigated in patients with LSA. B2M is a primitive immunoglobulin which is involved in the immune response. Serum B2M is elevated in people with LSA, and its concentration drops following treatment with chemotherapy (Child et al., 1980, Bien and Balcerska, 2009, Johnson et al., 1993). It has been proposed that persistent elevations reflect resistant or partially responsive disease (Child et al., 1980). B2M appears to have prognostic significance with levels of this molecule allowing the accurate separation of NHL patients into low-, medium- and high-risk categories (Avilés et al., 1992). Findings from another study showed that there was a greater proportion of patients with a 6-year remission rate who had a normal concentration of B2M at

time of diagnosis when compared to those with elevated concentrations of B2M (Johnson et al., 1993). This molecule has been examined in conjunction with other serum biomarkers including CRP and LDH, and the presence of increased concentrations across multiple markers have been found to be correlated with the presence of bulky disease, b-symptoms and advanced stage and hepatic infiltration (Johnson et al., 1993, Bien and Balcerska, 2009). To date, there are no studies examining this biomarker in canine LSA and unfortunately, there is no commercial assay currently available.

4.3 Study limitations

All dogs in this study had been referred from other veterinary practices, and as such, there may have been a bias towards those dogs that had more aggressive and advanced disease, and that were exhibiting worse clinical signs of disease. This would explain the lack of WHO stage I dogs and the paucity of dogs with WHO stage II disease in this cohort. The T-cell immunophenotype was overrepresented and may explain why our median survival times for dogs treated with a CHOP-type protocol was less than the established literature (Chun, 2009, Garrett et al., 2002, Baskin et al., 2000). There may also have been variability in the classification of remission status during the monitoring of dogs on treatment. Remission is objectively assessed, and multiple staff members were often involved in the treatment of any one case. The classification of remission status was made in accordance with the RECIST guidelines v1.1 (Eisenhauer et al., 2009); however the decision-making process routinely involved the palpation and measurement of peripheral lymph nodes only. Abdominothoracic imaging was generally only performed to confirm remission status if there was no peripheral disease present at time of initial presentation. This may have resulted in a potential bias towards more dogs being classified as being in CR when they were in fact only in PR. It is generally accepted that there is disparity between the classifications of remission status obtained from the measurement of peripheral gross tumour volume using calipers when compared to more objective assessment techniques such as flow cytometry of lymph nodes to assess minimum residual disease (Williams et al., 2005). Currently however, gross evaluation of dogs to determine the response to treatment is the standard practice within veterinary medicine as repeated imaging is expensive and often

difficult to justify to clients for a patient that is clinically well, especially when the findings do not often facilitate a change in the treatment protocol.

A complicating factor in this study was that several dogs with LSA had concurrent disease at time of diagnosis. It is not uncommon for dogs with LSA to present in this way as many are mature animals and chronic diseases such as osteoarthritis and degenerative heart disease are common in older age. No difference was noted in pre-treatment CRP concentration in dogs with LSA that presented with a variety of inflammatory compared to non-inflammatory concurrent diseases. The elevation of CRP is greater in infectious conditions and haematologic neoplasms (including LSA) compared to other chronic conditions (Nakamura et al., 2008, Kjelgaard-Hansen et al., 2003a). No dogs with concurrent disease were excluded unless they presented with active infection as it was felt that the resultant population of dogs with LSA was very typical of the general canine LSA caseload and would provide a more accurate investigation of the use of CRP as a biomarker in a true clinical setting. Dogs were excluded from this study if they had received previous corticosteroid therapy despite initial analysis suggesting no significant difference between the median CRP concentrations in those dogs on steroids compared to those that were not. A study by Martínez-Subiela, Cerón and Ginel (2004) also found no significant difference in the CRP concentration in dogs prior to and after administration of immunosuppressive doses of prednisolone. However, those dogs were healthy and as glucocorticoids are known to cause apoptosis of neoplastic lymphoid cells which could result in the release of inflammatory mediators (Schwartzman and Cidlowski, 1994, Moalli and Rosen, 1994) it was deemed more robust to exclude these dogs from this study.

The major limitations of this study were that it was retrospective in design and that there was a large variation in sample numbers obtained from each patient with LSA due to the use of different chemotherapy protocols. Also, samples were not obtained at every chemotherapy time point nor at consistent time points between patients, and there was no control sample for every time point. Another limitation was that many samples had to undergo multiple freeze-thaw cycles over several years due to the ongoing modification of the CRP assay used. The stability of CRP at -70°C and its ability to withstand multiple freeze-thaw cycles has been previously investigated (Aziz et al., 2003, Macy et al., 1997) and

our comparison of CRP concentrations over the different freeze-thaw cycles confirmed that it was unlikely that significant degradation to the protein had occurred which would have resulted in lower values than previously obtained.

Despite this being the biggest study to be performed investigating serum CRP concentration in dogs with LSA, the numbers were still relatively small. The lack of homogeneity within the population was also a limitation, however in order to increase numbers within the study to facilitate statistical analysis, dogs from all WHO stages and substages, sites, grades and immunophenotypes had to be included, and indeed it was of interest to see if any of these clinical variables had any bearing on CRP concentration.

4.4 Conclusions

This study has demonstrated that serum CRP concentration is significantly higher in dogs with LSA compared to a healthy control population. Serum CRP concentration returns to normal in most dogs following initiation of a chemotherapy protocol, however a significant difference remains between the median CRP concentration in dogs in CR, as judged by LN palpation, and the control dogs. The median CRP concentration differs in patients in PD compared to those in CR and PR. There is too much variability in CRP concentration within each remission group and too much overlap of concentrations to allow it to be used to monitor response to treatment or to predict disease relapse. More objective quantification of lymph node size using advanced imaging techniques such as CT or PET-CT at time of diagnosis and throughout treatment may help determine if there is a relationship between CRP concentration and gross tumour volume, which may help explain the variability in CRP concentration. These techniques, along with other techniques for assessing minimum residual disease such as flow-cytometry or PCR of lymph node aspirates, may also facilitate more accurate assessment of remission status and reveal those patients that have recrudescence of disease or have refractory disease.

A significant relationship has been revealed between the CRP concentration in dogs with LSA and WHO stage, substage and albumin concentration. A significant relationship between pre-treatment albumin and WHO stage and substage has

also been revealed. Pre-treatment CRP concentration does not appear to have any prognostic significance, though there is a trend for the median survival time for dogs with CRP concentrations \leq 30 mg/L to be longer than for those with a CRP concentration >30 mg/L. These results warrant further investigation with a larger cohort of dogs.

The findings in this study suggest that there are potential clinical applications for monitoring serum CRP concentrations in dogs with LSA. Serum CRP concentration at time of diagnosis may be of some value, though its use for serial monitoring throughout treatment is more questionable due to the variability of CRP concentration across the different remission statuses. Rather than focussing purely on CRP it would seem reasonable to suggest that future work would include the investigation of a panel of serum biomarkers known to be useful in LSA such as albumin, haematocrit, TK, AGP and LDH. The use of multiple markers may improve the utility of any single biomarker alone. Analysis of this panel at different time points including at diagnosis and serially throughout treatment may provide greater prognostic information and give earlier evidence of impending relapse of disease. This could facilitate treatment modifications which would improve the time to first relapse and overall survival time for dogs with LSA.

Bibliography

- ABBO, A. H. & LUCROY, M. D. 2007. Assessment of anemia as an independent predictor of response to chemotherapy and survival in dogs with lymphoma: 96 cases (1993-2006). Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 231, 1836-1842.
- ADIDA, C., HAIOUN, C., GAULARD, P., LEPAGE, E., MOREL, P., BRIERE, J., DOMBRET, H., REYES, F., DIEBOLD, J., GISSELBRECHT, C., SALLES, G., ALTIERI, D. C. & MOLINA, T. J. 2000. Prognostic significance of survivin expression in diffuse large B-cell lymphomas. *Blood*, 96, 1921-1925.
- ARESU, L., ARICÒ, A., COMAZZI, S., GELAIN, M. E., RIONDATO, F., MORTARINO, M., MORELLO, E., STEFANELLO, D. & CASTAGNARO, M. 2012. VEGF and MMP-9: biomarkers for canine lymphoma. *Veterinary and Comparative Oncology* [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5829.2012.00328.x [Accessed 25/05/2012].
- ASSOULINE, S., MEYER, R. M., INFANTE-RIVARD, C., CONNORS, J. M., BELCH, A., CRUMP, M., KOUROUKIS, C. T. & EISENHAUER, E. 2007. Development of adapted RECIST criteria to assess response in lymphoma and their comparison to the International Workshop Criteria. *Leukemia & Lymphoma*, 48, 513-520.
- AVILÉS, A., ZEPEDA, G., DÍAZ-MAQUEO, J. C., RODRIGUEZ, L., GUZMÁN, R., GARCÍA, E. L. & TALAVERA, A. 1992. Beta 2 Microglobulin Level as an Indicator of Prognosis in Diffuse Large Cell Lymphoma. *Leukemia & Lymphoma*, 7, 135-138.
- AZIZ, N., FAHEY, J. L., DETELS, R. & BUTCH, A. W. 2003. Analytical performance of a highly sensitive C-reactive protein-based immunoassay and the effects of laboratory variables on levels of protein in blood. *Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology*, 10, 652-657.
- BALKMAN, C. 2009. Hepatobiliary Neoplasia in Dogs and Cats. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice, 39, 617-625.
- BASKIN, C. R., COUTO, C. G. & WITTUM, T. E. 2000. Factors influencing first remission and survival in 145 dogs with lymphoma: a retrospective study. *Journal of the American Animal Hospital Association*, 36, 404-409.
- BEER, T. M., LALANI, A. S., LEE, S., MORI, M., EILERS, K. M., CURD, J. G., HENNER, W. D., RYAN, C. W., VENNER, P., RUETHER, J. D. & CHI, K. N. 2008. C-reactive protein as a prognostic marker for men with androgenindependent prostate cancer. *Cancer*, 112, 2377-2383.
- BIEN, E. & BALCERSKA, A. 2009. Serum soluble interleukin-2 receptor, beta2microglobulin, lactate dehydrogenase and erythrocyte sedimentation rate in children with Hodgkin's lymphoma. Scandanavian Journal of Immunology, 70, 490-500.

- BIRAN, H., FRIEDMAN, N., NEUMANN, L., PRAS, M. & SHAINKIN-KESTENBAUM, R. 1986. Serum amyloid A (SAA) variations in patients with cancer: correlation with disease activity, stage, primary site, and prognosis. Journal of Clinical Pathology, 39, 794-797.
- BOWER, M., COLLINS, S., COTTRILL, C., CWYNARSKI, K., MONTOTO, S., NELSON, M., NWOKOLO, N., POWLES, T., STEBBING, J., WALES, N., WEBB, A. & ON BEHALF OF THE, A. M. S. 2008. British HIV Association guidelines for HIVassociated malignancies 2008. *HIV Medicine*, 9, 336-388.
- BRYAN, J. N., HENRY, C. J., TURNQUIST, S. E., TYLER, J. W., LIPTAK, J. M., RIZZO, S. A., SFILIGOI, G., STEINBERG, S. J., SMITH, A. N. & JACKSON, T. 2006. Primary renal neoplasia of dogs. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 20, 1155-1160.
- CARDE, P., KOSCIELNY, S., FRANKLIN, J., AXDORPH, U., RAEMAEKERS, J., DIEHL, V., ALEMAN, B., BROSTEANU, O., HASENCLEVER, D., OBERLIN, O., BONVIN, N. & BJORKHOLM, M. 2002. Early response to chemotherapy: a surrogate for final outcome of Hodgkin's disease patients that should influence initial treatment length and intensity? *Annals of Oncology*, 13 Suppl 1, 86-91.
- CARNEY, P. C., RUAUX, C. G., SUCHODOLSKI, J. S. & STEINER, J. M. 2011. Biological variability of C-reactive protein and specific canine pancreatic lipase immunoreactivity in apparently healthy dogs. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 25, 825-830.
- CARTER, R. F., VALLI, V. E. & LUMSDEN, J. H. 1986. The cytology, histology and prevalence of cell types in canine lymphoma classified according to the National Cancer Institute Working Formulation. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research*, 50, 154-164.
- CASPI, D., BALTZ, M. L., SNEL, F., GRUYS, E., NIV, D., BATT, R. M., MUNN, E. A., BUTTRESS, N. & PEPYS, M. B. 1984. Isolation and characterization of Creactive protein from the dog. *Immunology*, 53, 307-313.
- CASPI, D., SNEL, F. W., BATT, R. M., BENNETT, D., RUTTEMAN, G. R., HARTMAN, E. G., BALTZ, M. L., GRUYS, E. & PEPYS, M. B. 1987. C-reactive protein in dogs. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 48, 919-921.
- CASTELL, J. V., GÓMEZ-LECHÓN, M. J., DAVID, M., ANDUS, T., GEIGER, T., TRULLENQUE, R., FABRA, R. & HEINRICH, P. C. 1989. Interleukin-6 is the major regulator of acute phase protein synthesis in adult human hepatocytes. *FEBS Letters*, 242, 237-239.
- CASTELL, J. V., GÓMEZ-LECHÓN, M. J., DAVID, M., FABRA, R., TRULLENQUE, R. & HEINRICH, P. C. 1990. Acute-phase response of human hepatocytes: Regulation of acute-phase protein synthesis by interleukin-6. *Hepatology*, 12, 1179-1186.
- CERÓN, J. J., ECKERSALL, P. D. & MARTÍNEZ-SUBIELA, S. 2005. Acute phase proteins in dogs and cats: current knowledge and future perspectives. *Veterinary Clinical Pathology*, 34, 85-99.
- CHAN, D. C., CHEN, C. J., CHU, H. C., CHANG, W. K., YU, J. C., CHEN, Y. J., WEN, L. L., HUANG, S. C., KU, C. H., LIU, Y. C. & CHEN, J. H. 2007. Evaluation of serum amyloid A as a biomarker for gastric cancer. Annals of Surgical Oncology, 14, 84-93.
- CHILD, J. A., SPATI, B., ILLINGWORTH, S., BARNARD, D., CORBETT, S., SIMMONS, A. V., STONE, J., WORTHY, T. S. & COOPER, E. H. 1980. Serum beta 2 microglobulin and C-reactive protein in the monitoring of lymphomas findings in a multicenter study and experience in selected patients. *Cancer*, 45, 318-326.
- CHUN, R. 2009. Lymphoma: which chemotherapy protocol and why? *Topics in Companion Animal Medicine*, 24, 157-162.
- COTCHIN, E. 1984. Veterinary oncology: a survey. *Journal of Pathology*, 142, 101-127.
- COUSSENS, L. M. & WERB, Z. 2002. Inflammation and cancer. *Nature*, 420, 860-867.
- CROZIER, J. E., MCKEE, R. F., MCARDLE, C. S., ANGERSON, W. J., ANDERSON, J. H., HORGAN, P. G. & MCMILLAN, D. C. 2007. Preoperative but not postoperative systemic inflammatory response correlates with survival in colorectal cancer. *British Journal of Surgery*, 94, 1028-1032.
- CULMSEE, K., SIMON, D., MISCHKE, R. & NOLTE, I. 2001. Possibilities of flow cytometric analysis for immunophenotypic characterization of canine lymphoma. Journal of Veterinary Medicine. A, Physiology, Patholology, Clinical Medicine, 48, 199-206.
- DANK, G., RASSNICK, K. M., KRISTAL, O., RODRIGUEZ, C. O., CLIFFORD, C. A., WARD, R., MALLETT, C. L., GIEGER, T. & SEGEV, G. 2011. Clinical characteristics, treatment, and outcome of dogs with presumed primary hepatic lymphoma: 18 cases (1992-2008). Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 239, 966-971.
- DOBSON, J. 2004. Classification of canine lymphoma: a step forward. *The Veterinary Journal*, 167, 125-126.
- DOBSON, J. M., BLACKWOOD, L. B., MCINNES, E. F., BOSTOCK, D. E., NICHOLLS, P., HOATHER, T. M. & TOM, B. D. M. 2001. Prognostic variables in canine multicentric lymphosarcoma. *Journal of Small Animal Practice*, 42, 377-384.
- DOBSON, J. M. & GORMAN, N. T. 1993. Canine multicentric lymphoma 1: Clinicopathological presentation of the disease. *Journal of Small Animal Practice*, 34, 594-598.
- DOBSON, J. M., SAMUEL, S., MILSTEIN, H., ROGERS, K. & WOOD, J. L. 2002. Canine neoplasia in the UK: estimates of incidence rates from a population of insured dogs. *Journal of Small Animal Practice*, 43, 240-246.

- DORN, C. R., TAYLOR, D. O. & HIBBARD, H. H. 1967. Epizootiologic characteristics of canine and feline leukemia and lymphoma. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, 28, 993-1001.
- DOSSIN, O. & LAVOUÉ, R. 2011. Protein-losing enteropathies in dogs. The Veterinary clinics of North America. Small animal practice, 41, 399-418.
- DUCHÉ, J.-C., URIEN, S., SIMON, N., MALAURIE, E., MONNET, I. & BARRÉ, J. 2000. Expression of the genetic variants of human alpha-1-acid glycoprotein in cancer. *Clinical Biochemistry*, 33, 197-202.
- DUMONTET, C., DRAI, J., BIENVENU, J., BERARD, E. N., THIEBLEMONT, C., BOUAFIA, F., BAYLE, F., MOULLET, I., SALLES, G. & COIFFIER, B. 1999. Profiles and prognostic values of LDH isoenzymes in patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Leukemia*, 13, 811-817.
- EBERSOLE, J. L. & CAPPELLI, D. 2000. Acute-phase reactants in infections and inflammatory diseases. *Periodontol 2000*, 23, 19-49.
- ECKERSALL, P. D. 1995. Acute phase proteins as markers of inflammatory lesions. Comparative Haematology International, 5, 93-97.
- ECKERSALL, P. D. & CONNER, J. G. 1988. Bovine and canine acute phase proteins. *Veterinary Research Communications*, 12, 169-178.
- ECKERSALL, P. D., CONNER, J. G. & HARVIE, J. 1991. An immunoturbidimetric assay for canine C-reactive protein. *Veterinary Research Communications*, 15, 17-24.
- ECKERSALL, P. D., CONNER, J. G. & PARTON, H. 1989. An enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for canine C-reactive protein. *The Veterinary Record*, 124, 490-491.
- EDWARDS, D. S., HENLEY, W. E., HARDING, E. F., DOBSON, J. M. & WOOD, J. L. N. 2003. Breed incidence of lymphoma in a UK population of insured dogs. *Veterinary and Comparative Oncology*, 1, 200-206.
- EISENHAUER, E. A., THERASSE, P., BOGAERTS, J., SCHWARTZ, L. H., SARGENT, D., FORD, R., DANCEY, J., ARBUCK, S., GWYTHER, S., MOONEY, M., RUBINSTEIN, L., SHANKAR, L., DODD, L., KAPLAN, R., LACOMBE, D. & VERWEIJ, J. 2009. New response evaluation criteria in solid tumours: revised RECIST guideline (version 1.1). *European Journal of Cancer*, 45, 228-247.
- ELAHI, M. M., MCMILLAN, D. C., MCARDLE, C. S., ANGERSON, W. J., SOUKOP, M., JOHNSTONE, J. & SATTAR, N. 2005. The systemic inflammatory response predicts overall and cancer specific survival in patients with malignant lymphoma. *Medical Science Monitor*, 11, CR75-78.
- ELLIOTT, J. W., CRIPPS, P. & BLACKWOOD, L. 2011. Thymidine kinase assay in canine lymphoma. Veterinary and Comparative Oncology [Online]. Available: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1476-5829.2011.00296.x/abstract [Accessed 10/02/2012].

- FALCONER, J. S., FEARON, K. C., PLESTER, C. E., ROSS, J. A. & CARTER, D. C. 1994. Cytokines, the acute-phase response, and resting energy expenditure in cachectic patients with pancreatic cancer. *Annals of Surgery*, 219, 325-331.
- FALCONER, J. S., FEARON, K. C. H., ROSS, J. A., ELTON, R., WIGMORE, S. J., JAMES, O. J. & CARTER, D. C. 1995. Acute-phase protein response and survival duration of patients with pancreatic cancer. *Cancer*, 75, 2077-2082.
- FERRARIS, A. M., GIUNTINI, P. & GAETANI, G. F. 1979. Serum lactic dehydrogenase as a prognostic tool for non-Hodgkin lymphomas. *Blood*, 54, 928-932.
- FLORY, A. B., RASSNICK, K. M., STOKOL, T., SCRIVANI, P. V. & ERB, H. N. 2007. Stage migration in dogs with lymphoma. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 21, 1041-1047.
- FONTAINE, J., BOVENS, C., BETTENAY, S. & MUELLER, R. S. 2009. Canine cutaneous epitheliotropic T-cell lymphoma: a review. *Veterinary and Comparative Oncology*, 7, 1-14.
- FOURNEL-FLEURY, C., MAGNOL, J. P., BRICAIRE, P., MARCHAL, T., CHABANNE, L., DELVERDIER, A., BRYON, P. A. & FELMAN, P. 1997. Cytohistological and immunological classification of canine malignant lymphomas: comparison with human non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. *Journal of Comparative Pathology*, 117, 35-59.
- FOURNIER, T., MEDJOUBI-N, N. & PORQUET, D. 2000. Alpha-1-acid glycoprotein. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Protein Structure and Molecular Enzymology, 1482, 157-171.
- FUHRMAN, M. P., CHARNEY, P. & MUELLER, C. M. 2004. Hepatic proteins and nutrition assessment. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 104, 1258-1264.
- FUJITA, T., HARA, A. & YAMAZAKI, Y. 1999. The value of acute-phase protein measurements after curative gastric cancer surgery. *Archives of Surgery*, 134, 73-75.
- GABAY, C. & KUSHNER, I. 1999. Acute-phase proteins and other systemic responses to inflammation. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 340, 448-454.
- GAIOLLA, R. D., DOMINGUES, M. A. C., NIÉRO-MELO, L. & DE OLIVEIRA, D. E. 2011. Serum levels of interleukins 6, 10, and 13 before and after treatment of classic Hodgkin lymphoma. Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine, 135, 483-489.
- GANAPATHI, M. K., RZEWNICKI, D., SAMOLS, D., JIANG, S. L. & KUSHNER, I. 1991. Effect of combinations of cytokines and hormones on synthesis of serum amyloid A and C-reactive protein in Hep 3B cells. *Jornal of Immunology*, 147, 1261-1265.

- GANDHI, M. K., TELLAM, J. T. & KHANNA, R. 2004. Epstein-Barr virus-associated Hodgkin's lymphoma. *British Journal of Haematology*, 125, 267-281.
- GARRETT, L. D., THAMM, D. H., CHUN, R., DUDLEY, R. & VAIL, D. M. 2002. Evaluation of a 6-month chemotherapy protocol with no maintenance therapy for dogs with lymphoma. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 16, 704-709.
- GAVAZZA, A., PRESCIUTTINI, S., BARALE, R., LUBAS, G. & GUGLIUCCI, B. 2001. Association between canine malignant lymphoma, living in industrial areas, and use of chemicals by dog owners. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 15, 190-195.
- GAVAZZA, A., SACCHINI, F., LUBAS, G., GUGLIUCCI, B. & VALORI, E. 2009. Clinical, laboratory, diagnostic and prognostic aspects of canine lymphoma: a retrospective study. *Comparative Clinical Pathology*, 18, 291-299.
- GEAR, R. 2009a. Practical update on canine lymphoma 1. Classification and diagnosis. *In Practice*, 31, 380-384.
- GEAR, R. 2009b. Practical update on canine lymphoma 2. Treatment. *In Practice*, 31, 454-458.
- GENTILINI, F., CALZOLARI, C., TURBA, M. E., AGNOLI, C., FAVA, D., FORNI, M. & BERGAMINI, P. F. 2005. Prognostic value of serum vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and plasma activity of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) 2 and 9 in lymphoma- affected dogs. *Leukemia Research*, 29, 1263-1269.
- GIBSON, D., AUBERT, I., WOODS, J. P., ABRAMS-OGG, A., KRUTH, S., WOOD, R. D. & BIENZLE, D. 2004. Flow cytometric immunophenotype of canine lymph node aspirates. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 18, 710-717.
- GOBBI, P. G., BROGLIA, C., DI GIULIO, G., MANTELLI, M., ANSELMO, P., MERLI, F., ZINZANI, P. L., ROSSI, G., CALLEA, V., IANNITTO, E., PAULLI, M., GARIONI, L. & ASCARI, E. 2004. The clinical value of tumor burden at diagnosis in Hodgkin lymphoma. *Cancer*, 101, 1824-1834.
- GREENLEE, P. G., FILIPPA, D. A., QUIMBY, F. W., PATNAIK, A. K., CALVANO, S. E., MATUS, R. E., KIMMEL, M., HURVITZ, A. I. & LIEBERMAN, P. H. 1990. Lymphomas in dogs a morphologic, immunologic, and clinical study. *Cancer*, 66, 480-490.
- GRUYS, E., TOUSSAINT, M. J., NIEWOLD, T. A. & KOOPMANS, S. J. 2005. Acute phase reaction and acute phase proteins. *Journal of Zhejiang University Science B*, 6, 1045-1056.
- GUSTAFSON, N. R., LANA, S. E., MAYER, M. N. & LARUE, S. M. 2004. A preliminary assessment of whole-body radiotherapy interposed within a chemotherapy protocol for canine lymphoma. *Veterinary and Comparative Oncology*, 2, 125-131.

- HAHN, K. A., FREEMAN, K. P., BARNHILL, M. A. & STEPHEN, E. L. 1999. Serum alpha 1-acid glycoprotein concentrations before and after relapse in dogs with lymphoma treated with doxorubicin. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 214, 1023-1025.
- HAHN, K. A., RICHARDSON, R. C., TECLAW, R. F., CLINE, J. M., CARLTON, W. W., DENICOLA, D. B. & BONNEY, P. L. 1992. Is maintenance chemotherapy appropriate for the management of canine malignant lymphoma? *Journal* of Veterinary Internal Medicine, 6, 3-10.
- HALLEK, M., WANDERS, L., STROHMEYER, S. & EMMERICH, B. 1992. Thymidine kinase: a tumor marker with prognostic value for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and a broad range of potential clinical applications. *Annals of Hematology*, 65, 1-5.
- HARRIS, N., JAFFE, E., STEIN, H., BANKS, P., CHAN, J., CLEARY, M., DELSOL, G., DE WOLF- PEETERS, C., FALINI, B. & GATTER, K. 1994. A revised European-American classification of lymphoid neoplasms: a proposal from the International Lymphoma Study Group [see comments]. *Blood*, 84, 1361-1392.
- HARTWEG, J., GUNTER, M., PERERA, R., FARMER, A., CULL, C., SCHALKWIJK, C., KOK, A., TWAALFHOVEN, H., HOLMAN, R. & NEIL, A. 2007. Stability of soluble adhesion molecules, selectins, and C-reactive protein at various temperatures: implications for epidemiological and large-scale clinical studies. *Clinical Chemistry*, 53, 1858-1860.
- HASHIMOTO, K., IKEDA, Y., KORENAGA, D., TANOUE, K., HAMATAKE, M.,
 KAWASAKI, K., YAMAOKA, T., IWATANI, Y., AKAZAWA, K. & TAKENAKA, K.
 2005. The impact of preoperative serum C-reactive protein on the
 prognosis of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer*, 103, 1856-1864.
- HAYES, H. M., TARONE, R. E., CANTOR, K. P., JESSEN, C. R., MCCURNIN, D. M. & RICHARDSON, R. C. 1991. Case-control study of canine malignant lymphoma: positive association with dog owner's use of 2, 4dichlorophenoxyacetic acid herbicides. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 83, 1226-1231.
- HEINRICH, P. C., CASTELL, J. V. & ANDUS, T. 1990. Interleukin-6 and the acute phase response. *Biochemical Journal*, 265, 621-636.
- HERISHANU, Y., PERRY, C., BRAUNSTEIN, R., METSER, U., GOOR, O., ROGOWSKI, O., BERLINER, S., POLLIACK, A. & NAPARSTEK, E. 2007. Early-mid treatment C-reactive protein level is a prognostic factor in aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *European Journal of Haematology*, 79, 150-154.
- HERMANS, J., KROL, A. D., VAN GRONINGEN, K., KLUIN, P. M., KLUIN-NELEMANS, J. C., KRAMER, M. H., NOORDIJK, E. M., ONG, F. & WIJERMANS, P. W. 1995. International Prognostic Index for aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma is valid for all malignancy grades. *Blood*, 86, 1460-1463.

- HOFER, J., DEFRANCESCO, T. C. & WILLIAMS, L. E. 2011. Detection of tumour necrosis factor-alpha in dogs with lymphoma. *Veterinary and Comparative Oncology*, 9, 290-295.
- HOGARTH, M. B., GALLIMORE, R., SAVAGE, P., PALMER, A. J., STARR, J. M., BULPITT, C. J. & PEPYS, M. B. 1997. Acute phase proteins, C-reactive protein and serum amyloid A protein, as prognostic markers in the elderly inpatient. Age & Ageing, 26, 153-158.
- HOSKINS, J. D. 2005. Liver Disease in the Geriatric Patient. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice, 35, 617-634.
- HUANG, S.-H., KOZAK, P. J., KIM, J., HABINEZA-NDIKUYEZE, G., MEADE, C., GAURNIER-HAUSSER, A., PATEL, R., ROBERTSON, E. & MASON, N. J. 2012. Evidence of an oncogenic gammaherpesvirus in domestic dogs. *Virology*, 427, 107-117.
- HURLIMANN, J., THORBECKE, G. J. & HOCHWALD, G. M. 1966. The liver as the site of C-reactive protein formation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 123, 365-378.
- HUTCHINGS, M. & BARRINGTON, S. F. 2009. PET/CT for therapy response assessment in lymphoma. *Journal of Nuclear Medicine*, 50 Suppl 1, 21S-30S.
- ITO, K., ASANO, T., YOSHII, H., SATOH, A., SUMITOMO, M. & HAYAKAWA, M. 2006. Impact of thrombocytosis and C-reactive protein elevation on the prognosis for patients with renal cell carcinoma. *International Journal of Urology*, 13, 1365-1370.
- ITOH, H., HORIUCHI, Y., NAGASAKI, T., SAKONJU, I., KAKUTA, T., FUKUSHIMA, U., UCHIDE, T., YAMASHITA, M., KUWABARA, M., YUSA, S.-I. & TAKASE, K. 2009. Evaluation of immunological status in tumor-bearing dogs. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, 132, 85-90.
- JAGIELSKI, D., LECHOWSKI, R., HOFFMANN-JAGIELSKA, M. & WINIARCZYK, S. 2002. A retrospective study of the incidence and prognostic factors of multicentric lymphoma in dogs (1998-2000). Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series A, 49, 419-424.
- JOHNSON, P. W., WHELAN, J., LONGHURST, S., STEPNIEWSKA, K., MATTHEWS, J., AMESS, J., NORTON, A., ROHATINER, A. Z. & LISTER, T. A. 1993. Beta-2 microglobulin: a prognostic factor in diffuse aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. *British Journal of Cancer*, 67, 792-797.
- KAISER, C. I., FIDEL, J. L., ROOS, M. & KASER-HOTZ, B. 2007. Reevaluation of the University of Wisconsin 2-year protocol for treating canine lymphosarcoma. *Journal of the American Animal Hospital Association*, 43, 85-92.
- KALMOVARIN, N., FRIEDRICHS, W. E., O'BRIEN, H. V., LINEHAN, L. A., BOWMAN,B. H. & YANG, F. 1991. Extrahepatic expression of plasma protein genes during inflammation. *Inflammation*, 15, 369-379.

- KARAKIEWICZ, P. I., HUTTERER, G. C., TRINH, Q.-D., JELDRES, C., PERROTTE, P., GALLINA, A., TOSTAIN, J. & PATARD, J.-J. 2007. C-reactive protein is an informative predictor of renal cell carcinoma-specific mortality. *Cancer*, 110, 1241-1247.
- KATO, H., KINOSHITA, T., SUZUKI, S., NAGASAKA, T., MURATE, T., SAITO, H. & HOTTA, T. 1996. Elevated serum interleukin-6 (IL-6) is derived from neoplastic lymphoid cells in patients with B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: correlation with extent of IL-6 expression and serum concentration. British Journal of Haematology, 92, 1014-1021.
- KELLER, E. T., MACEWEN, E. G., ROSENTHAL, R. C., HELFAND, S. C. & FOX, L. E. 1993. Evaluation of prognostic factors and sequential combination chemotherapy with doxorubicin for canine lymphoma. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 7, 289-295.
- KHALIFA, K. A., ALKILANI, A. A., ISMAIL, H. & SOLIMAN, M. A. 2008. Evaluation of some biochemical markers as prognostic factors in malignant lymphoma. *Jornal of the Egyptian National Cancer Institute*, 20, 47-54.
- KIM, J. H. 2006. Clinical significance of preoperative magnetic resonance imaging in staging of rectal cancer. *Korean Journal of Gastroenterology*, 47, 248-253.
- KIUPEL, M., TESKE, E. & BOSTOCK, D. 1999. Prognostic factors for treated canine malignant lymphoma. *Veterinary Pathology Online*, 36, 292-300.
- KJELGAARD-HANSEN, M., JENSEN, A. L. & KRISTENSEN, A. T. 2003a. Evaluation of a commercially available human C-reactive protein (CRP) turbidometric immunoassay for determination of canine serum CRP concentration. *Veterinary Clinical Pathology*, 32, 81-87.
- KJELGAARD-HANSEN, M., MIKKELSEN, L. F., KRISTENSEN, A. T. & JENSEN, A. L. 2003b. Study on biological variability of five acute-phase reactants in dogs. *Comparative Clinical Pathology*, 12, 69-74.
- KOIKE, Y., MIKI, C., OKUGAWA, Y., YOKOE, T., TOIYAMA, Y., TANAKA, K., INOUE, Y. & KUSUNOKI, M. 2008. Preoperative C-reactive protein as a prognostic and therapeutic marker for colorectal cancer. *Journal of Surgical Oncology*, 98, 540-544.
- KOMPOTI, M., DRIMIS, S., PAPADAKI, A., KOTSOMYTIS, K., POULOPOULOU, C., GIANNELI, D. & VOUTSINAS, D. 2008. Serum C-reactive protein at admission predicts in-hospital mortality in medical patients. *European Journal of Internal Medicine*, 19, 261-265.
- KOVACEVIC, A., HAMMER, A., STADELMEYER, E., WINDISCHHOFER, W., SUNDL,
 M., RAY, A., SCHWEIGHOFER, N., FRIEDL, G., WINDHAGER, R., SATTLER,
 W. & MALLE, E. 2008. Expression of serum amyloid A transcripts in human bone tissues, differentiated osteoblast-like stem cells and human osteosarcoma cell lines. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 103, 994-1004.
- KURIBAYASHI, T., SHIMADA, T., MATSUMOTO, M., KAWATO, K., HONJYO, T., FUKUYAMA, M., YAMAMOTO, Y. & YAMAMOTO, S. 2003. Determination of

serum C-reactive protein (CRP) in healthy beagle dogs of various ages and pregnant beagle dogs. *Experimental Animals*, 52, 387-390.

- KUSHNER, I. 1982. The phenomenon of the acute phase response. Annals of the New York Academy of Science, 389, 39-48.
- KUSHNER, I. & FELDMANN, G. 1978. Control of the acute phase response. Demonstration of C-reactive protein synthesis and secretion by hepatocytes during acute inflammation in the rabbit. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 148, 466-477.
- KUSHNER, I. & MACKIEWICZ, A. 1993. The acute phase response: an overview. In: MACKIEWICZ, A., KUSHNER, I. & BAUMANN, H. (eds.) The Acute Phase Proteins: Molecular Biology, Biochemistry and Clinical Applications. Florida: CRC Press. Inc.
- LANA, S. E., JACKSON, T. L., BURNETT, R. C., MORLEY, P. S. & AVERY, A. C. 2006. Utility of polymerase chain reaction for analysis of antigen receptor rearrangement in staging and predicting prognosis in dogs with lymphoma. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 20, 329-334.
- LAWRENCE, J., ROHREN, E. & PROVENZALE, J. 2010. PET/CT today and tomorrow in veterinary cancer diagnosis and monitoring: fundamentals, early results and future perspectives. *Veterinary and Comparative Oncology*, 8, 163-187.
- LAWRENCE, J., VANDERHOEK, M., BARBEE, D., JERAJ, R., TUMAS, D. B. & VAIL, D. M. 2009. Use of 3'-deoxy-3'-[18F]fluorothymidine PET/CT for evaluating response to cytotoxic chemotherapy in dogs with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Veterinary Radiology & Ultrasound, 50, 660-668.
- LEBLANC, A. K., JAKOBY, B. W., TOWNSEND, D. W. & DANIEL, G. B. 2009. 18FDG-PET imaging in canine lymphoma and cutaneous mast cell tumor. *Veterinary Radiology & Ultrasound*, 50, 215-223.
- LECCHI, C., AVALLONE, G., GIUROVICH, M., ROCCABIANCA, P. & CECILIANI, F. 2009. Extra hepatic expression of the acute phase protein alpha 1-acid glycoprotein in normal bovine tissues. *The Veterinary Journal*, 180, 256-258.
- LEGOUFFE, E., RODRIGUEZ, C., PICGT, M. C., RICHARD, B., KLEIN, B., ROSSI, J. F. & COMMES, T. 1998. C-reactive protein serum level is a valuable and simple prognostic marker in non Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Leukemia and Lymphoma*, 31, 351 - 357.
- LENNERT, K. & FELLER, C. A. 1991. Histologie des Lymphomes Malins Non-Hodgkiniens Selon la Classification de Kiel Actualisée, Paris, Doin.
- LIN, E., CALVANO, S. E. & LOWRY, S. F. 2000. Inflammatory cytokines and cell response in surgery. *Surgery*, 127, 117-126.
- LOTZE, M. T. & TRACEY, K. J. 2005. High-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1): nuclear weapon in the immune arsenal. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 5, 331-342.

- LURIE, D. M., GORDON, I. K., THEON, A. P., RODRIGUEZ, C. O., SUTER, S. E. & KENT, M. S. 2009. Sequential low-dose rate half-body irradiation and chemotherapy for the treatment of canine multicentric lymphoma. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 23, 1064-1070.
- MACKIEWICZ, A., SPEROFF, T., GANAPATHI, M. K. & KUSHNER, I. 1991. Effects of cytokine combinations on acute phase protein production in two human hepatoma cell lines. *Journal of Immunology*, 146, 3032-3037.
- MACY, E. M., HAYES, T. E. & TRACY, R. P. 1997. Variability in the measurement of C-reactive protein in healthy subjects: implications for reference intervals and epidemiological applications. *Clinical Chemistry*, 43, 52-58.
- MALLE, E., SODIN-SEMRL, S. & KOVACEVIC, A. 2009. Serum amyloid A: an acutephase protein involved in tumour pathogenesis. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 66, 9-26.
- MARCONATO, L. 2011. The staging and treatment of multicentric high-grade lymphoma in dogs: A review of recent developments and future prospects. *The Veterinary Journal*, 188, 34-38.
- MARCONATO, L., CRISPINO, G., FINOTELLO, R., MAZZOTTI, S., SALERNI, F. & ZINI, E. 2009. Serum lactate dehydrogenase activity in canine malignancies. *Veterinary and Comparative Oncology*, 7, 236-243.
- MARCONATO, L., CRISPINO, G., FINOTELLO, R., MAZZOTTI, S. & ZINI, E. 2010. Clinical relevance of serial determinations of lactate dehydrogenase activity used to predict recurrence in dogs with lymphoma. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 236, 969-974.
- MARCONATO, L., STEFANELLO, D., VALENTI, P., BONFANTI, U., COMAZZI, S., ROCCABIANCA, P., CANIATTI, M., ROMANELLI, G., MASSARI, F. & ZINI, E. 2011. Predictors of long-term survival in dogs with high-grade multicentric lymphoma. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 238, 480-485.
- MARTINEZ-SUBIELA, S. & CERON, J. J. 2005. Effects of hemolysis, lipemia, hyperbilirrubinemia, and anticoagulants in canine C-reactive protein, serum amyloid A, and ceruloplasmin assays. *Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 46, 625-629.
- MARTÍNEZ-SUBIELA, S., CERÓN, J. J. & GINEL, P. J. 2004. Effects of different glucocorticoid treatments on serum acute phase proteins in dogs. *The Veterinary Record*, 154, 814-817.
- MCMILLAN, D. C. 2009. Systemic inflammation, nutritional status and survival in patients with cancer. *Current Opinions in Clinical Nutrution and Metabolic Care*, 12, 223-226.
- MCMILLAN, D. C., ELAHI, M. M., SATTAR, N., ANGERSON, W. J., JOHNSTONE, J. & MCARDLE, C. S. 2001. Measurement of the systemic inflammatory response predicts cancer-specific and non-cancer survival in patients with cancer. Nutrition and Cancer, 41, 64 - 69.

- MELGAREJO, E., MEDINA, M. Á., SÁNCHEZ-JIMÉNEZ, F. & URDIALES, J. L. 2009. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1: A key mediator in inflammatory processes. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology, 41, 998-1001.
- MERLO, A., REZENDE, B. C. G., FRANCHINI, M. L., SIMÕES, D. M. N. & LUCAS, S.
 R. R. 2007. Serum C-reactive protein concentrations in dogs with multicentric lymphoma undergoing chemotherapy. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 230, 522-526.
- MERLO, D. F., ROSSI, L., PELLEGRINO, C., CEPPI, M., CARDELLINO, U., CAPURRO, C., RATTO, A., SAMBUCCO, P. L., SESTITO, V., TANARA, G. & BOCCHINI, V. 2008. Cancer incidence in pet dogs: findings of the Animal Tumor Registry of Genoa, Italy. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 22, 976-984.
- MEYER, A., EBERLE, N., BULLERDIEK, J., NOLTE, I. & SIMON, D. 2010. Highmobility group B1 proteins in canine lymphoma: prognostic value of initial and sequential serum levels in treatment outcome following combination chemotherapy. Veterinary and Comparative Oncology, 8, 127-137.
- MIAN, S., SLATER, K. & CAVE, T. 2006. The future of biomarkers and personalised medicine in companion animal practice. *The European Journal of Companion Animal Practice*, 16, 63-71.
- MILLER, A. G., MORLEY, P. S., RAO, S., AVERY, A. C., LANA, S. E. & OLVER, C. S. 2009. Anemia is associated with decreased survival time in dogs with lymphoma. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 23, 116-122.
- MILMAN, G., SMITH, K. C. & ERLES, K. 2011. Serological detection of Epstein-Barr virus infection in dogs and cats. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 150, 15-20.
- MISCHKE, R., WATERSTON, M. & ECKERSALL, P. D. 2007. Changes in C-reactive protein and haptoglobin in dogs with lymphatic neoplasia. *The Veterinary Journal*, 174, 188-192.
- MOALLI, P. A. & ROSEN, S. T. 1994. Glucocorticoid receptors and resistance to glucocorticoids in hematologic malignancies. *Leukemia & Lymphoma*, 15, 363-374.
- MURATA, H., SHIMADA, N. & YOSHIOKA, M. 2004. Current research on acute phase proteins in veterinary diagnosis: an overview. *The Veterinary Journal*, 168, 28-40.
- NAKAMURA, M., TAKAHASHI, M., OHNO, K., KOSHINO, A., NAKASHIMA, K., SETOGUCHI, A., FUJINO, Y. & TSUJIMOTO, H. 2008. C-reactive protein concentration in dogs with various diseases. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 70, 127-131.
- NAKAMURA, N., MOMOI, Y., WATARI, T., YOSHINO, T., TSUJIMOTO, H. & HASEGAWA, A. 1997. Plasma thymidine kinase activity in dogs with lymphoma and leukemia. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 59, 957-960.

- NASIR, L. & ARGYLE, D. J. 1999. Mutational analysis of the tumour suppressor gene p53 in lymphosarcoma in two bull mastiffs. *The Veterinary Record*, 145, 23-24.
- NATIONAL CANCER INSTITUTE 1982. National Cancer Institute sponsored study of classifications of non-Hodgkin's lymphomas: summary and description of a working formulation for clinical usage. The Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Pathologic Classification Project. *Cancer*, 49, 2112-2135.
- NIELSEN, L., TOFT, N., ECKERSALL, P. D., MELLOR, D. J. & MORRIS, J. S. 2007. Serum C-Reactive Protein Concentration as an Indicator of Remission Status in Dogs with Multicentric Lymphoma. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 21, 1231-1236.
- OGILVIE, G. K., WALTERS, L. M., GREELEY, S. G., HENKEL, S. E. & SALMAN, M. D. 1993. Concentration of alpha 1-acid glycoprotein in dogs with malignant neoplasia. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 203, 1144-1146.
- ONIONS, D. E. 1984. A prospective survey of familial canine lymphosarcoma. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 72, 909-912.
- OTABE, K., SUGIMOTO, T., JINBO, T., HONDA, M., KITAO, S., HAYASHI, S., SHIMIZU, M. & YAMAMOTO, S. 1998. Physiological levels of C-reactive protein in normal canine sera. *Veterinary Research Communications*, 22, 77-85.
- OWEN, L. N. 1980. World Health Organization TNM Classification of Tumors in Domestic Animals. 1st ed. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- PALTRINIERI, S. 2007. Early biomarkers of inflammation in dogs and cats: The acute phase proteins. *Veterinary Research Communications*, 31, 125-129.
- PEPYS, M. B. 1981. C-reactive protein fifty years on. Lancet, 1, 653-657.
- PETERSEN, H. H., NIELSEN, J. P. & HEEGAARD, P. M. H. 2004. Application of acute phase protein measurements in veterinary clinical chemistry. *Veterinary Research*, 35, 163-187.
- PETSCREEN LTD. 2012. The use of CART algorithms to combine serum acute phase protein levels as a diagnostic aid in canine lymphoma [Online]. UK. Available: http://www.petscreen.com/documents/petscr/HAPT%20CRP%20Study%20Data%202%20col umn%20(3).pdf [Accessed 09/04/2012].
- PLANELLAS, M., BASSOLS, A., SIRACUSA, C., SACO, Y., GIMÉNEZ, M., PATO, R. & PASTOR, J. 2009. Evaluation of serum haptoglobin and C-reactive protein in dogs with mammary tumors. *Veterinary Clinical Pathology*, 38, 348-352.
- PONCE, F., MAGNOL, J.-P., LEDIEU, D., MARCHAL, T., TURINELLI, V., CHALVET-MONFRAY, K. & FOURNEL-FLEURY, C. 2004. Prognostic significance of morphological subtypes in canine malignant lymphomas during chemotherapy. *The Veterinary Journal*, 167, 158-166.

- PONCE, F., MAGNOL, J. P., BLAVIER, A., BONNEFONT, C., GHERNATI, I., FELMAN, P., BUFF, S. & FOURNEL-FLEURY, C. 2003a. Clinical, morphological and immunological study of 13 cases of canine lymphoblastic lymphoma: comparison with the human entity. *Comparative Clinical Pathology*, 12, 75-83.
- PONCE, F., MAGNOL, J. P., MARCHAL, T., CHABANNE, L., LEDIEU, D., BONNEFONT, C., FELMAN, P. & FOURNEL-FLEURY, C. 2003b. High-grade canine T-cell lymphoma/leukemia with plasmacytoid morphology: a clinical pathological study of nine cases. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 15, 330-337.
- PONCE, F., MARCHAL, T., MAGNOL, J. P., TURINELLI, V., LEDIEU, D., BONNEFONT, C., PASTOR, M., DELIGNETTE, M. L. & FOURNEL-FLEURY, C. 2010. A morphological study of 608 cases of canine malignant lymphoma in France with a focus on comparative similarities between canine and human lymphoma morphology. *Veterinary Pathology*, 47, 414-433.
- PRETI, H. A., CABANILLAS, F., TALPAZ, M., TUCKER, S. L., SEYMOUR, J. F. & KURZROCK, R. 1997. Prognostic value of serum interleukin-6 in diffuse large-cell lymphoma. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 127, 186-194.
- RALLIS, T., KOUTINAS, A., LEKKAS, S. & PAPADIAMANTIS, C. 1992. Lymphoma (malignant lymphoma, lymphosarcoma) in the dog. *Journal of Small Animal Practice*, 33, 590-596.
- RAMADORI, G., SIPE, J. D. & COLTEN, H. R. 1985. Expression and regulation of the murine serum amyloid A (SAA) gene in extrahepatic sites. *Journal of Immunology*, 135, 3645-3647.
- RATCLIFFE, L., MIAN, S., SLATER, K., KING, H., NAPOLITANO, M., AUCOIN, D. & MOBASHERI, A. 2009. Proteomic identification and profiling of canine lymphoma patients. *Veterinary and Comparative Oncology*, 7, 92-105.
- RAYNES, J. G. & COOPER, E. H. 1983. Comparison of serum amyloid A protein and C-reactive protein concentrations in cancer and non-malignant disease. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 36, 798-803.
- REBHUN, R. B., LANA, S. E., EHRHART, E. J., CHARLES, J. B. & THAMM, D. H. 2008. Comparative analysis of survivin expression in untreated and relapsed canine lymphoma. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 22, 989-995.
- REGGETI, F. & BIENZLE, D. 2011. Flow cytometry in veterinary oncology. *Veterinary Pathology*, 48, 223-235.
- REIF, J. S., LOWER, K. S. & OGILVIE, G. K. 1995. Residential exposure to magnetic-fields and risk of canine lymphoma. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 141, 352-359.
- SCHAEFER, D. M., FORMAN, M. A., KISSEBERTH, W. C., LEHMAN, A. M., KELBICK, N. T., HARPER, P. & RUSH, L. J. 2007. Quantification of plasma DNA as a prognostic indicator in canine lymphoid neoplasia. *Veterinary and Comparative Oncology*, 5, 145-155.

- SCHLETTE, E. J., MEDEIROS, L. J., GOY, A., LAI, R. & RASSIDAKIS, G. Z. 2004. Survivin expression predicts poorer prognosis in anaplastic large-cell lymphoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 22, 1682-1688.
- SCHWARTZMAN, R. A. & CIDLOWSKI, J. A. 1994. Glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis of lymphoid-cells. *International Archives of Allergy and Immunology*, 105, 347-354.
- SEYMOUR, J. F., TALPAZ, M., CABANILLAS, F., WETZLER, M. & KURZROCK, R. 1995. Serum interleukin-6 levels correlate with prognosis in diffuse largecell lymphoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 13, 575-582.
- SHIMADA, H., NABEYA, Y., OKAZUMI, S., MATSUBARA, H., SHIRATORI, T., AOKI, T., SUGAYA, M., MIYAZAWA, Y., HAYASHI, H., MIYAZAKI, S. & OCHIAI, T. 2003. Elevation of preoperative serum C-reactive protein level is related to poor prognosis in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Journal of Surgical Oncology*, 83, 248-252.
- SHUH, M. & BEILKE, M. 2005. The human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1): New insights into the clinical aspects and molecular pathogenesis of adult t-cell leukemia/lymphoma (ATLL) and tropical spastic paraparesis/HTLVassociated myelopathy (TSP/HAM). *Microscopy Research and Technique*, 68, 176-196.
- SIMON, D., MORENO, S. N., HIRSCHBERGER, J., MORITZ, A., KOHN, B., NEUMANN, S., JURINA, K., SCHARVOGEL, S., SCHWEDES, C., REINACHER, M., BEYERBACH, M. & NOLTE, I. 2008. Efficacy of a continuous, multiagent chemotherapeutic protocol versus a short-term single-agent protocol in dogs with lymphoma. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 232, 879-885.
- SKOVGAARD, K., MORTENSEN, S., BOYE, M., POULSEN, K. T., CAMPBELL, F. M., ECKERSALL, P. D. & HEEGAARD, P. M. 2009. Rapid and widely disseminated acute phase protein response after experimental bacterial infection of pigs. *Veterinary Research* [Online], 40. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2695040/?tool=pubmed [Accessed 07/09/2010].
- SOLLER, J. T., MURUA-ESCOBAR, H., WILLENBROCK, S., JANSSEN, M., EBERLE, N., BULLERDIEK, J. & NOLTE, I. 2007. Comparison of the human and canine cytokines IL-1(alpha/beta) and TNF-alpha to orthologous other mammalians. *Journal of Heredity*, 98, 485-490.
- SPAEPEN, K., STROOBANTS, S., DUPONT, P., VAN STEENWEGHEN, S., THOMAS, J., VANDENBERGHE, P., VANUYTSEL, L., BORMANS, G., BALZARINI, J., DE WOLF-PEETERS, C., MORTELMANS, L. & VERHOEF, G. 2001. Prognostic value of positron emission tomography (PET) with fluorine-18 fluorodeoxyglucose ([18F]FDG) after first-line chemotherapy in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: is [18F]FDG-PET a valid alternative to conventional diagnostic methods? Journal of Clinical Oncology, 19, 414-419.

STANSFELD, A. G., DIEBOLD, J., KAPANCI, Y., KELÉNYI, G., LENNERT, K., MIODUSZEWSKA, O., NOEL, H., RILKE, F., SUNDSTROM, C., VAN UNNIK, J. A. M. & WRIGHT, D. H. 1988. Updated Kiel classification for lymphomas. *The Lancet*, 331, 292-293.

- TANG, D., KANG, R., ZEH III, H. J. & LOTZE, M. T. 2010. High-mobility group box 1 and cancer. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Gene Regulatory Mechanisms*, 1799, 131-140.
- TECLES, F., CALDIN, M., ZANELLA, A., MEMBIELA, F., TVARIJONAVICIUTE, A., SUBIELA, S. M. & CERON, J. J. 2009. Serum acute phase protein concentrations in female dogs with mammary tumors. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 21, 214-219.
- TECLES, F., FUENTES, P., MARTÍNEZ SUBIELA, S., PARRA, M. D., MUÑOZ, A. & CERÓN, J. J. 2007. Analytical validation of commercially available methods for acute phase proteins quantification in pigs. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 83, 133-139.
- TECLES, F., SPIRANELLI, E., BONFANTI, U., CERÓN, J. & PALTRINIERI, S. 2005. Preliminary studies of serum acute-phase protein concentrations in hematologic and neoplastic diseases of the dog. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 19, 865-870.
- TESKE, E. 1994. Canine malignant lymphoma: a review and comparison with human non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *The Veterinary Quarterly*, 16, 209-219.
- TESKE, E., DE VOS, J. P., EGBERINK, H. F. & VOS, J. H. 1994. Clustering in canine malignant lymphoma. *The Veterinary Quarterly*, 16, 134-136.
- THE INTERNATIONAL NON-HODGKIN'S LYMPHOMA PROGNOSTIC FACTORS PROJECT 1993. A Predictive Model for Aggressive Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 329, 987-994.
- THILAKARATNE, D. N., MAYER, M. N., MACDONALD, V. S., JACKSON, M. L., TRASK, B. R. & KIDNEY, B. A. 2010. Clonality and phenotyping of canine lymphomas before chemotherapy and during remission using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) on lymph node cytologic smears and peripheral blood. *Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 51, 79-84.
- TOMLEY, F. M., ARMSTRONG, S. J., MAHY, B. W. J. & OWEN, L. N. 1983. Reverse transcriptase activity and particles of retroviral density in cultured canine lymphosarcoma supernatants. *British Journal of Cancer*, 47, 277-284.
- TSIMBERIDOU, A. M., ESTEY, E., WEN, S., PIERCE, S., KANTARJIAN, H., ALBITAR, M. & KURZROCK, R. 2008. The prognostic significance of cytokine levels in newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia and high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes. *Cancer*, 113, 1605-1613.
- VAIL, D. M. & MACEWEN, E. G. 2000. Spontaneously occurring tumors of companion animals as models for human cancer. *Cancer Investigation*, 18, 781-792.
- VAIL, D. M., MACEWEN, E. G. & YOUNG, K. M. 2001. Canine lymphoma and lymphoid leukaemias. In: WITHROW, S. J. & MACEWEN, E. G. (eds.) Small Animal Clinical Oncology. 3rd ed. Pennsylvania: W. B. Saunders Company.

- VAIL, D. M., MICHELS, G. M., KHANNA, C., SELTING, K. A., LONDON, C. A. & VETERINARY COOPERATIVE ONCOLOGY GROUP 2010. Response evaluation criteria for peripheral nodal lymphoma in dogs (v1.0) - a Veterinary Cooperative Oncology Group (VCOG) consensus document. Veterinary and Comparative Oncology, 8, 28-37.
- VELDHOEN, N., STEWART, J., BROWN, R. & MILNER, J. 1998. Mutations of the p53 gene in canine lymphoma and evidence for germ line p53 mutations in the dog. *Oncogene*, 16, 249-255.
- VON EULER, H., EINARSSON, R., OLSSON, U., LAGERSTEDT, A. S. & ERIKSSON, S. 2004. Serum thymidine kinase activity in dogs with malignant lymphoma: A potent marker for prognosis and monitoring the disease. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 18, 696-702.
- VON EULER, H. & ERIKSSON, S. 2011. Comparative aspects of the proliferation marker thymidine kinase 1 in human and canine tumour diseases. *Veterinary and Comparative Oncology*, 9, 1-15.
- VON EULER, H. P., ÖHRVIK, A. B. & ERIKSSON, S. K. 2006. A non-radiometric method for measuring serum thymidine kinase activity in malignant lymphoma in dogs. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 80, 17-24.
- WAKSHLAG, J. J., STOKOL, T., GESKE, S. M., GREGER, C. E., ANGLE, C. T. & GILLETTE, R. L. 2010. Evaluation of exercise-induced changes in concentrations of C-reactive protein and serum biochemical values in sled dogs completing a long-distance endurance race. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, 71, 1207-1213.
- WANG, C. S. & SUN, C. F. 2009. C-reactive protein and malignancy: clinicopathological association and therapeutic implication. *Chang Gung Medical Journal*, 32, 471-482.
- WELLER, R. E., HOLMBERG, C. A., THEILEN, G. H. & MADEWELL, B. R. 1982a. Canine lymphosarcoma and hypercalcaemia: clinical, laboratory and pathologic evaluation of twenty-four cases. *Journal of Small Animal Practice*, 23, 649-658.
- WELLER, R. E., THEILEN, G. H. & MADEWELL, B. R. 1982b. Chemotherapeutic responses in dogs with lymphosarcoma and hypercalcemia. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 181, 891-893.
- WIELAND, A., KERBL, R., BERGHOLD, A., SCHWINGER, W., MANN, G. & URBAN, C. 2003. C-reactive protein (CRP) as tumor marker in pediatric and adolescent patients with Hodgkin disease. *Medical and Pediatric Oncology*, 41, 21-25.
- WILLIAMS, L. E., BROUSSARD, M. T., JOHNSON, J. L. & NEEL, J. 2005. Comparison of results of clinicians' assessments, cytologic examination of fine-needle lymph node aspirates, and flow cytometry for determination of remission status of lymphoma in dogs. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 226, 562-566.

- WILLIAMS, L. E., JOHNSON, J. L., HAUCK, M. L., RUSLANDER, D. M., PRICE, G. S. & THRALL, D. E. 2004. Chemotherapy followed by half-body radiation therapy for canine lymphoma. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 18, 703-709.
- WILLIAMS, M. J., AVERY, A. C., LANA, S. E., HILLERS, K. R., BACHAND, A. M. & AVERY, P. R. 2008. Canine lymphoproliferative disease characterized by lymphocytosis: immunophenotypic markers of prognosis. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 22, 596-601.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2008. WHO Classification of Tumours of Haematopoeitic and Lymphoid Tissues, Lyon, IARC Press.
- YADAV, A., SAINI, V. & ARORA, S. 2010. MCP-1: Chemoattractant with a role beyond immunity: A review. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 411, 1570-1579.
- YAMASHITA, K., FUJINAGA, T., MIYAMOTO, T., HAGIO, M., IZUMISAWA, Y. & KOTANI, T. 1994. Canine acute phase response: relationship between serum cytokine activity and acute phase protein in dogs. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 56, 487-492.
- YAMAZAKI, J., BABA, K., GOTO-KOSHINO, Y., SETOGUCHI-MUKAI, A., FUJINO, Y., OHNO, K. & TSUJIMOTO, H. 2008. Quantitative assessment of minimal residual disease (MRD) in canine lymphoma by using real-time polymerase chain reaction. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, 126, 321-331.
- YOSHIDA, S., SAITO, K., KOGA, F., YOKOYAMA, M., KAGEYAMA, Y., MASUDA, H., KOBAYASHI, T., KAWAKAMI, S. & KIHARA, K. 2008. C-reactive protein level predicts prognosis in patients with muscle-invasive bladder cancer treated with chemoradiotherapy. *British Journal of Urology International*, 101, 978-981.
- YUDOH, K., MATSUI, H., KAMANORI, M., OHMORI, K., YASUDA, T., TSUJI, H. & TATEZAKI, S. I. 1996. Prognostic value of the doubling time of serum Creactive protein and alkaline phosphatase levels in primary bone and soft tissue tumors. *Cancer Science*, 87, 1288-1295.
- ZANATTA, R., ABATE, O., D'ANGELO, A., MINISCALCO, B. & MANNELLI, A. 2003. Diagnostic and prognostic value of serum lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) and LDH isoenzymes in canine lymphoma. Veterinary Research Communications, 27, 449-452.
- ZINZANI, P. L., TANI, M., FANTI, S., ALINARI, L., MUSURACA, G., MARCHI, E., STEFONI, V., CASTELLUCCI, P., FINA, M., FARSHAD, M., PILERI, S. & BACCARANI, M. 2006. Early positron emission tomography (PET) restaging: a predictive final response in Hodgkin's disease patients. *Annals of Oncology*, 17, 1296-1300.
- ZIZZO, N., PATRUNO, R., ZITO, F. A., SUMMA, A. D., TINELLI, A., TROILO, S., MISINO, A., RUGGIERI, E., GOFFREDO, V., GADALETA, C. D. & RANIERI, G.
 2010. Vascular endothelial growth factor concentrations from platelets correlate with tumor angiogenesis and grading in a spontaneous canine non-Hodgkin lymphoma model. *Leukemia & Lymphoma*, 51, 291-296.

Appendix 1: Chemotherapy protocols

Table 20 CHOP protocol																
Week Drug	1	2	3	4	6	7	8	9	11	13	15	17	19	21	23	25
*V	Х		Х		Х		X		Х		Х		X		X	
۶C		Χ				Χ				Х				Х		
^D/E/M				X								Х				Х
[#] P	Х	Х	Х	X				Χ								

.~

[~] Protocol can be modified to include administration of I-asparaginase (400 iu/Kg or 1,000

iu/m²) up to 1 week prior to week 1 vincristine. *V = vincristine (0.7 mg/m²); ^{\$}C = cyclophosphamide (250 mg/m²); [^]D/E/M = doxorubicin (30 mg/m²)/epirubicin (30 mg/m²)/mitoxantrone (5.5 mg/m²); ^{*}P = prednisolone (2 mg/Kg SID week 1, 1.5 mg/Kg SID week 2, 1 mg/Kg SID week 3, 0.5 mg/Kg SID week 4).

Table 21 ALP protocol

Week Drug	0	3	6	9	12	15	18	21
L-asparaginase (400 iu/Kg or 10,000 iu/m ²)	Х	+/- X						
Lomustine (60-90 mg/m ²)	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prednisolone^	Х	Х						

^ Prednisolone given as a tapering dose: 2 mg/Kg SID for 2 weeks then 1 mg/Kg SID for 2 weeks then 1 mg/Kg EOD for 2 weeks

Phase Drug	Induction	Maintenance (after 2 months)	Maintenance (after 6 months)	Maintenance (after 12 months)	Maintenance (after 18 months)	Maintenance (after 21 months) ^{\$}
		Drugs given 1 week in 2	Drugs given 1 week in 3	Drugs given 1 week in 4	Drugs given 1 week in 5	Drugs given 1 week in 6
*V	0.5 mg/m ²	0.5 mg/m ²	0.5 mg/m ²	0.5 mg/m ²	0.5 mg/m ²	0.5 mg/m ²
#C	50 mg/m ² EOD	50 mg/m ² EOD	50 mg/m ² EOD	50 mg/m ² EOD	50 mg/m ² EOD	50 mg/m ² EOD
^P	40mg/m2 SID for 7 days then 20mg/m2 EOD	20 mg/m ² EOD	20 mg/m ² EOD	20 mg/m ² EOD	20 mg/m ² EOD	20 mg/m ² EOD

Table 22 Low dose (LD) COP protocol

^{\$} Protocol stops at 24 months.

*V = vincristine; [#]C = cyclophosphamide; ^P = prednisolone.

Table 23 DMAC protocol						
Week* Drug	1	2	3	4		
Cytarabine (200-300 mg/m ²)	Х		Х			
Actinomycin-D (0.75 mg/ m ²)	Х		Х			
Melphalan (20 mg/m ²)		Х		Х		
Dexamethasone (0.23 mg/Kg)	Х	Х	Х	Х		

*Continue alternating drugs weekly until patient relapses

Table 24 Chlorambucil and	prednisolone	protocol for low of	arade lymphoma
Table 24 Chiloranibuch and	preumsolone		Ji aue Tymphoma

Week Drug	1	2	3	4*
Chlorambucil	2-4 mg/m ²	2-4 mg/m ²	2-4 mg/m ²	2-4 mg/m ²
	SID	SID	EOD	EOD
Prednisolone	40 mg/m ²	20 mg/m ²	20 mg/m ²	20 mg/m ²
	SID	EOD	EOD	EOD

*The dose and frequency of chlorambucil and prednisolone is dictated by the response to treatment. Treatment is usually given for 6 months after which the dose and frequency of the drugs are tapered off.

Table	٦E	nrotocol
rable	ZΟ	protocol

Week Drug	1	2	3	4*
Chlorambucil	20 mg/m ²	20 mg/m ²	20 mg/m ²	20 mg/m ²
Methotrexate	2.5-5 mg/m ²	2.5-5 mg/m ²	2.5-5 mg/m ²	2.5-5 mg/m ²
	2-3	2-3	2-3	2-3
	times/week	times/week	times/week	times/week
Prednisolone	20-25	20-25	20-25	20-25
	mg/m ² EOD	mg/m ² EOD	mg/m ² EOD	mg/m ² EOD

* Protocol continues until relapse occurs.

Appendix 2: Time-series graphs and boxplots comparing serum CRP concentrations obtained on multiple assays

1.1 ELISA v's Mira: Time-series graphs







1.2 ELISA v's Mira: Boxplots







2.1 ELISA v's Pentra: Time-series graphs















2.2 ELISA v's Pentra: Boxplots















3.1 Mira v's Pentra: Time-series graphs













3.2 Mira v's Pentra: Boxplots













Appendix 3: Plot of residuals

i) Log-transformed CRP vs. WHO Stage II-III and IV-V



ii) Log-transformed CRP vs. WHO substage 'a' and 'b'





iii) Log-transformed CRP vs. albumin (g/L)